Effects of the rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, on western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, under laboratory conditions; and integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana*, with *D. coriaria* to suppress western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions

by

Yinping Li

B.S., Agricultural University of Hebei, 2009 M.S., Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences, 2012

AN ABSTRACT OF A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Entomology College of Agriculture

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

Abstract

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, is one of the most destructive insect pests in greenhouse production systems due to direct and indirect plant damage resulting in substantial economic losses. In addition, western flower thrips has developed resistance to many insecticides. Therefore, alternative plant protection strategies are warranted, such as augmentative biological control. This research was designed to evaluate 1) the effect of different absolute numbers of predator (rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*) and prey (western flower thrips) on predation efficacy of rove beetle under laboratory conditions; 2) the effect of western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle in the laboratory; and 3) the effectiveness and cost of integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana*, and the rove beetle, *D. coriaria*, in suppressing western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions.

Three laboratory experiments were conducted to assess predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on three western flower thrips pupal stages [prepupa, pupa, and prepupa-pupa combination (50%:50%)]. In each experiment, there were six numbers (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5) of rove beetle adults and four initial numbers (15, 20, 25, and 30) of one western flower thrips pupal stage. This treatment configuration allowed for assessing the effect of predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), accounting for different initial prey numbers, on predation efficacy of the rove beetle. Overall, for each pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards decreased as the number of rove beetle adults released increased from 1 to 3, although the effect of additional rove beetle adult releases was not apparent. Furthermore, across the pupal stages considered in this study, in general, there was no evidence

of any differences due to predator-prey ratios or initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio.

Two laboratory experiments were conducted to assess the effects of western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle adults. In experiment 1, there were two western flower thrips pupal stages (prepupa and pupa), three predator-prey ratios (rove beetle:western flower thrips—1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times). Experiment 2 evaluated the latter two factors in combination with searchable area defined by container sizes [15.2 cm (1,834.82 cm³) and 11.5 cm (701.79 cm³)]. The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards was significantly higher for the 1:5 predator-prey ratio [61.1% (48.5-72.4%)] than 1:10 [39% (28.1-51.2%)] and 1:15 predator-prey ratio [34.7% (24.7-46.3%)]. The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards for 2 times the predator-prey number [57% (44.3-68.8%)] was significantly higher than 3 [37.2% (26.6-49.3%)] and 4 [40.6% (30-52.3%)] times the predator-prey number. In addition, a significantly higher estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults was captured on the yellow sticky cards in the 15.2 cm than 11.5 cm containers.

Two greenhouse experiments were conducted that evaluated five treatments: combination of insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin), *B. bassiana*, *D. coriaria*, *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination, and a water control. Overall, the estimated mean number of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards was significantly lower for the insecticide treatment (mean range: 0, 46) than for the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination (mean range: 0.3, 105.1) over eight weeks. There were no significant differences in final foliage quality of chrysanthemum, *Dendranthema* x *grandiflorum*, plants among the five treatments in

experiment 1, but there were significant differences in experiment 2. However, in experiment 2, the chrysanthemum plants across all treatments were not marketable due to substantial feeding damage by western flower thrips. The cost of the insecticide treatment was nearly twice that of the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination (\$963.50 vs. \$495.67) and was over twice that of the *B. bassiana* only treatment (\$963.50 vs. \$417.04). The *D. coriaria* only treatment was the least expensive at \$78.63.

The results of the research provide insight into the predatory behavior of *D. coriaria* on western flower thrips pupal stages, which may have practical implications for greenhouse production systems. However, predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips is influenced by predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area. Finally, greenhouse producers must initiate insecticide applications or release rove beetle adults early in the production cycle when western flower thrips populations are low to minimize plant damage.

Effects of the rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, on western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, under laboratory conditions; and integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana*, with *D. coriaria* to suppress western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions

by

Yinping Li

B.S., Agricultural University of Hebei, 2009 M.S., Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences, 2012

A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Entomology College of Agriculture

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2019

Approved by:

Major Professor Dr. Raymond A. Cloyd

Copyright

© Yinping Li 2019.

Abstract

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, is one of the most destructive insect pests in greenhouse production systems due to direct and indirect plant damage resulting in substantial economic losses. In addition, western flower thrips has developed resistance to many insecticides. Therefore, alternative plant protection strategies are warranted, such as augmentative biological control. This research was designed to evaluate 1) the effect of different absolute numbers of predator (rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*) and prey (western flower thrips) on predation efficacy of rove beetle under laboratory conditions; 2) the effect of western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle in the laboratory; and 3) the effectiveness and cost of integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana*, and the rove beetle, *D. coriaria*, in suppressing western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions.

Three laboratory experiments were conducted to assess predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on three western flower thrips pupal stages [prepupa, pupa, and prepupa-pupa combination (50%:50%)]. In each experiment, there were six numbers (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5) of rove beetle adults and four initial numbers (15, 20, 25, and 30) of one western flower thrips pupal stage. This treatment configuration allowed for assessing the effect of predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), accounting for different initial prey numbers, on predation efficacy of the rove beetle. Overall, for each pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards decreased as the number of rove beetle adults released increased from 1 to 3, although the effect of additional rove beetle adult releases was not apparent. Furthermore, across the pupal stages considered in this study, in general, there was no evidence

of any differences due to predator-prey ratios or initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio.

Two laboratory experiments were conducted to assess the effects of western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle adults. In experiment 1, there were two western flower thrips pupal stages (prepupa and pupa), three predator-prey ratios (rove beetle:western flower thrips—1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times). Experiment 2 evaluated the latter two factors in combination with searchable area defined by container sizes [15.2 cm (1,834.82 cm³) and 11.5 cm (701.79 cm³)]. The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards was significantly higher for the 1:5 predator-prey ratio [61.1% (48.5-72.4%)] than 1:10 [39% (28.1-51.2%)] and 1:15 predator-prey ratio [34.7% (24.7-46.3%)]. The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards for 2 times the predator-prey number [57% (44.3-68.8%)] was significantly higher than 3 [37.2% (26.6-49.3%)] and 4 [40.6% (30-52.3%)] times the predator-prey number. In addition, a significantly higher estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults was captured on the yellow sticky cards in the 15.2 cm than 11.5 cm containers.

Two greenhouse experiments were conducted that evaluated five treatments: combination of insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin), *B. bassiana*, *D. coriaria*, *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination, and a water control. Overall, the estimated mean number of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards was significantly lower for the insecticide treatment (mean range: 0, 46) than for the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination (mean range: 0.3, 105.1) over eight weeks. There were no significant differences in final foliage quality of chrysanthemum, *Dendranthema* x *grandiflorum*, plants among the five treatments in

experiment 1, but there were significant differences in experiment 2. However, in experiment 2, the chrysanthemum plants across all treatments were not marketable due to substantial feeding damage by western flower thrips. The cost of the insecticide treatment was nearly twice that of the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination (\$963.50 vs. \$495.67) and was over twice that of the *B. bassiana* only treatment (\$963.50 vs. \$417.04). The *D. coriaria* only treatment was the least expensive at \$78.63.

The results of the research provide insight into the predatory behavior of *D. coriaria* on western flower thrips pupal stages, which may have practical implications for greenhouse production systems. However, predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips is influenced by predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area. Finally, greenhouse producers must initiate insecticide applications or release rove beetle adults early in the production cycle when western flower thrips populations are low to minimize plant damage.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	xiv
List of Tables	xvii
Acknowledgements	XX
Chapter 1 - Introduction	1
Chapter 2 - Literature review	9
Biology of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis	9
Plant damage caused by western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis	11
Insecticide resistance of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis	12
Entomopathogenic fungus, Beauveria bassiana	
Rove beetle, Dalotia coriaria	
Chapter 3 - Effect of different numbers of predator and prey on predation of western flow	wer
thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis, pupal stages by rove beetle, Dalotia coriaria, adu	lts 17
Introduction	17
Materials and Methods	19
a. Insect colonies	
b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults	
c. Experimental procedures	
Data Analysis	
Results	
a. Assessment of baseline conditions	
b. Effect of different absolute numbers of predator and prey on predation efficacy	
c. Effects of predator-prey ratios, accounting for different initial prey numbers, on p	oredation
efficacy	
Discussion	
Figures and Tables	
Chapter 4 - Effect of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis, pupal stage, preda	ator-prey
ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle	e,
Dalotia coriaria, adults	42
Introduction	42

Materials and Methods	
a. Insect colonies	
b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults	
c. Experimental procedures	
Data Analysis	50
Results	
a. Assessment of baseline conditions for experiment 1	
b. Effect of western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, and predator-pr	ey number
on predation efficacy of rove beetle adults (Experiment 1)	
c. Assessment of baseline conditions for experiment 2	53
d. Effect of predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on pre-	dation
efficacy of rove beetle adults (Experiment 2)	
Discussion	
Figures and Tables	
Chapter 5 - Effect of integrating the entomonathogenic fungus <i>Beauveria bassiana</i> and	d the rove
Chapter 5 Effect of integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, beauveria bassiana, an	
beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i> , in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i>	entalis,
beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i> , in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions	entalis,
beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i> , in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions Introduction Materials and Methods	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions Introduction Materials and Methods	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults 	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults c. Experimental procedures 	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults c. Experimental procedures d. Cost comparisons 	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults c. Experimental procedures d. Cost comparisons Data Analysis Results 	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults c. Experimental procedures d. Cost comparisons Data Analysis Results Discussion 	entalis,
 beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies. b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults. c. Experimental procedures. d. Cost comparisons Data Analysis. Results. Discussion. Figure and Tables. 	entalis,
 Chapter 5 Effect of integrating the enomopulatiogenic ranges, betaver the bassiant, and beetle, <i>Dalotia coriaria</i>, in suppressing western flower thrips, <i>Frankliniella occide</i> populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults. c. Experimental procedures. d. Cost comparisons Data Analysis Results. Discussion. Figure and Tables. 	entalis,
 Chapter 5 "Effect of integrating the entomopulatogene ranges, betaver to bassiant, and beetle, Dalotia coriaria, in suppressing western flower thrips, Frankliniella occide populations under greenhouse conditions. Introduction. Materials and Methods. a. Insect colonies b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults. c. Experimental procedures. d. Cost comparisons Data Analysis Results. Discussion Figure and Tables. Chapter 6 - Summary References 	entalis,

Appendix A - Recovery of western flower thrips, Frankliniella o	ccidentalis, adults from
prepupae and pupae	
Materials and Methods	
a. Insect colony	
b. Experimental procedures	
Results	
Reference	
Appendix B - Rove beetle, Dalotia coriaria, adult feeding prefer	ence on western flower thrips,
Frankliniella occidentalis, prepupae and pupae	
Materials and Methods	
a. Insect colonies	
b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults	
c. Experimental procedures	
Data Analysis	
Results	
References	
Appendix C - Effects of insecticide drench applications on weste	ern flower thrips, Frankliniella
occidentalis, pupae in growing medium	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
a. Insect colony	
b. Experimental procedures	
Data Analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
Figures	
Appendix D - Life span of female western flower thrips, Franklik	niella occidentalis, adults under
laboratory conditions	
Materials and Methods	
a. Insect colony	

b. Experimental procedures	. 155
Results	. 156

List of Figures

Figure 3-1 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) when 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 rove beetle, Dalotia coriaria, adults were released in experiment 1[A (prepupa)], experiment 2 [B (pupa)], and experiment 3 [C(prepupa-pupa combination)]. Estimated means followed by different letters within each experiment indicate significant Figure 4-1 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) associated with three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 1. Estimated means followed by different letters indicate significant differences (P < 0.05) among the three Figure 4-2 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) associated with three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times or x) in experiment 1. Estimated means followed by different letters indicate significant differences (P < 0.05) among the three Figure 4-3 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for two searchable areas [11.5 cm containers (701.79 cm³ with 0.4 L of growing medium) and 15.2 cm containers (1,834.82 cm³ with 1.2 L of growing medium)] within all combinations of three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times or x) in experiment 2. Estimated means followed by different letters within the same predator-prey ratio and the same predator-prey number indicate significant differences Figure 5-1 Greenhouse layout for the four trials (summer and fall 2016, and spring and fall 2017) Figure C-1 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for each

treatment {1.0 g Ancora [Isaria fumosorosea Apopka Strain 97 (Ancora[™]: OHP, Inc.;

- Figure C-5 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for each treatment [pyriproxyfen (Fulcrum[®]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 0.14 mL/946 mL, an untreated check, and a water control] on each WFT pupal inoculation day (3 and 5) after

treatment application. Estimated means followed by different lowercase or uppercase letters
within each WFT pupal inoculation day indicate significant differences (P <0.05) among the
treatments

List of Tables

Table 3-1 Selected predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) obtained by combining different
predator numbers (1, 2, 3, 4, and 5) of rove beetle (RB), Dalotia coriaria, adults, and initial
prey numbers (15, 20, 25, and 30) of western flower thrips (WFT), Frankliniella
occidentalis, prepupa for experiment 1, pupa for experiment 2, and prepupa-pupa
combination (50%:50%) for experiment 3
Table 3-2 Mean (minimum, maximum) number of rove beetle, Dalotia coriaria, adults recovered
at the end of experiment 3 (prepupa-pupa combination) associated with treatment
combinations consisting of initial numbers (15, 20, 25, and 30) of western flower thrips
(WFT), Frankliniella occidentalis, prepupa-pupa combination (50%:50%) and five numbers
(1, 2, 3, 4, and 5) of rove beetle adults initially released
Table 3-3 Comparisons associated with the estimated mean probability [95% confidence
intervals (CI)] of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on
yellow sticky cards among different initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio
and among three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 1
Table 3-4 Comparisons associated with the estimated mean probability [95% confidence
intervals (CI)] of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on
yellow sticky cards among different initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio
and among three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 2 40
Table 3-5 Comparisons associated with the estimated mean probability [95% confidence
intervals (CI)] of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on
yellow sticky cards among different initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio
and among three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 3
Table 4-1 Number of rove beetle (RB), Dalotia coriaria, adults released and initial number of
western flower thrips (WFT), Frankliniella occidentalis, prepupae (PP) or pupae (P) in each
15.2 cm container on each day (1, 2, 3, 4, or 5) for experiment 1
Table 4-2 Number of rove beetle (RB), Dalotia coriaria, adults released and initial number of
western flower thrips (WFT), Frankliniella occidentalis, prepupae (PP) in each 15.2 cm
container (1,834.82 cm ³ with 1.2 L of growing medium) or 11.5 cm container (701.79 cm ³)
with 0.4 L of growing medium) on each day (1, 2, 3, 4, or 5) for experiment 2 64

- Table 5-5 Analysis of Variance skeleton regarding the response variable of the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for experiment 2 (spring and fall 2017).
 93
- Table 5-6 Analysis of Variance skeleton reagarding the response variable of the final foliage quality ratings for experiments 1 (summer and fall 2016) and 2 (spring and fall 2017). 94

- Table 5-7 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips,
 Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eightweek period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 1.1 (summer 2016) of experiment 1. 95
- Table 5-8 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips,
 Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eightweek period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 1.2 (fall 2016) of experiment 1. 96
- Table 5-9 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips,
 Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eightweek period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 2.1 (spring 2017) of experiment 2....97
- Table 5-10 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips,
 Frankliniella occidentalis, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eightweek period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 2.2 (fall 2017) of experiment 2. 98

Acknowledgements

This research project was completed due to the generous support of my advisor Dr. Raymond Cloyd from the Department of Entomology at Kansas State University. Thank you Dr. Clove for your advice, patience and expertise, and for giving me the opportunity to complete my PhD program. I also wish to acknowledge my three committee members, Dr. Nora Bello (Department of Statistics at Kansas State University) who provided professional advice on experimental design and data analysis, and reviewed and commented on each chapter of the dissertation, Dr. John Ruberson and Dr. Robert Whitworth (Department of Entomology at Kansas State University) for their willingness to serve on my committee, and reviewed and provided comments on my dissertation. I also wish to express thanks to Dr. James Nechols (Department of Entomology at Kansas State University) who provided advice on experimental design of one chapter and dissertation writing, and Dr. Anthony Joern (Division of Biology at Kansas State University) who provided advice and comments on the research proposal. I want to express my thanks to Dr. Chrispher Vahl (Department of Statistics at Kansas State University) who served as a member for my preliminary exam committee. I want to thank Dr. Nathan Herrick (Department of Entomology at Kansas State University) who also reviewed and provided valuable feedback associated with dissertation. I wish to thank Congxing Zhu (Department of Statistics at Kansas State University) who helped me conduct the laboratory and greenhouse experiments. In addition, I want to thank everyone in the Entomology Department, especially to those faculty and graduate students, who kindly gave me advice and help. Finally, I want to thank my family and friends for always encouraging and supporting me.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), is an important insect pest of horticultural crops worldwide (Robb and Parrella 1995, Lewis 1997, Kirk 2002, Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009). Western flower thrips cause direct damage to greenhouse-grown horticultural crops by feeding on and ovipositing in leaves, flowers and fruits (Chisholm and Lewis 1984, Hunter and Ullman 1989, Harrewijn et al. 1996, Childers 1997, Lewis 1997). Moreover, western flower thrips cause indirect damage by vectoring the tospoviruses: *Tomato spotted wilt* and *Impatiens necrotic spot* viruses (Allen and Broadbent 1986, Pappu et al. 2009). The direct and indirect damage has led to significant economic losses. For instance, Goldbach and Peters (1994) estimated that, on an annual basis, *Tomato spotted wilt virus* accounts for an economic loss of >\$1 billion (US dollars) in agricultural crops globally. Furthermore, in 2006, damage to ornamental crops in Georgia by western flower thrips resulted in an economic loss of >\$15 million (US dollars) (Reitz and Funderburk 2012).

The tolerance for damage caused by western flower thrips is very low since any damage can reduce aesthetic quality and marketability of greenhouse-grown horticultural crops (Parrella and Jones 1987, Loughner et al. 2005). Therefore, greenhouse producers routinely apply insecticides to suppress western flower thrips populations (Kontsedalov et al. 1998, Loughner et al. 2005, Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009). However, the intensive application of insecticides has led to the development of insecticide resistance in western flower thrips populations (Brødsgaard 1994, Jensen 2000, Bielza et al. 2007, Kay and Herron 2010). Furthermore, there is a limited number of effective insecticides labeled for use against western flower thrips (Loughner et al. 2005, Reitz and Funderburk 2012). Therefore, alternative plant protection strategies are warranted, such as

augmentative biological control that involves releasing or applying natural enemies (e.g., predators, parasitoids, or entomopathogenic fungi) to suppress pest populations (Cloyd 2009).

Biological control of western flower thrips should target as many life stages as possible to maintain western flower thrips populations below damaging levels (Mouden et al. 2017). Furthermore, entomopathogenic microorganisms, such as; bacteria and fungi, can be used along with arthropod natural enemies to target different pest life stages (Gonzalez et al. 2016, Mouden et al. 2017, Ullah and Lim 2017). Thus, in the following research, western flower thrips larvae and adults were the target aboveground life stages using a commercially available entomopathogenic fungus, Beauveria bassiana (Balsamo) Vuillemin. Simultaneously, the soildwelling predatory rove beetle, Dalotia coriaria (Kraatz) (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), was used against the soil-inhabiting life stages (prepupae and pupae) of western flower thrips. The strategy of integrating *B. bassiana* with *D. coriaria* needs to be effective and economical. Therefore, the greenhouse study focused on evaluating the effectiveness associated with integrating B. bassiana with D. coriaria to suppress western flower thrips populations, and assessing the direct cost related to products and application rates. Moreover, laboratory studies were conducted to determine predation of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips pupal stages. As such, the objective, rationale and hypotheses associated with each study are presented below:

Effect of different numbers of predator and prey on predation of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, pupal stages by rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults (Chapter 3)

Objective: determine the effects of 1) different absolute numbers of predator (rove beetle) and prey (western flower thrips), 2) different initial prey numbers, and 3) different predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) on predation efficacy of *D. coriaria*.

Rationale: Predation efficacy is a measurement designed to evaluate the effectiveness of predators in suppressing prey populations, which is important in selecting biological control agents (Farhadi et al. 2011) and in assessing the numbers of predators to release in augmentative biological control programs (Echegaray et al. 2015). Due to low pest tolerance and capacity of most greenhouse insect and mite pests to increase populations rapidly, determining an appropriate predator-prey ratio to effectively suppress pest populations is important. Consequently, studies have evaluated predator-prey ratios associated with different predators (Gaudchau 1982, Gilkeson and Hill 1987, Opit et al. 2004, Cheng et al. 2012, Echegaray et al. 2015). Furthermore, different initial prey numbers at a given predator-prey ratio may also affect predation efficacy (Echegaray et al. 2015).

Successful suppression of western flower thrips populations using the rove beetle, *D*. *coriaria*, is contingent on evaluating predation efficacy based on different numbers of predator and prey, as well as determining an appropriate predator-prey ratio. However, the effect of *D*. *coriaria* on western flower thrips is not well understood.

Hypotheses: First, at the same initial number of one western flower thrips pupal stage [prepupae, pupae, or prepupal-pupal combination (prepupae:pupae=50%:50%)], the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards should decrease as the number of rove beetle adults increases because more rove beetle adults should consume higher numbers of prey. Second, at one western flower thrips pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards should decrease as predator-prey ratio increases. The reason being is that as predator-prey ratio increases, the proportion of rove beetle adults to prey is greater. Therefore, more predators are present to feed on prey. Third, at each predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower

thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards should increase as the initial number of prey increases, and correspondingly as more rove beetle adults are released. The reason for this is that when more rove beetle adults are released in the same container, mutual interference [competition occurs when access to resources is negatively affected by the presence of other individuals within a population (DeLong and Vasseur 2011)] among rove beetle adults should occur. Consequently, rove beetle adults should spend less time foraging for prey.

Effect of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults (Chapter 4)

Objective: evaluate the effects of 1) western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, and predator-prey number; and 2) predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on the predation efficacy of rove beetle adults.

Rationale: Predation efficacy is a measurement designed to evaluate predator effectiveness in suppressing prey populations, which is important in selecting biological control agents (Farhadi et al. 2011). Low pest tolerance and capacity of most greenhouse insect and mite pests to increase populations rapidly, has increased the need to determine appropriate predatorprey ratios that sufficiently suppress pest populations. Consequently, studies have evaluated predator-prey ratios for different predators (Gaudchau 1982, Gilkeson and Hill 1987, Opit et al. 2004, Cheng et al. 2012, Echegaray et al. 2015). Furthermore, different predator-prey numbers, based on variations in predator-prey ratios, may also influence predation efficacy (Echegaray et al. 2015).

Although comparisons of predation efficacy among different predator-prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) were previously conducted in Chapter 3, there were different predator-prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio: 3 times, 4 times, and 5 times in 1:5 ratio; 2 times and 3 times in 1:10 ratio; as well as 1 time and 2 times in 1:15 ratio. As such, the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey number could not be determined. Therefore, in the study conducted in Chapter 4, predation efficacy was evaluated based on three predator-prey numbers (2 times, 3 times, and 4 times) within each predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) to assess the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) to assess the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) to assess the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) to assess the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) to assess the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey number.

Western flower thrips late second instar larvae migrate or fall onto the growing medium surface to pupate (Helyer et al. 1995, Tommasini and Maini 1995, Kirk 1996, Wiethoff et al. 2004). Western flower thrips prepupae and pupae take two to three days and one to two days to develop into adults, respectively (Zhang et al. 2007). Since exposure time of prepupae to rove beetle adults, prior to western flower thrips adult eclosion, is longer than pupae, rove beetle adults may have more time (about one day) to forage for western flower thrips prepupae than pupae. As such, predation efficacy may be influenced by western flower thrips pupal stages (prepupa and pupa). Therefore, to account for the effect of different exposure time of western flower thrips pupal stages on rove beetle adult predation, pupal stage was included in this study as a factor that could potentially affect predation efficacy. Furthermore, the searchable area may also affect predation efficacy of *D. coriaria* on soil-dwelling prey, which has been proposed previously associated with the fungus gnat, *Bradysia* sp. nr. *coprophila* (Lintner) (Diptera: Sciaridae), larvae (Echegaray et al. 2015, Herrick and Cloyd 2017). However, minimal information is available on the effect of western flower thrips pupal stage, searchable area,

predator-prey ratio, and predator-prey number on predation efficacy of the adult rove beetle, *D. coriaria*.

Hypotheses: First, at the same predator-prey ratio and same predator-prey number, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards from prepupae should be lower than the pupae. The reason being is that rove beetle adults have about one more day to forage on prepupae, before western flower thrips adults eclosion, than the pupae. Second, at the same predator-prey number and same pupal stage, as predator-prey ratio increases, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards should increase. The reason for this is that as the predator-prey ratio increases, there are more predators relative to prey; thus, mutual interference among rove beetle adults should occur. Consequently, rove beetle adults should spend less time foraging for western flower thrips prepupae or pupae. Third, at the same predator-prey ratio and same pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards should increase as the predator-prey number increases and subsequently as more rove beetle adults are released. The reason being is that when more rove beetle adults are released in the same container, mutual interference among rove beetle adults should occur. Therefore, rove beetle adults should spend less time foraging for western flower thrips prepupae or pupae. Fourth, at the same predator-prey ratio and same predator-prey number, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards should increase as searchable area increases. The reason for this is that rove beetle adults should spend more time searching for prey as searchable area increases.

Effect of integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana*, and the rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, in suppressing western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, populations under greenhouse conditions (Chapter 5)

Objective: 1) ascertain the effectiveness of using the entomopathogenic fungus, *B*. *bassiana* in conjunction with the rove beetle, *D. coriaria*, to suppress western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions; and 2) compare the direct costs associated with products and application rates.

Rationale: Previous studies have concentrated on combining different arthropod natural enemies or integrating arthropod natural enemies with entomopathogens or entomopathogenic nematodes to target one or more western flower thrips life stage (Ebssa et al. 2006, Manners et al. 2013, Messelink and Janssen 2014, Wu et al. 2016). However, foliar applications of the entomopathogenic fungus, *B. bassiana* along with the soil-dwelling rove beetle, *D. coriaria* targeting the aboveground and soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips have not been investigated. In this study, *B. bassiana* was used against western flower thrips larvae and adults on plants, and *D. coriaria* was used against the prepupae and pupae that reside in the growing medium.

Hypotheses: First, the final foliage damage rating for the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination should not be significantly different from the insecticide treatment. The reason for this is that the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination treatment, and insecticide treatment, should provide a similar level of suppression of western flower thrips populations. Second, the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination treatment should provide greater suppression of western flower thrips populations than *B. bassiana* and rove beetle individual treatments. Because synergistic (mortality greater than the sum of mortality that the individual provides) effects are

expected to occur when using the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination. Third, the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination treatment should cost no more than the insecticide treatment.

Chapter 2 - Literature review

Biology of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), adults are approximately 1-2 mm in length and possess piercing-sucking mouthparts (Moritz 1997, Jensen 2000). Males are generally smaller than females (Robb 1989, Jensen 2000). Western flower thrips prefers to aggregate within flowers or other enclosed, protected areas on plants, such as terminal buds (Kirk 1997a, Hansen et al. 2003). A female deposits eggs into plant tissues using a saw-like ovipositor (Reitz 2009).

Western flower thrips life cycle consists of an egg, two larval instars (first and second), two pupal instars (prepupae and pupae), and an adult (Tommasini and Maini 1995, Reitz 2009). Eggs are inserted into plant tissues and subsequently hatch into larvae. Eventually second instar larvae stop feeding and pupate (Gaum et al. 1994). Pupae develop into adults after approximately six days (Robb et al. 1988). Both larvae and adults feed on leaves, flowers and fruits (Hansen et al. 2003, Loughner et al. 2005). Therefore, compared to the egg and pupal stages, larvae and adults are more exposed to insecticides and natural enemies (e.g., predators, parasitoids, and entomopathogenic fungi).

Second instar larvae eventually migrate down the plant stem or fall onto the growing medium surface to pupate (Helyer et al. 1995, Tommasini and Maini 1995, Kirk 1996, Wiethoff et al. 2004). However, western flower thrips may also pupate in flowers (Lewis 1973, Jacobson 1997, Broadbent et al. 2003, Bennison et al. 2004, Buitenhuis and Shipp 2008). Pupation may be affected by plant species and plant growth stages. For example, Bennison et al. (2004) indicated that 98% of western flower thrips larvae on cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) plants and

approximately 96% on flowering chrysanthemum (*Dendranthema* x *morifolium*) plants migrated to the growing medium to pupate. However, Broadbent et al. (2003) found that more than 50% of western flower thrips larvae pupated within the disc florets of potted chrysanthemum flowers. Furthermore, Buitenhuis and Shipp (2008) demonstrated that about 93% of western flower thrips pupated in the growing medium of non-flowering rose (*Rosa rugosa*) and chrysanthemum plants, but only 87% (rose) and 60% (chrysanthemum) pupated in the growing medium when plants were flowering. In addition, a study reported that approximately 78% of western flower thrips pupated at a depth of 1 to 5 mm in the compost that was a freshly steam-sterilised mixture (50:50 by volume) of loam and medium grade sphagnum peat, about 20% pupated at a depth of 25 to 35 mm, and approximately 2% pupated at a depth of 6 to 24 mm (Helyer et al. 1995).

The development time of western flower thrips, from egg to adult, is two to three weeks at 20 to 25°C but varies depending on temperature and host plant (Tommasini and Maini 1995). For instance, development time of the life cycle (egg to adult) was 19 days at 20°C and 14 days at 25°C on peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) (Lowry et al. 1992). Moreover, Zhang et al. (2007) found that at 27 ± 1 °C and a 16:8 (light:dark) hour photoperiod, developmental time of western flower thrips, from egg to adult, was 9.2 days on cucumber, 10.1 days on cabbage (*Brassica oleracea*), 10.4 days on kidney bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), 12.1 days on capsicum (*Capsicum annuum*), and 12.9 days on tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) leaves. Therefore, due to a relatively short life cycle, multiple generations of western flower thrips may occur within a single cropping season (Loughner et al. 2005, Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009).

Western flower thrips females can live 26 days at 28°C under laboratory conditions (Reitz 2008), with some females living up to 35 days (Trichilo and Leigh 1988, Hulshof et al. 2002). The average life span of female western flower thrips adults from a laboratory colony was

39.1 days under laboratory conditions at 20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light (see Appendix D). Furthermore, western flower thrips females lay between 150 and 300 eggs during their lifetime (Cloyd 2009). In addition, sex-determination in western flower thrips populations is haplo-diploid, with unfertilized eggs developing into haploid males and fertilized eggs developing into diploid females (Moritz 1997).

Plant damage caused by western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis

Western flower thrips feed on over 250 plant species affiliated with 60 plant families (Robb 1989, Tommasini and Maini 1995, Lewis 1997). Larvae and adults feed on plant fluids with their piercing-sucking mouthparts (Hunter and Ullman 1989, Harrewijn et al. 1996, Kirk 1997b). Direct damage caused by larval and adult feeding includes: leaf, flower and fruit scarring; distortion and discoloration of flowers; and fruit deformation (Chisholm and Lewis 1984, Hunter and Ullman 1989, Childers 1997, Lewis 1997). A female inserts eggs into leaves, flowers or developing fruits using a saw-like ovipositor. The wounds created by oviposition in plant tissues cause plant damage, which may reduce marketability of horticultural crops (Childers 1997, Cloyd 2009). However, the most important concern associated with western flower thrips is the indirect damage caused by vectoring plant viruses, including the tospoviruses: *Tomato spotted wilt* and *Impatiens necrotic spot* viruses (Whitfield et al. 2005). Western flower thrips larvae (first and second instar) acquire the viruses after feeding on infected plants, and then transmit the viruses as late second instar larvae and/or adults during feeding (Tsuda et al. 1996, van de Wetering et al. 1996).

Western flower thrips cause significant economic losses due to direct and indirect damage. Global losses associated with *Tomato spotted wilt virus* were >\$1 billion annually

(Goldbach and Peters 1994). Murphy et al. (1998) reported that, in California, the cost of suppressing western flower thrips populations in cut flower production was 7.5% of the total production cost. Moreover, in 2006, western flower thrips damage resulted in an economic loss of >\$15 million to the ornamental industry in Georgia (Reitz and Funderburk 2012). Overall, due to substantial economic losses, western flower thrips is one of the most destructive insect pests of the horticultural industry worldwide.

Insecticide resistance of western flower thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis

Since damage caused by western flower thrips reduces aesthetic quality and marketability of greenhouse-grown horticultural crops, the tolerance for this insect pest is very low (Parrella and Jones 1987). Therefore, greenhouse producers routinely apply insecticides to suppress western flower thrips populations (Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009). However, many biological factors associated with western flower thrips may limit the effectiveness of insecticides. For example, the small body size (1-2 mm in length for adults) and cryptic behavior protect western flower thrips from exposure to many contact insecticides (Cloyd 2009). In addition, adults residing in the flowers escape exposure from systemic insecticides (Daughtrey et al. 1997, Cloyd and Sadof, 1998). Moreover, high female fecundity and short generation time result in multiple generations of western flower thrips populations occurring during a single growing season (Reitz 2009). Furthermore, a wide host range and haplo-diploid breeding system allow western flower thrips to avoid any issue associated with plant allelochemicals, which consequently contributes to larvae and adults being able to overcome secondary plant defenses (Feyereisen 1999, Jensen 2000, Espinosa et al. 2005).

Greenhouse producers apply insecticides to mitigate both direct and indirect damage caused by western flower thrips (Parrella and Jones 1987). However, continuous use of insecticides places intensive selection pressure on western flower thrips populations. Consequently, insecticide resistance has developed in a number of western flower thrips populations worldwide associated with many chemical classes (Brødsgaard 1994, Jensen 2000, Bielza et al. 2007, Kay and Herron 2010, Whalon et al. 2014).

To mitigate the development of insecticide resistance in western flower thrips populations, a common recommendation is to rotate insecticides with different modes of action (Cloyd 2009). However, greenhouse producers only have a limited selection of commercially available insecticides due to the high costs affiliated with developing and registering new insecticides (Reitz and Funderburk 2012). Therefore, alternative plant protection strategies are warranted, such as augmentative biological control that involves releasing or applying natural enemies (e.g., predators, parasitoids, and entomopathogenic fungi) to suppress pest populations (Cloyd 2009). A potential strategy for managing western flower thrips is to target the foliarfeeding life stages (larvae and adults) using an entomopathogenic fungus, and target the soilinhabiting life stages (prepupae and pupae) using a soil-dwelling predator.

Entomopathogenic fungus, Beauveria bassiana

Entomopathogenic fungi are major components of plant protection programs in greenhouse and field production systems (Langewald et al. 1997, Maniania et al. 2003, Migiro et al. 2010, Wang et al. 2013). Entomopathogenic fungi are viable alternatives to conventional insecticides due to a number of advantages. For example, Mendonça (1992) modified previous methods to ensure mass production of conidia by inoculating sterile rice (*Oryza sativa*) in plastic

bags and tubs. Moreover, entomopathogenic fungi can be formulated to enhance efficacy and storage stability and can also be applied using conventional equipment (Shah and Pell 2003). Compared to conventional insecticides, entomopathogenic fungi have minimal direct effects on non-target organisms (Goettel et al. 1990, Goettel and Hajek 2000, Pell et al. 2001).

The entomopathogenic fungus, Beauveria bassiana (Balsamo) Vuillemin, has a very broad host range infecting over 700 insect species (Samish et al. 2004, Akbar et al. 2005, Rehner and Buckley 2005, Devi et al. 2006, Dara et al. 2008). Moreover, B. bassiana is an alternative to insecticides for many agricultural pests, including: Colorado potato beetle, Leptinotarsa decemlineata (Say) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae); European corn borer, Ostrinia nubilalis (Hubner) (Lepidoptera: Crambidae); pea aphid, Acyrthosiphon pisum (Harris) (Hemiptera: Aphididae); and false-eye leafhopper, Empoasca vitis (Göthe) (Hemiptera: Cicadellidae) (James et al. 1995, Lewis et al. 1996, Poprawski et al. 1997, Feng et al. 2004). In addition, B. bassiana is used against several greenhouse pests, such as: western flower thrips, silverleaf whitefly, Bemisia argentifolii (Gennadius) (Hemiptera: Alevrodidae), and shore fly, Scatella stagnalis (Fallén) (Diptera: Ephydridae) (Wraight et al. 2000, Ugine et al. 2005, Castrillo et al. 2008, Kivett et al. 2015). *Beauveria bassiana* has been evaluated to suppress western flower thrips populations. For example, Ugine et al. (2007) reported a 30% to 40% reduction in western flower thrips populations after spraying a wettable powder formulation of *B. bassiana* strain GHA on greenhouse-grown impatiens (Impatiens walleriana). Ansari et al. (2008) found that mortality of western flower thrips larvae and pupae ranged from 54% to 84% when exposed to growing medium mixed with *B. bassiana*. Skinner et al. (2012) observed a 90% reduction in the mean total number of western flower thrips per plant using mycotized millet grains containing B.

bassiana in the soil. Therefore, the entomopathogenic fungus, *B. bassiana* may be a viable microbial pesticide (biopesticide) in suppressing western flower thrips populations.

Rove beetle, Dalotia coriaria

Rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria* (Kraatz) (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), adults are darkbrown to shiny-black and 3 to 4 mm in length (Miller and Williams 1983). The development time of *D. coriaria* from egg to adult is 17 days at 26 ± 3 °C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and a 12:12 (light:dark) hour photoperiod (Echegaray and Cloyd 2013). Larvae and adults are active and adults can fly, which allows adults to disperse within a greenhouse away from the original release site. *Dalotia coriaria* prefers constant darkness and resides in growing medium or soil (Helyer et al. 2003). Furthermore, *D. coriaria* is commercially available from most biological control suppliers (Jandricic et al. 2005, Warner and Getz 2008).

Dalotia coriaria has been shown to feed on a number of greenhouse insect pests, including: soil-dwelling life stages (prepupae and pupae) of western flower thrips, and the larval stages of shore flies (*Scatella* spp.) and fungus gnats (*Bradysia* spp.) (Gillespie et al. 2001, Carney et al. 2002, Cox et al. 2006, Jandricic et al. 2006, Echegaray et al. 2015). For instance, Carney et al. (2002) found that one *D. coriaria* adult consumed 95 western flower thrips late second instar larvae or 78 pupae in 24 hours in Petri dishes under laboratory conditions. Furthermore, integrating rove beetles with other biological control agents (e.g., entomopathogenic fungi, nematodes, and predatory mites), insect growth regulators, reduced-risk pesticides, and plant growth regulators, has been evaluated (Jandricic et al. 2005, Jandricic et al. 2006, Cloyd et al. 2009, Echegaray and Cloyd 2012, Saito and Brownbridge 2016). However, intraguild predation [the killing and consumption of species that use similar, often limiting resources and are thus potential competitors (Polis et al. 1989)] or mutual interference [competition occurs when access to resources is negatively affected by the presence of other individuals within a population (DeLong and Vasseur 2011)] may occur when using multiple biological control agents including rove beetles, which may negatively affect biological control programs (Jandricic et al. 2005, Jandricic et al. 2006). Therefore, *D. coriaria* may be a feasible biological control agent in greenhouse production systems when used alone.
Chapter 3 - Effect of different numbers of predator and prey on predation of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, pupal stages by rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults

Introduction

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), is an important insect pest of horticultural crops worldwide (Robb and Parrella 1995, Lewis 1997, Kirk 2002, Cloyd 2009). Western flower thrips cause both direct and indirect plant damage (Chisholm and Lewis 1984, Hunter and Ullman 1989, Harrewijn et al. 1996, Pappu et al. 2009), which has resulted in substantial economic losses (Goldbach and Peters 1994, Reitz and Funderburk 2012). Consequently, greenhouse producers routinely apply insecticides to suppress western flower thrips populations (Kontsedalov et al. 1998, Loughner et al. 2005, Cloyd 2009).

However, due to the intensive selection pressure associated with insecticide applications, western flower thrips populations have developed resistance to insecticides from many different chemical classes (Brødsgaard 1994, Jensen 2000, Bielza et al. 2007, Kay and Herron 2010). Therefore, alternative plant protection strategies are warranted, such as augmentative biological control that involves releasing or applying natural enemies (e.g., predators, parasitoids, or entomopathogenic fungi) to suppress pest populations (Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009).

The predatory rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria* (Kraatz) (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), may be a viable biological control agent of western flower thrips (Carney et al. 2002) and is commercially available from most biological control suppliers (Jandricic et al. 2005, Warner and Getz 2008). Furthermore, *D. coriaria* has been reported to prey upon several greenhouse insect pests, including: soil-dwelling life stages (prepupae and pupae) of western flower thrips, and the larval stages of shore flies (*Scatella* spp.) and fungus gnats (*Bradysia* spp.) (Gillespie et al. 2001, Carney et al. 2002, Cox et al. 2006, Jandricic et al. 2006, Echegaray et al. 2015).

Predation efficacy is a measurement designed to evaluate the effectiveness of predators in suppressing prey populations, which is important in selecting biological control agents (Farhadi et al. 2011) and in assessing the numbers of predators to release in augmentative biological control programs (Echegaray et al. 2015). Due to low pest tolerance and the capacity of most greenhouse insect and mite pests to increase populations rapidly, determining an appropriate predator-prey ratio to effectively suppress pest populations is important. Consequently, studies have evaluated predator-prey ratios associated with various predators and prey (Gaudchau 1982, Gilkeson and Hill 1987, Opit et al. 2004, Cheng et al. 2012, Echegaray et al. 2015). Furthermore, different initial prey numbers at a given predator-prey ratio may also affect predation efficacy (Echegaray et al. 2015).

Successful suppression of western flower thrips populations using the rove beetle, *D. coriaria*, is contingent on evaluating predation efficacy based on different numbers of predator and prey, as well as determining an appropriate predator-prey ratio. However, the effect of *D. coriaria* on western flower thrips is not well understood.

Based on previous studies, three hypotheses were developed. First, at the same initial number of one western flower thrips pupal stage [prepupa, pupa, or prepupa-pupa combination (prepupa:pupa=50%:50%)], the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards should decrease as the number of rove beetle adults increases because more rove beetle adults should consume higher numbers of prey. Second, at one western flower thrips pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured

on the yellow sticky cards should decrease as predator-prey ratio increases. The reason for this is that as predator-prey ratio increases, the proportion of rove beetle adults to prey is greater leading to greater predation. Therefore, relatively more predators are available to feed on prey. Third, at each predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should increase as the initial number of prey increases, and correspondingly as more rove beetle adults are released. The reason being is that when more rove beetle adults are released in the same container, mutual interference [competition occurs when access to resources is negatively affected by the presence of other individuals within a population (DeLong and Vasseur 2011)] among rove beetle adults should occur. Consequently, rove beetle adults should spend less time foraging for prey.

Therefore, the objectives of this study were to determine the effects of: 1) different absolute numbers of predator (rove beetle) and prey (western flower thrips), 2) different initial prey numbers, and 3) different predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) on predation efficacy of *D. coriaria*.

Materials and Methods

a. Insect colonies

A western flower thrips colony was maintained under laboratory conditions (20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light) in Glad[®] plastic containers [20.4 x 14.4 x 9.4 cm (length x width x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a round hole (9.5 cm diameter) cut in the lid that was covered with No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size: 0.15 x 0.15 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). Green beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) were purchased from a local supermarket (Dillons; Manhattan, KS), soaked in soapy water for 20

minutes, then rinsed with distilled water, and allowed to dry. The green beans were provided as food and oviposition sites for adults, as well as a food source for larvae. Green beans were changed every two to three days.

A rove beetle colony was maintained in growing medium in 7.6 L plastic rectangular containers [34.8 x 24.7 x 12.4 cm (length x width x height] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) under laboratory conditions: 20-24°C, 45% to 60% relative humidity, and constant darkness simulating conditions similar to the natural habitat of rove beetles (Helyer et al. 2003). Growing medium preparation was as follows: a 6.0 L plastic container [28.5 x 11.0 cm (diameter x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) was filled with Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix (SunGro Horticulture, Inc.; Bellevue, WA) growing medium composed of 70% to 80% Canadian sphagnum peat moss, perlite, 0.0001% silicone dioxide, and dolomitic limestone. The growing medium was moistened with approximately 200 mL of water. The 6.0 L plastic container with growing medium was then heated for 25 minutes in a microwave set at full-power (1,200 W output). After the growing medium was allowed to cool, 1.8 L of water was applied to the growing medium, which was then thoroughly mixed. About 3.0 L of the sterilized growing medium was placed into each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container. Approximately 15 g of dry oats (Avena sativa L.) (The Quaker Oats Company; Chicago, IL) were placed, every four to five days, onto the growing medium surface in a line (lengthwise) in the center of the growing medium within each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container. About 15 mL of water was sprayed, every one to two days, onto the oats using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle (Delta Industries; King of Prussia, PA) to maintain constant moisture. Adult rove beetles from previous colonies were then used to establish new colonies.

Western flower thrips and rove beetle specimens used in this study are deposited as voucher numbers 237 and 220, respectively in the Kansas State University Museum of Entomological and Prairie Arthropod Research (Manhattan, KS).

b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults

Five rove beetle third instar larvae were placed into a Gladware[®] container [7.8 x 5.1 cm (diameter x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with 20 mL of moistened growing medium and three to four pieces of dry oats. A total of 20 Gladware[®] containers with rove beetle third instar larvae were prepared as described above, then placed into an environmental growth chamber (Conviron[®] Controlled Environments Inc.; Pembina, ND) set at 21-27°C and constant darkness. Rove beetle adults were observed seven days later with most adults emerging after 11 days (Yinping Li; personal observation). Newly eclosed adults (one to three days old) were individually placed in 9 dram (33 mL) plastic vials with lids using a softbristled brush. All 9 dram plastic vials containing rove beetle adults were returned to the environmental growth chamber, and the adults were starved for 24 hours. The sex ratio of rove beetle adults was 1:1 (female:male).

c. Experimental procedures

Three independent laboratory experiments were conducted to assess predation efficacy of rove beetles on three western flower thrips pupal stages, namely prepupa (experiment 1), pupa (experiment 2), and 50%:50% prepupa-pupa combination (experiment 3). This treatment structure allowed for evaluating the effects of predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), accounting for different initial prey numbers, on predation efficacy of rove beetle adults. Each experiment was set-up as a randomized complete block design, with experimental round (day) as

a blocking factor. Each experiment was completed in five experimental rounds, one per day. In each experiment, predation efficacy was evaluated using a two-way factorial treatment structure consisting of all combinations of six numbers (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5) of newly eclosed rove beetle adults and four initial numbers (15, 20, 25, and 30) of one of the three western flower thrips pupal stages. By combining factor levels, this treatment structure further enabled evaluation of the effects of selected predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) with increasing initial prey numbers on predation efficacy of rove beetles (Table 1).

For each experiment, approximately 1.2 L of sterilized Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix growing medium was placed into each 15.2 cm diameter plastic container [15.2 x 14.3 cm (diameter x height)] (Dillen Products Inc; Middlefield, OH). A green bean (5 cm in length) was placed on the growing medium surface beside the inside rim of each 15.2 cm container to provide a food source for western flower thrips adults that eclosed.

Then, a certain number (15, 20, 25 or 30) of one western flower thrips pupal stage were randomly positioned on the growing medium surface. For the treatments involving uneven initial numbers (15 and 25) of western flower thrips prepupa-pupa combination, the numbers of prepupae and pupae were alternated on each day.

Prepupae and pupae are generally located at a depth of 1 to 5 mm in the compost that was a freshly steam-sterilised mixture (50:50 by volume) of loam and medium grade sphagnum peat (Helyer et al. 1995). Furthermore, prepupae and pupae are distributed throughout the growing medium via cracks and crevices present on the growing medium surface (Yinping Li; personal observation). Therefore, no additional growing medium was needed to cover the prepupae or pupae. One to two hours after the western flower thrips pupal stage was placed on the growing medium surface, a certain number (0, 1, 2, 3, 4 or 5) of newly eclosed rove beetle adults were

released into each 15.2 cm container. Each container was covered with No-Thrips insect screening to prevent rove beetle adults and western flower thrips adults from escaping. For each experimental round (day), a total of twenty-four 15.2 cm containers, one container per treatment combination, were prepared and maintained in the laboratory at 19-25°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and a 16:8 (light:dark) hour photoperiod.

To prevent rove beetle adults to be captured on the yellow sticky cards prior to western flower thrips adult eclosion, a yellow sticky card was affixed onto the inside center of the No-Thrips insect screening within each container five days after the experiment was initiated. Simultaneously, the green beans were removed from the containers, and approximately 15 g of oats were placed on the growing medium surface as a food source for rove beetle adults to ensure adult survival after completion of the experiment. To maintain moisture, about 15 mL of water was applied to the oats through the No-Thrips insect screening using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle every one to two days.

The numbers of western flower thrips adults for each experiment and rove beetle adults for the last three experimental rounds of experiment 3 captured on the yellow sticky cards were recorded 17 days following initiation of the experiment. The number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was used as an indirect assessment of predation efficacy, which was in turn quantified by the binomial probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (refer to Data analysis).

To confirm rove beetle adult survival during the experiment, the growing medium in the 15.2 cm containers was used to determine the number of rove beetle adults recovered in the last three experimental rounds of experiment 3. After completing the experiment, the growing medium from each 15.2 cm container was placed into a 9.4 L plastic rectangular container [40.2]

x 26.4 x 12.8 cm (length x width x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH). About 0.8 L of water was added to each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container to saturate the growing medium, causing rove beetles to emerge from the growing medium (Yinping Li; personal observation). Then, approximately 15 g of oats were placed on the growing medium surface as a food source for rove beetle adults. Each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container was covered using a modified lid with different insect screening (mesh size: 0.2 x 0.8 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). The number of rove beetle adults in each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container was recorded 24 hours after the growing medium was saturated. The number of rove beetle adults recovered after completing the experiment was assessed based on the number of rove beetle adults captured on the yellow sticky cards and the number of rove beetle adults recovered from the growing medium.

Data Analysis

For each experiment, a generalized linear mixed model assuming a binomial distribution was fitted to the response variable defined as number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards out of the initial number of one western flower thrips pupal stage in the container. A logit link function was used to estimate the probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards to the linear predictor, which included the fixed effects of number of rove beetle adults, initial number of one western flower thrips pupal stage, and the two-way interaction. Random effects associated with the linear predictor included the blocking effect of experimental round (day) and the effect of container as the unit of observation identified by the cross product of experimental round (day) and treatment combination. This was needed to account for over-dispersion observed in preliminary analyses.

Over-dispersion was evaluated using the maximum-likelihood based fit statistic Pearson Chi-Square/DF. There was no evidence of over-dispersion in the final statistical model for each experiment. In each experiment, the final statistical model used for inferences was fitted using Residual Pseudo-likelihood. Degrees of freedom were approximated and estimated standard errors were adjusted using Kenward-Roger's procedure. All statistical models were fitted using the PROC GLIMMIX procedure (SAS Institute 2012). Pairwise comparisons were implemented using Tukey-Kramer's adjustment at the marginal level to avoid inflation of type I error due to multiple comparisons. Within each final statistical model, tailored contrasts were conducted to make selected comparisons of treatment combinations that represented the predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) with different initial prey numbers.

Results

a. Assessment of baseline conditions

When no rove beetle adults were released, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was 99% (97.3-99.6%) [mean (95% confidence interval)] in experiment 1, 96.1% (91.7-98.2%) in experiment 2, and 97.6% (95-98.8%) in experiment 3 (Figure 1). The high recovery of western flower thrips adults in the absence of rove beetle adults suggests that neither natural mortality of western flower thrips prepupae and pupae nor mortality caused by handling technique inhibited prepupae and pupae from developing into adults. Moreover, descriptive statistics of rove beetle adults recovered at the end of the experiment confirm their general presence and survival during the experimental period (Table 2).

b. Effect of different absolute numbers of predator and prey on predation efficacy

No significant interactions were identified between the number of rove beetle adults released and the initial number of prepupae (F=1.36; df=15, 95.99; P=0.19) in experiment 1, pupae (F=1.00; df=15, 96; P=0.46) in experiment 2, or prepupae-pupae combination (F=1.07; df=15, 96; P=0.39) in experiment 3 on the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards. Therefore, results are presented as marginal mean estimates for each of the treatment factors.

Experiment 1 (prepupa). The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was negatively affected when increasing numbers of rove beetle adults were released (F=31.11; df=5, 96; P<0.0001: Figure 1A). Specifically, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased significantly when the number of rove beetle adults released increased from 1 to 3, 4, or 5. However, when 2 rove beetle adults were released, results were intermediate and not significantly different from any of the other release numbers. Furthermore, there was no evidence of any effect of initial numbers of western flower thrips prepupae (F=0.15; df=3, 96; P=0.93) on the estimated mean probability of western flower flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards.

Experiment 2 (pupa). The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was negatively affected by the numbers of rove beetle adults released (F=56.95; df=5, 96; P<0.0001: Figure 1B), but there was no evidence of any effect of initial numbers of western flower thrips pupae (F=1.21; df=3, 96; P=0.31). The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly higher when releasing 1 compared to 4 rove beetle adults. However, there was no evidence that

the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards differed after releasing 1, 2, 3, and 5 rove beetle adults, or after releasing 2, 3, 4, and 5 rove beetle adults (Figure 1B).

Experiment 3 (prepupa-pupa combination). The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was negatively affected by the numbers of rove beetle adults released (F=41.45; df=5, 96; P<0.0001: Figure 1C). However, there was no evidence of any effect of initial numbers associated with the western flower thrips prepupaepupae combination (F=1.30; df=3, 96; P=0.28). The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly higher when releasing 1 compared to 3, 4, and 5 rove beetle adults. However, there was no evidence that the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards differed when either 1 or 2 rove beetle adults were released, or among releasing 3, 4, and 5 rove beetle adults (Figure 1C).

c. Effects of predator-prey ratios, accounting for different initial prey numbers, on predation efficacy

Experiment 1 (prepupa). At the 1:15 predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased significantly from 68.7% (50.7-82.4%) to 33.4% (20.4-49.4%) when the initial number of western flower thrips prepupae increased from 15 to 30. However, there was no evidence that the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards differed due to initial prey numbers within the 1:10 (t=1.00, df=59.96, P=0.32) or 1:5 predator-prey ratio (F=0.97; df=2, 93; P=0.38) (Table 3).

After adjusting for the initial number of western flower thrips prepupae, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards at the 1:5 [19.5% (12.9-28.3%)] was significantly lower than that at the 1:15 predator-prey ratio [51.2% (38-64.1%)]. However, the estimate at 1:10 ratio [30.2% (20.4-42.2%)] was not significantly different from the other predator-prey ratios (1:5 and 1:15) (Table 3).

Experiment 2 (pupa). There was no evidence of any differences in the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards among the predator-prey ratios (F=2.15; df=2, 96; P=0.12), or among different initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio (1:5 ratio: F=1.11; df=2, 96; P=0.33; 1:10 ratio: t=0.42, df=70.29, P=0.68; and 1:15 ratio: t=1.40, df=66.08, P=0.17) (Table 4).

Experiment 3 (prepupa-pupa combination). At the 1:10 predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased significantly from 38.7% (23.8-56.1%) to 7.5% (3.4-15.8%) when the initial number of western flower thrips prepupae-pupae combination increased from 20 to 30. However, there was no evidence of any significant differences due to initial prey number at the 1:5 (F=0.38; df=2, 86.43; P=0.69) or 1:15 predator-prey ratio (t=1.72, df=68.51, P=0.091). In addition, there was no evidence of any significant differences in the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards among the three predator-prey ratios (F=0.76; df=2, 77.63; P=0.47) (Table 5).

Discussion

In this study, we quantitatively and indirectly evaluated the predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips pupal stages. Overall, for each pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased as the number of rove beetle adults released increased from 1 to 3; however, the effect of additional rove beetle adults released was not apparent. Moreover, across the pupal stages evaluated in this study, overall, there was no evidence of any differential effects associated with predator-prey ratios or initial prey numbers. Therefore, the results from this study provide insights into the potential predatory behavior of *D. coriaria* adults on the western flower thrips pupal stages, which may have practical implications for successful implementation of biological control programs in greenhouse production systems. In addition, the pupal stages of western flower thrips are tolerant to insecticides (Seaton et al. 1997). So, *D. coriaria* may provide mortality on life stages that are difficult to manage with insecticides.

The first hypothesis indicated that at each initial number of each western flower thrips pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should decrease as the number of rove beetle adults increases because more rove beetle adults should consume higher numbers of prey. The results of this study partially confirmed this hypothesis. There was a general trend that for each western flower thrips pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased when the number of rove beetle adults increased from 1 to 3, however, the effect of releasing additional rove beetle adults was not apparent. It is possible that mutual interference occurred when the number of rove beetle adults increased from 3 to 5. Consequently, rove beetle adults spent less time foraging for western flower thrips prepupae or pupae.

In the second hypothesis, for each western flower thrips pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should decrease as

the predator-prey ratio increases. The reason for this is that as predator-prey ratio increases, the proportion of rove beetle adults to prey is greater. Therefore, more predators are available to feed on prey. Results from experiment 1 (prepupa) partially supported this hypothesis as the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards at the 1:5 ratio was significantly lower than the 1:15 ratio, but was not significantly different from the 1:10 ratio. However, results from experiments 2 (pupa) and 3 (prepupa-pupa combination) did not support this hypothesis. In experiments 2 and 3, there were no significant differences affiliated with the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards at the 1:6 with the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards among the three predator-prey ratios. It is possible that as the predator-prey ratio increased, with fewer prey available for each rove beetle adult, mutual interference caused predators to spend less time foraging for prey (Echegaray et al., 2015). However, if what occurred in experiments 2 and 3 is true, it is unclear why mutual interference did not occur in experiment 1.

For the third hypothesis, at a given predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should increase as the numbers of one western flower thrips pupal stage and rove beetle adults increase. This hypothesis assumed that 1) cannibalism does not occur among rove beetle adults (Miller and Williams, 1983); 2) when more rove beetle adults are released in the same container, mutual interference will occur; consequently, reducing predator foraging efficiency. However, the results did not support the hypothesis as at the 1:15 predator-prey ratio in experiment 1 (prepupae) and 1:10 ratio in experiment 3 (prepupal-pupal combination), the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased significantly when the initial number of prey increased. Furthermore, as for the other predator-prey ratios in the three experiments, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the

yellow sticky cards did not differ significantly among the different initial numbers of prey. It is likely that as the initial number of prey increased, the numbers of rove beetle adults also increased, but the number of prey available to each rove beetle adult did not change. Thus, mutual interference likely did not occur among the rove beetle adults.

Selecting an appropriate predator-prey ratio may enhance the success of an augmentative biological control program (Hamlen and Lindquist 1981, Gaudchau 1982, Opit et al. 2004, Cheng et al. 2012, Echegaray et al. 2015, Amoah et al. 2016). For example, successful suppression has been achieved at ratios between 1:20 and 1:4 when using the predatory mite, Phytoseiulus persimilis (Athias-Henriot) (Acari: Phytoseiidae), against the twospotted spider mite, Tetranychus urticae (Koch) (Acari: Tetranychidae), on greenhouse ornamentals (Hamlen and Lindquist 1981). Moreover, Echegaray et al. (2015) recommended a 1:5 D. coriaria adult: fungus gnat, Bradysia sp. nr. coprophila (Lintner) (Diptera: Sciaridae), larvae release ratio for greenhouse producers after evaluating the predation efficacy of *D. coriaria* adults on fungus gnat larvae under laboratory conditions. In this study, when predation efficacy was compared among predator-prey ratios in the experiments associated with pupa and the prepupa-pupa combination, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was not significantly different. Therefore, predation efficacy was not enhanced as the predator-prey ratio increased from 1:15 to 1:5. However, at the same initial prey number, fewer rove beetle adults need to be released at the predator-prey ratio of 1:15 compared to 1:10 and 1:5. Therefore, the 1:15 predator-prey ratio may be a practical recommendation for greenhouse producers when using *D. coriaria* adults against western flower thrips pupal stages in 15.2 cm containers.

Initial pest density may affect predation efficacy at a given predator-prey ratio (Echegaray et al. 2015). For instance, when the predatory mite, P. persimilis was released at a ratio of 1:10 (P. persimilis: twospotted spider mite, T. urticae), flower damage to potted Impatiens walleriana Hook. f. plants was greater when the initial pest population was higher (Alatawi 2006). When D. coriaria adults were released at a 1:5 (D. coriaria adult: fungus gnat larvae) predator-prey ratio to suppress fungus gnat populations under laboratory conditions, the percent fungus gnat adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased significantly from 59% to 37.5% as the initial number of fungus gnat larvae increased from 10 to 20 (Echegaray et al. 2015). Similarly, our results with prepupa indicated that, at a 1:15 predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased significantly from 68.7% to 33.4% when the initial number of western flower thrips prepupae increased from 15 to 30. Furthermore, for the prepupa-pupa combination, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards at 1:10 predator-prey ratio decreased significantly from 38.7% at an initial number of 20 western flower thrips prepupae-pupae combination to 7.5% at an initial number of 30 western flower thrips prepupae-pupae combination. It is likely that search time of rove beetle adults was reduced as prey number increased in the same searchable area.

This study is the first to evaluate predation of the rove beetle, *D. coriaria* on western flower thrips in 15.2 cm containers that are commonly used in greenhouse production systems (Reiley and Shry, Jr. 2001). Previous studies associated with *D. coriaria* feeding on western flower thrips were conducted in either Petri dishes or relatively small containers (such as 5.5 cm diameter cups). For instance, Carney et al. (2002) evaluated the potential predation (maximum numbers of prey consumed in 24 hours) of *D. coriaria* on western flower thrips late second instar

larvae or pupae in Petri dishes under laboratory conditions. Moreover, Saito and Brownbridge (2016) assessed how integrating *D. coriaria* with entomopathogenic fungi or predatory mites, would control the soil-dwelling stages (late second instar larvae, prepupae, and pupae) of western flower thrips in 5.5 cm diameter plastic cups (120 mL in volume). However, searchable area may affect the predation efficacy of *D. coriaria* on soil-dwelling prey (Echegaray et al. 2015, Herrick and Cloyd 2017). Therefore, this study was conducted in 15.2 cm containers (1,834.8 cm³ with 1.2 L of growing medium) typically used to grow greenhouse horticultural plants (Reiley and Shry, Jr. 2001). So, the results of this study have practical value to greenhouse producers who want to use rove beetles in biological control programs against the western flower thrips. Furthermore, our findings indicate that regardless of the initial number of western flower thrips prepupae, pupae, or prepupae-pupae combination, 3 rove beetle adults per 15.2 cm container may be recommended within the range of the initial prey number tested here.

Figures and Tables





B (pupa)



C (prepupa-pupa combination)



Figure 3-1 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) when 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults were released in experiment 1[A (prepupa)], experiment 2 [B (pupa)], and experiment 3 [C(prepupa-pupa combination)]. Estimated means followed by different letters within each experiment indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among different numbers of rove beetle adults released.

Table 3-1 Selected predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) obtained by combining different predator numbers (1, 2, 3, 4, and 5) of rove beetle (RB), *Dalotia coriaria*, adults, and initial prey numbers (15, 20, 25, and 30) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, prepupa for experiment 1, pupa for experiment 2, and prepupa-pupa combination (50%:50%) for experiment 3.

	Predator-prey ratios					
Numbers of predators (rove beetle adults)	1:5		1:10		1:15	
	RB	WFT	RB	WFT	RB	WFT
1					1	15
2			2	20	2	30
3	3	15	3	30		
4	4	20				
5	5	25				

Table 3-2 Mean (minimum, maximum) number of rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults recovered at the end of experiment 3 (prepupa-pupa combination) associated with treatment combinations consisting of initial numbers (15, 20, 25, and 30) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, prepupa-pupa combination (50%:50%) and five numbers (1, 2, 3, 4, and 5) of rove beetle adults initially released.

Numbers of rove beetle adults initially released	Initial numbers of WFT prepupa-pupa combination				
	15	20	25	30	
1	1.0 (1, 1)	1.0 (1, 1)	1.0 (1, 1)	1.0 (1, 1)	
2	0.7 (0, 1)	1.0 (0, 2)	1.7 (1, 2)	1.7 (1, 2)	
3	1.7 (1, 2)	1.7 (1, 2)	1.7 (1, 2)	1.3 (1, 2)	
4	1.7 (1, 2)	2.0 (1, 3)	1.7 (0, 3)	3.0 (3, 3)	
5	2.7 (2, 3)	1.7 (1, 3)	2.7 (2, 4)	3.7 (2, 5)	

Table 3-3 Comparisons associated with the estimated mean probability [95% confidence intervals (CI)] of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards among different initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio and among three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 1.

Predator-prey ratios	Numbers of predator	Numbers of prey	Comparisons within each predator-prey ratio [Mean (95%CI), %]	Comparisons among three predator-prey ratios [Mean (95%CI), %]	
1:5	3	15	14.3 (6.6, 28.3) a		
1:5	4	20	26.2 (14.6, 42.3) a	19.5 (12.9, 28.3) A	
1:5	5	25	19.3 (10.3, 33.2) a		
1:10	2	20	35.3 (21.2, 52.6) a	20 2 (20 4 42 2) AD	
1:10	3	30	25.5 (14.7, 40.6) a	30.2 (20.4, 42.2) AB	
1:15	1	15	68.7 (50.7, 82.4) b	51 Q (20 Q (4 1) D	
1:15	2	30	33.4 (20.4, 49.4) a	51.2 (58.0, 64.1) B	

Notes: Estimated means followed by different uppercase letters among the three predator-prey ratios are significantly different (P<0.05). Estimated means followed by the different lowercase letters within each predator-prey ratio are significantly different (P<0.05).

Table 3-4 Comparisons associated with the estimated mean probability [95% confidence intervals (CI)] of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards among different initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio and among three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 2.

Predator-prey ratios	Numbers of predator	Numbers of prey	Comparisons within each predator-prey ratio [Mean (95%CI), %]	Comparisons among three predator-prey ratios [Mean (95%CI), %]	
1:5	3	15	5.4 (1.4, 17.9) a		
1:5	4	20	0.9 (0.1, 7.6) a	2.8 (1.0, 7.3) A	
1:5	5	25	4.4 (1.3, 13.7) a		
1:10	2	20	7.8 (2.6, 21.3) a	(7(20, 149))	
1:10	3	30	5.8 (1.9, 16.2) a	0.7 (2.9, 14.8) A	
1:15	1	15	14.2 (5.0, 34.1) a	80(20,180)	
1:15	2	30	5.4 (1.8, 15.4) a	ð.9 (3.9, 18.9) A	

Notes: Estimated means followed by different uppercase letters among the three predator-prey ratios are significantly different (P<0.05). Estimated means followed by the different lowercase letters within each predator-prey ratio are significantly different (P<0.05).

Table 3-5 Comparisons associated with the estimated mean probability [95% confidence intervals (CI)] of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards among different initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio and among three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 3.

Predator-prey ratios	Numbers of predator	Numbers of prey	Comparisons within each predator-prey ratio [Mean (95%CI), %]	Comparisons among three predator-prey ratios [Mean (95%CI), %]	
1:5	3	15	16.2 (7.6, 31.1) a		
1:5	4	20	20.6 (10.9, 35.5) a	16.8 (11.3, 24.1) A	
1:5	5	25	14.0 (7.0, 26.1) a		
1:10	2	20	38.7 (23.8, 56.1) a	10.5 (11.6, 20.1) A	
1:10	3	30	7.5 (3.4, 15.8) b	18.3 (11.6, 28.1) A	
1:15	1	15	32.5 (18.4, 50.7) a	22.5(15.4,24.2)	
1:15	2	30	16.4 (8.7, 28.7) a	25.5 (15.4, 54.2) A	

Notes: Estimated means followed by different uppercase letters among the three predator-prey ratios are significantly different (P<0.05). Estimated means followed by the different lowercase letters within each predator-prey ratio are significantly different (P<0.05).

Chapter 4 - Effect of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults

Introduction

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), is an important insect pest associated with greenhouse-grown horticultural crops including ornamentals and vegetables (Robb and Parrella 1995, Lewis 1997, Kirk 2002, Cloyd 2009). Western flower thrips can cause direct and indirect plant damage (Chisholm and Lewis 1984, Hunter and Ullman 1989, Harrewijn et al. 1996, Pappu et al. 2009), resulting in substantial economic losses (Goldbach and Peters 1994, Reitz and Funderburk 2012). Consequently, greenhouse producers rely on regular applications of insecticides to suppress western flower thrips populations below damaging levels (Kontsedalov et al. 1998, Loughner et al. 2005, Cloyd 2009).

There is a concern that western flower thrips populations have developed resistance to insecticides associated with many chemical classes due to the intensive selection pressure from insecticide applications (Brødsgaard 1994, Jensen 2000, Bielza et al. 2007, Kay and Herron 2010). Therefore, biological control may be a viable alternative plant protection strategy to manage western flower thrips populations. (Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009).

The predatory rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria* (Kraatz) (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), is a potential biological control agent of western flower thrips (Carney et al. 2002) and is

commercially available from most biological control suppliers (Jandricic et al. 2005, Warner and Getz 2008). Moreover, *D. coriaria* preys upon a number of greenhouse insect pests, including: soil-dwelling life stages (prepupae and pupae) of western flower thrips, and the larval stages of shore flies (*Scatella* spp.) and fungus gnats (*Bradysia* spp.) (Gillespie et al. 2001, Carney et al. 2002, Cox et al. 2006, Jandricic et al. 2006, Echegaray et al. 2015).

Predation efficacy is a measurement designed to evaluate predator effectiveness in suppressing prey populations, which is important in selecting biological control agents (Farhadi et al. 2011). Low pest tolerance and the capacity of most greenhouse insect and mite pests to increase populations rapidly, has increased the need to determine appropriate predator-prey ratios that sufficiently suppress pest populations. Consequently, studies have evaluated predator-prey ratios for various predators and prey (Gaudchau 1982, Gilkeson and Hill 1987, Opit et al. 2004, Cheng et al. 2012, Echegaray et al. 2015). Furthermore, different predator-prey numbers, based on variations in predator-prey ratios, may also influence predation efficacy (Echegaray et al. 2015).

Although comparisons of predation efficacy among different predator-prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) were previously conducted in Chapter 3, there were different predator-prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio: 3 times, 4 times, and 5 times in 1:5 ratio; 2 times and 3 times in 1:10 ratio; as well as 1 time and 2 times in 1:15 ratio. As such, the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey number could not be determined. Therefore, in the study conducted in Chapter 4, predation efficacy was evaluated based on three predator-prey numbers (2 times, 3 times, and 4 times) within each predator-prey ratio (1:5, 1:10, or 1:15) to assess the interaction between predator-prey ratio and predator-prey ratio and predator-prey number.

Western flower thrips late second instar larvae migrate or fall onto the growing medium surface to pupate (Helyer et al. 1995, Tommasini and Maini 1995, Kirk 1996, Wiethoff et al. 2004). Western flower thrips prepupae and pupae take two to three days and one to two days to develop into adults, respectively (Zhang et al. 2007). Since exposure time of prepupae to rove beetle adults, prior to western flower thrips adult eclosion, is longer than pupae, rove beetle adults may have more time (about one day) to forage for western flower thrips prepupae than pupae. As such, predation efficacy may be influenced by duration of specific western flower thrips pupal stage (prepupa or pupa). Therefore, to account for the effect of different exposure time of western flower thrips pupal stages on rove beetle adult predation, pupal stage was included in this study as a factor that could potentially affect predation efficacy. Furthermore, the searchable area may also affect predation efficacy of D. coriaria on soil-dwelling prey, which has been proposed in previous associated with fungus gnat, Bradysia sp. nr. coprophila (Lintner) (Diptera: Sciaridae), larvae (Echegaray et al. 2015, Herrick and Cloyd 2017). However, minimal information is available on how western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predatorprey number, and searchable area influence predation efficacy of rove beetle, D. coriaria, adults.

Based on previous studies, four hypotheses were developed. First, at the same predatorprey ratio and same predator-prey number, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards from prepupae should be lower than the pupae. The reason being is that rove beetle adults have about one more day to forage on prepupae, before western flower thrips adults eclosion, than the pupae, potentially allowing greater predation on prepupae. Second, at the same predator-prey number and same pupal stage, as predator-prey ratio increases, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should increase. The reason for this is that as the predator-prey ratio increases, there are more predators relative to prey; thus, mutual interference [competition occurs when access to resources is negatively affected by the presence of other individuals within a population (DeLong and Vasseur 2011)] among rove beetle adults should occur. Consequently, rove beetle adults should spend less time foraging for western flower thrips prepupae or pupae. Third, at the same predator-prey ratio and same pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should increase as the predator-prey number increases and subsequently as more rove beetle adults are released. The reason being is that when more rove beetle adults are released in the same container, mutual interference among rove beetle adults should occur. Subsequently, rove beetle adults should spend less time foraging for western flower thrips prepupae or pupae. Fourth, at the same predator-prey ratio and same predator-prey number, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should are increases because rove beetle adults should spend less time foraging for western flower thrips prepupae or pupae. Fourth, at the same predator-prey ratio and same predator-prey number, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards should increase as searchable area increases because rove beetle adults should spend more time searching for prey as searchable area increases.

Therefore, the objectives of this study were to evaluate the effects of: 1) western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, and predator-prey number; and 2) predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on the predation efficacy of rove beetle adults.

Materials and Methods

a. Insect colonies

A western flower thrips colony was maintained under laboratory conditions (20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light) in Glad[®] plastic containers [20.4 x 14.4 x 9.4 cm (length x width x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a round hole (9.5 cm diameter) cut in the lid that was covered with No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size:

0.15 x 0.15 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). Green beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) were purchased from a local supermarket (Dillons; Manhattan, KS), soaked in soapy water for 10 minutes, then rinsed with distilled water, and allowed to dry. The green beans were provided as food and oviposition sites for adults, as well as a food source for larvae. Green beans were changed every two to three days.

A rove beetle colony was maintained in growing medium in 7.6 L plastic rectangular containers [34.8 x 24.7 x 12.4 cm (length x width x height] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) under laboratory conditions: 20-24°C, 45% to 60% relative humidity, and constant darkness simulating conditions similar to the natural habitat of rove beetles (Helyer et al. 2003). Substrate preparation was as follows: a 6.0 L plastic container [28.5 x 11.0 cm (diameter x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) was filled with Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix (SunGro Horticulture, Inc.; Bellevue, WA) growing medium consisting of 70% to 80% Canadian sphagnum peat moss, perlite, 0.0001% silicone dioxide, and dolomitic limestone. The growing medium was moistened with approximately 200 mL of water. The 6.0 L plastic container with growing medium was then heated for 25 minutes in a microwave set at full-power (1,200 W output). After the growing medium was allowed to cool, 1.8 L of water was applied to the growing medium, which was then thoroughly mixed. About 3.0 L of the sterilized growing medium was placed into each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container. About 15 g of dry oats (Avena sativa L.) (The Quaker Oats Company; Chicago, IL) were placed, every four to five days, onto the growing medium surface in a line (lengthwise) in the center of the growing medium within each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container. Approximately 15 mL of water was applied, every one to two days, onto the oats using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle

(Delta Industries; King of Prussia, PA) to maintain constant moisture. Adult rove beetles from previous colonies were then used to establish new colonies.

Western flower thrips and rove beetle specimens used in this study are deposited as voucher numbers 237 and 220, respectively in the Kansas State University Museum of Entomological and Prairie Arthropod Research (Manhattan, KS).

b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults

Five rove beetle third instar larvae were placed into a Gladware[®] container [7.8 x 5.1 cm (diameter x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with 20 mL of moistened growing medium and three to four pieces of oats. A total of 20 Gladware[®] containers with rove beetle third instar larvae were prepared following the above method, and then placed into an environmental growth chamber (Conviron[®] Controlled Environments Inc.; Pembina, ND) set at 21-27°C and constant darkness. Rove beetle adults were observed seven days later with most adults emerging after 11 days (Yinping Li; personal observation). Newly eclosed adults (one to three days old) were individually placed in 9 dram (33 mL) plastic vials with lids using a softbristled brush. All 9 dram plastic vials containing rove beetle adults were returned to the environmental growth chamber, and the adults were starved for 24 hours. The sex ratio of rove beetle adults was 1:1 (female:male).

c. Experimental procedures

Two independent experiments were conducted under laboratory conditions. Each experiment was set-up as a randomized complete block design, with experimental round (day) as a blocking factor. Each experiment was completed in five experimental rounds, one per day, with each experimental round involving 18 treatment combinations (described below).

In experiment 1, predation efficacy of rove beetle adults was evaluated using a three-way factorial treatment structure consisting of all combinations of two western flower thrips pupal stages (prepupa and pupa), three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times) (Table 1). In experiment 2, rove beetle adult predation was assessed based on a three-way factorial treatment structure including all combinations of two searchable areas [15.2 cm diameter containers (1,834.82 cm³ with 1.2 L of growing medium) and 11.5 cm diameter containers (701.79 cm³ with 0.4 L of growing medium)], three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times) (Table 2).

In experiment 1, approximately 1.2 L of sterilized Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix growing medium was placed into each 15.2 cm container (Dillen Products Inc; Middlefield, OH). In experiment 2, to account for different searchable areas, two container sizes were used: 15.2 and 11.5 cm diameter. About 1.2 L and 0.4 L of sterilized Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix growing medium was placed into each 15.2 and 11.5 cm container, respectively. A section of green bean (5 cm in length) was placed on the growing medium surface beside the inside rim of each container to provide a food source for western flower thrips adults that eclosed. Then, a pre-determined number of western flower thrips prepupae or pupae were randomly positioned on the growing medium surface.

Prepupae and pupae are generally located at a depth of 1 to 5 mm in the compost that was a freshly steam-sterilised mixture (50:50 by volume) of loam and medium grade sphagnum peat (Helyer et al. 1995). Furthermore, prepupae and pupae are distributed throughout the growing medium via cracks and crevices present on the growing medium surface (Yinping Li; personal observation). Thus, no additional growing medium was needed to cover the prepupae or pupae. One to two hours after western flower thrips prepupae or pupae were positioned on the growing medium surface, a pre-determined number of newly eclosed rove beetle adults, based on the designated treatments, were released into each container. Only western flower thrips prepupae were used in experiment 2 based on the results from experiment 1 where predation efficacy of rove beetle adults was not significantly different between western flower thrips prepupae and pupae.

Each container was covered with No-Thrips insect screening to prevent rove beetle adults and western flower thrips adults from escaping. For each experimental round (day), a total of eighteen 15.2 cm containers for experiment 1, and nine 15.2 cm and nine 11.5 cm containers for experiment 2 were prepared and maintained in the laboratory at 19-25°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and a 16:8 (light:dark) hour photoperiod. To prevent rove beetle adults to be captured on the yellow sticky cards prior to western flower thrips adult eclosion, yellow sticky cards were affixed onto the inside center of the No-Thrips insect screening within the containers five days after the experiment was initiated. One yellow sticky card was used for each 15.2 cm container and a half section of a yellow sticky card for each 11.5 cm container. Simultaneously, green beans were removed from the containers, and approximately 15 g of oats were placed on the growing medium surface as a food source for rove beetle adults to ensure adult survival after completing experiment 1. To maintain moisture, about 15 mL of water was applied to the oats through the No-Thrips insect screening using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle every one to two days. In experiment 2, no oats were placed on the growing medium surface after removing the green beans.

The numbers of western flower thrips adults and rove beetle adults captured on the yellow sticky cards were recorded 17 days after initiating the experiments. The number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was used as an indirect

assessment of predation efficacy, which in turn was quantified by the binomial probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (refer to Data analysis).

To confirm rove beetle adult survival during the experiment, the growing medium in the 15.2 cm containers was used to determine the number of rove beetle adults recovered in experiment 1. After experiment 1 was completed, the growing medium in each 15.2 cm container was placed into a 9.4 L plastic rectangular container [40.2 x 26.4 x 12.8 cm (length x width x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH). About 0.8 L of water was added to each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container to saturate the growing medium, causing rove beetles to emerge from the growing medium (Yinping Li; personal observation). Then, approximately 15 g of oats were placed on the growing medium surface as a food source for rove beetle adults. The 9.4 L plastic rectangular containers were covered using modified lids with insect screening (mesh size: 0.2 x 0.8 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). The number of rove beetle adults in each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container was checked 24 hours after the growing medium was saturated. Recovery of rove beetle adults at the end of the experiment was based on the number of rove beetle adults captured on yellow sticky cards and the number of rove beetle adults recovered from the growing medium. In experiment 2, the number of rove beetle adults recovered at the end of experiment was based on the number of rove beetle adults captured on yellow sticky cards.

Data Analysis

For each experiment, a generalized linear mixed model assuming a binomial distribution was fitted to the response variable defined as number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards out of the initial number of one western flower thrips pupal stage in the

container. A logit link function was used to estimate the probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards, which was an indicator of predation efficacy.

In experiment 1, the linear predictor in the model included the fixed effects of western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, as well as all two- and three-way interactions. In experiment 2, the fixed effects in the linear predictor consisted of predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, searchable area, as well as all two- and three-way interactions. For both experiments, random effects associated with the linear predictor included the blocking effect of experimental round (day) and an effect of the container as the unit of observation, defined as the cross product of experimental round (day) and treatment combination. This specification was needed to account for over-dispersion in the data, as observed in preliminary analyses.

Over-dispersion was evaluated using the maximum-likelihood based fit statistic Pearson Chi-Square/DF. For the two experiments, the final model used for inference showed no evidence of over-dispersion. Estimation was conducted using Residual Pseudo-likelihood. Degrees of freedom were approximated and estimated standard errors were adjusted using Kenward-Roger's procedure. The statistical model was fitted using the PROC GLIMMIX procedure (SAS Institute 2012) implemented using Newton-Raphson with ridging as the optimization technique. Pairwise comparisons were conducted using Tukey-Kramer's or Bonferroni's adjustments, as appropriate in each case, to avoid inflation of type I error due to multiple comparisons.

Results

a. Assessment of baseline conditions for experiment 1

When no rove beetle adults were released, the mean percent western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards ranged from 98.2% to 99.4% for prepupae and 89.2% to 97.9% for pupae (Appendix A). The high recovery of western flower thrips adults in the absence of rove beetle adults suggests that neither natural mortality of western flower thrips prepupae and pupae nor mortality caused by handling technique were contributing factors that inhibited prepupae and pupae from developing into adults. Furthermore, descriptive statistics of rove beetle adults recovered at the end of the experiment confirmed their general presence and survival during the experimental period (Table 3).

b. Effect of western flower thrips pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, and predatorprey number on predation efficacy of rove beetle adults (Experiment 1)

No significant two- or three-way interactions were detected among pupal stage, predator-prey ratio, and predator-prey number on the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (western flower thrips pupal stage x predator-prey ratio interaction: F=0.73; df=2, 66.02; P=0.48; western flower thrips pupal stage x predator-prey number interaction: F=2.15; df=2, 66.36; P=0.12; predator-prey ratio x predatorprey number interaction: F=0.93; df=4, 65.77; P=0.45; and western flower thrips pupal stage x predator-prey ratio x predator-prey number interaction: F=0.23; df=4, 65.75; P=0.92).

Furthermore, there was no evidence of any marginal differences between prepupae and pupae on the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (F=0.00; df=1, 66.65; P=0.98). However, a main effect of predator-prey ratio was
detected (F=7.25; df=2, 66.06; P=0.0014). Whereby, regardless of pupal stage, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly higher at the 1:5 predator-prey ratio [61.1% (48.5-72.4%)] [mean (95% confidence interval)] than the 1:10 [39% (28.1-51.2%)] (t=2.96, df=72, P=0.01) and 1:15 predator-prey ratio [34.7% (24.7-46.3%)] (t=3.62, df=69.07, P=0.002). However, the latter two predator-prey ratios were not significantly different from each other (t=0.65, df=59.06, P=0.80) (Figure 1).

A main effect of predator-prey number was also identified for the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (F=3.99; df=2, 66.36; P=0.02). At 2 times the predator-prey number, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards [57% (44.3-68.8%)], was significantly higher than 3 [37.2% (26.6-49.3%)] (t=2.66, df=70.62, P=0.03) and 4 times [40.6% (30-52.3%)] (t=2.21, df=68.15, P=0.04). However, the latter two predator-prey numbers were not significantly different from each other (t=-0.49, df=61.39, P=0.88) (Figure 2).

c. Assessment of baseline conditions for experiment 2

When no rove beetle adults were released, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards ranged from 84.1% to 90.2% for the 11.5 cm containers and 87.3% to 94.2% for the 15.2 cm containers (For methodology refers to Appendix A). Moreover, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards without rove beetle adults suggests that neither natural mortality of western flower thrips prepupae and pupae nor mortality caused by handling technique were contributing factors inhibiting prepupae and pupae from developing into adults. Furthermore, descriptive statistics of rove beetle adults recovered at the end of the experiment confirmed their general presence and survival during the experimental period (Table 4).

d. Effect of predator-prey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation efficacy of rove beetle adults (Experiment 2)

A significant three-way interaction was detected among predator-prey ratio, predatorprey number, and searchable area (F=3.21; df=4, 72; P=0.02). To explain this interaction, we evaluated the simple effects of searchable area on the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards within combinations of predator-prey ratios and predator-prey numbers (Figure 3).

The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards, for the 1:5 predator-prey ratio under conditions of 4 times the predator-prey number, was significantly higher in the 15.2 cm containers than in 11.5 cm containers. However, this difference in searchable area was not significant when predator-prey numbers were 2 or 3 times (Figure 3A). In contrast, at the 1:10 predator-prey ratio, the effects of searchable area on the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significant at 2 and 3 times, but not at 4 times the predator-prey number (Figure 3B). Finally, at the 1:15 predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards in the 15.2 cm containers was significantly higher than that in the 11.5 cm containers across all predator-prey numbers (Figure 3C).

Discussion

This is the first study to assess the effect of western flower thrips pupal stage, predatorprey ratio, predator-prey number, and searchable area on predation of western flower thrips by the rove beetle, *D. coriaria*. This study demonstrated that the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips captured on yellow sticky cards was higher for the 1:5 predator-prey ratio than the 1:10 and 1:15 predator-prey ratios. In addition, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips captured on yellow sticky cards was higher for 2 times the predator-prey number than 3 and 4 times the predator-prey numbers. Furthermore, a significantly higher estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults was captured on the yellow sticky cards in the 15.2 cm than 11.5 cm containers.

Exposure time of prey to a predator may influence predation efficacy. The exposure time of western flower thrips prepupae to rove beetle adults is longer (about one day) than the pupae (Zhang et al., 2007). However, in this study, the results did not confirm the first hypothesis as predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips prepupae was not significantly different from the pupae. It is possible that western flower thrips prepupae are active, whereas pupae are inactive; consequently, the prepupae may avoid rove beetle adult predation by striking rove beetle adults with their abdomen (Yinping Li; personal observation). Thus, rove beetle adults may spend more time searching for and engaging western flower thrips prepupae than pupae. Therefore, exposure time associated with the two western flower thrips pupal stages may not affect the predation efficacy of rove beetle adults.

Initial pest density may influence predation efficacy of a predator at a given predatorprey ratio (Echegaray et al., 2015). For instance, when *D. coriaria* adults were released at a 1:5 (*D. coriaria* adults:fungus gnat larvae) predator-prey ratio to suppress fungus gnat larval populations, percent fungus gnat adults captured on yellow sticky cards decreased significantly from 59% to 37.5% as the initial number of fungus gnat larvae increased from 10 to 20 (Echegaray et al., 2015). Similarly, results from experiment 1 (prepupa) of Chapter 3 indicated that, at a 1:15 predator-prey ratio, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards decreased significantly from 68.7% to 33.4% when the initial

number of western flower thrips prepupae increased from 15 to 30. In experiment 3 (prepupapupa combination) of Chapter 3, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards at the 1:10 predator-prey ratio decreased significantly from 38.7% at an initial number of 20 western flower thrips pupal combination to 7.5% at an initial number of 30 western flower thrips pupal combination. In this study, the results did not support the third hypothesis as the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards decreased significantly when the predator-prey number increased from 2 times to 3 times predator-prey number, but was not significantly different when the predator-prey number increased from 3 times to 4 times the predator-prey number. It is possible that searching ability or/and handling proficiency improved when the predator-prey number increased from 2 times to 3 times, but did not change when predator-prey number increased from 3 times to 4 times.

Searchable area may affect the predation efficacy of *D. coriaria* on soil-dwelling prey, such as fungus gnat larvae (Echegaray et al., 2015; Herrick and Cloyd, 2017). Herrick and Cloyd (2017) proposed that predation of *D. coriaria* adults on fungus gnat larvae may be negatively affected by a greater searchable area associated with the 15.2 cm containers (1,834.82 cm³ with 2.0 L of growing medium) used in the greenhouse experiment compared to the smaller searchable area of 473 mL deli containers (616.14 cm³ with 0.3 L of growing medium) used in the laboratory experiment. In this study, results supported the fourth hypothesis with predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips prepupae in the 15.2 cm containers being significantly lower than in the 11.5 cm containers.

Evaluating an appropriate predator-prey ratio based on predation efficacy may enhance the success of an augmentative biological control program (Hamlen and Lindquist, 1981;

Gaudchau, 1982; Opit et al., 2004; Cheng et al., 2012; Echegaray et al., 2015; Amoah et al., 2016). For example, Cheng et al. (2012) found that the predator, *Mallada basalis* (Walker) (Neuroptera: Chrysopidae) suppressed populations of both *Tetranychus kanzawai* (Kishida) (Acari: Tetranychidae) and Panonychus citri (McGregor) (Acari: Tetranychidae) on papaya (*Carica* papaya L.) at a predator: prev ratio of 1:15 or greater. Moreover, effective suppression was achieved at a predator: prey ratio of 1:10 when using the predatory mite, *Phytoseiulus* persimilis (Athias-Henriot) (Acari: Phytoseiidae) against the twospotted spider mite, Tetranychus urticae (Koch) (Acari: Tetranychidae) on lima bean (Phaseolus lunatus L.) plants (Amoah et al., 2016). In experiments 2 (pupa) and 3 (prepupa-pupa combination) of Chapter 3, predation efficacy was not significantly different among the three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15). Furthermore, in this study, results partially supported the second hypothesis as predation efficacy at the 1:15 predator-prey ratio was significantly higher than the 1:5 ratio, but not significantly different from the 1:10 ratio. It is likely that mutual interference may have taken place at the predator-prey ratios of 1:5, but not 1:10 or 1:15. Since compared to the 1:10 and 1:15 ratios, there were less prey available for each rove beetle adult at the 1:5 ratio and the competition may have been greater among rove beetle adults. The results from Chapters 3 and this study provide evidence that predation efficacy was not enhanced as the predator-prey ratio increased from 1:15 to 1:5. However, at the same initial prey number, fewer rove beetle adults need to be released at the predator-prey ratio of 1:15 compared to 1:10 and 1:5. Therefore, the 1:15 predator-prey ratio may be a viable recommendation for greenhouse producers.

Figures and Tables



Figure 4-1 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) associated with three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) in experiment 1. Estimated means followed by different letters indicate significant differences (P<0.05) among the three predator-prey ratios.



Figure 4-2 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) associated with three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times or x) in experiment 1. Estimated means followed by different letters indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among the three predator-prey numbers.

A. 1:5 predator-prey ratio



B. 1:10 predator-prey ratio



C. 1:15 predator-prey ratio



Figure 4-3 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for two searchable areas [11.5 cm containers (701.79 cm³ with 0.4 L of growing medium) and 15.2 cm containers (1,834.82 cm³ with 1.2 L of growing medium)] within all combinations of three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15) and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times or x) in experiment 2. Estimated means followed by different letters within the same predator-prey ratio and the same predator-prey number indicate significant differences (P<0.05) between the two searchable areas.

	Predator-prey ratios						
Predator-prey numbers	1:5		1:10		1:15		
	RB	WFT PP/P	RB	WFT PP/P	RB	WFT PP/P	
2	2	10	2	20	2	30	
3	3	15	3	30	3	45	
4	4	20	4	40	4	60	

Table 4-1 Number of rove beetle (RB), *Dalotia coriaria*, adults released and initial number of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, prepupae (PP) or pupae (P) in each 15.2 cm container on each day (1, 2, 3, 4, or 5) for experiment 1.

Table 4-2 Number of rove beetle (RB), *Dalotia coriaria*, adults released and initial number of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, prepupae (PP) in each 15.2 cm container (1,834.82 cm³ with 1.2 L of growing medium) or 11.5 cm container (701.79 cm³ with 0.4 L of growing medium) on each day (1, 2, 3, 4, or 5) for experiment 2.

	Predator-prey ratios						
Predator-prey numbers	1:5		1:10		1:15		
	RB	WFT PP	RB	WFT PP	RB	WFT PP	
2	2	10	2	20	2	30	
3	3	15	3	30	3	45	
4	4	20	4	40	4	60	

Table 4-3 Mean (minimum, maximum) number of rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults recovered at the end of experiment 1 associated with all treatment combinations of two western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, pupal stages [prepupae (PP) and pupae (P)], three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times).

Predator-prey numbers	Predator-prey ratios						
	1:5		1:10		1:15		
	WFT PP	WFT P	WFT PP	WFT P	WFT PP	WFT P	
2	1.4 (1, 2)	1.6 (0, 2)	2.0 (2, 2)	1.6 (1, 2)	1.6 (1, 5)	1.4 (1, 2)	
3	1.8 (1, 2)	2.0 (1, 3)	2.6 (2, 3)	1.8 (0, 3)	2.2 (2, 3)	2.4 (0, 3)	
4	2.8 (0, 4)	3.6 (3, 4)	2.4 (1, 4)	3.0 (2, 4)	2.6 (0, 4)	3.4 (2, 4)	

Table 4-4 Mean (minimum, maximum) number of rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adults captured on the yellow sticky cards at the end of experiment 2 associated with all treatment combinations of two searchable areas [11.5 cm containers (701.79 cm³ with 0.4 L of growing medium) and 15.2 cm containers (1,834.82 cm³ with 1.2 L of growing medium)], three predator-prey ratios (1:5, 1:10, and 1:15), and three predator-prey numbers (2, 3, and 4 times).

	Predator-prey ratios						
Predator-prey	1:5		1:	10	1:15		
numbers	11.5 cm containers	15.2 cm containers	11.5 cm containers	15.2 cm containers	11.5 cm containers	15.2 cm containers	
2	0.5 (0, 1)	1.2 (0, 2)	1.2 (0, 2)	1.2 (0, 2)	1.7 (1, 2)	1.0 (0, 2)	
3	1.5 (0, 3)	2.5 (1, 3)	1.2 (0, 3)	1.7 (0, 2)	1.6 (1, 3)	1.2 (0, 3)	
4	1.8 (0, 4)	1.3 (0, 2)	2.2 (1, 4)	1.8 (0, 4)	1.8 (1, 3)	1.7 (1, 3)	

Chapter 5 - Effect of integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana*, and the rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, in suppressing western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, populations under greenhouse conditions

Introduction

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), is an important insect pest of horticultural crops worldwide (Robb and Parrella 1995, Lewis 1997, Kirk 2002, Cloyd 2009). Western flower thrips cause direct and indirect plant damage (Chisholm and Lewis 1984, Hunter and Ullman 1989, Harrewijn et al. 1996, Pappu et al. 2009) that has resulted in substantial economic losses (Goldbach and Peters 1994, Reitz and Funderburk 2012). Therefore, greenhouse producers regularly apply insecticides to suppress western flower thrips populations (Kontsedalov et al. 1998, Loughner et al. 2005, Cloyd 2009).

However, due to the intensive selection pressure associated with insecticide applications, western flower thrips populations have developed resistance to a broad range of insecticides in different chemical classes (Brødsgaard 1994, Jensen 2000, Bielza et al. 2007, Kay and Herron 2010). Therefore, alternative plant protection strategies are warranted, such as augmentative biological control that involves releasing or applying natural enemies (e.g. predators, parasitoids, or entomopathogenic fungi) to suppress pest populations (Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009). Furthermore, there is a general trend in combining entomopathogenic microorganisms, such as; bacteria and fungi, with arthropod natural enemies to target different pest life stages (Gonzalez et al. 2016, Mouden et al. 2017, Ullah and Lim 2017).

Entomopathogenic fungi, including a commercially available entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin, are viable alternatives to conventional insecticides as entomopathogenic fungi can be mass-produced, formulated, and applied using conventional equipment (Mendonça 1992, Shah and Pell 2003). Entomopathogenic fungi tend to have minimal direct effects on non-target organisms (Goettel et al. 1990, Goettel and Hajek 2000, Pell et al. 2001). Previous studies have demonstrated that *B. bassiana* may be effective in managing western flower thrips populations (Ugine et al. 2007, Ansari et al. 2008, Skinner et al. 2012, Kivett et al. 2016).

The soil-dwelling predatory rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria* (Kraatz) (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), has been shown, primarily under laboratory conditions, to prey upon soildwelling life stages (prepupae and pupae) of western flower thrips, and the larval stages of shore flies (*Scatella* spp.) and fungus gnats (*Bradysia* spp.) (Gillespie et al. 2001, Carney et al. 2002, Cox et al. 2006, Jandricic et al. 2006, Echegaray et al. 2015). *Dalotia coriaria* is commercially available from many biological control suppliers (Jandricic et al. 2005, Warner and Getz 2008). Therefore, *D. coriaria* could be a feasible biological control agent of western flower thrips prepupae and pupae in the growing medium.

Previous studies have concentrated on combining different arthropod natural enemies or integrating arthropod natural enemies with entomopathogens or entomopathogenic nematodes to target one or more western flower thrips life stage (Ebssa et al. 2006, Manners et al. 2013, Messelink and Janssen 2014, Wu et al. 2016). However, foliar applications of the entomopathogenic fungus, *B. bassiana* along with the soil-dwelling rove beetle, *D. coriaria* targeting aboveground and soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips have not been investigated. In this study, *B. bassiana* was used against western flower thrips larvae and adults

on plants, and *D. coriaria* was used against the prepupae and pupae that reside in the growing medium.

Based on previous studies, three hypotheses were developed. First, the final foliage damage rating for the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination should not be significantly different from the insecticide treatment. The reason for this is that the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination treatment, and insecticide treatment, should provide a similar level of suppression of western flower thrips populations. Second, the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination treatment should provide greater suppression of western flower thrips populations than *B. bassiana* and rove beetle individual treatments. Because synergistic (mortality greater than the sum of mortality that the individual provides) are expected to occur when using the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination. Third, the *B. bassiana* and rove beetle combination treatment should cost no more than the insecticide treatment.

Therefore, the objectives of this study were to 1) ascertain the effectiveness of using the entomopathogenic fungus, *B. bassiana* in conjunction with the rove beetle, *D. coriaria*, to suppress western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions; and 2) compare the direct costs associated with products and application rates.

Materials and Methods

a. Insect colonies

A western flower thrips colony was maintained under laboratory conditions (20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light) in Glad[®] plastic containers [20.4 x 14.4 x 9.4 cm (length x width x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a round hole (9.5 cm diameter) cut in the lid that was covered with No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size:

0.15 x 0.15 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). Green beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) were purchased from a local supermarket (Dillons; Manhattan, KS), soaked in soapy water for 20 minutes, then rinsed with distilled water, and allowed to dry. The green beans were provided as food and oviposition sites for adults, as well as a food source for larvae. Green beans were changed every two to three days.

A rove beetle colony was maintained using growing medium in 7.6 L plastic containers [$34.8 \times 24.7 \times 12.4 \text{ cm}$ (length x width x height] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) under laboratory conditions: 20-24°C, 45% to 60% relative humidity, and constant darkness simulating conditions similar to the natural habitat of rove beetles (Helyer et al. 2003). A rectangular section ($22 \times 11 \text{ cm}$: length x width) was cut in the lid and covered with No-Thrips insect screening.

Growing medium preparation was as follows: a 6.0 L plastic container [28.5 x 11 cm (diameter x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) was filled with Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix (SunGro Horticulture, Inc.; Bellevue, WA) growing medium consisting of 70% to 80% Canadian sphagnum peat moss, perlite, 0.0001% silicone dioxide, and dolomitic limestone. The growing medium was moistened with approximately 200 mL of water. The 6.0 L plastic container with growing medium was then heated for 25 minutes in a microwave set at full-power (1,200 W output). After the growing medium was allowed to cool, 1.8 L of water was applied to the growing medium, which was then thoroughly mixed. About 3.0 L of the sterilized growing medium was placed into each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container.

Approximately 15 g of dry oats (*Avena sativa* L.) (The Quaker Oats Company; Chicago, IL) were placed, every four to five days, onto the growing medium surface in a line (lengthwise) in the center of the growing medium within each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container. About 15

mL of water was applied, every one to two days, onto the oats using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle (Delta Industries; King of Prussia, PA) to maintain constant moisture. Adult rove beetles from previous colonies were then used to establish new colonies.

Western flower thrips and rove beetle specimens used in this study are deposited as voucher numbers 237 and 220, respectively in the Kansas State University Museum of Entomological and Prairie Arthropod Research (Manhattan, KS).

b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults

Five rove beetle third instar larvae were placed into a Gladware[®] container [7.8 x 5.1 cm (diameter x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with 20 mL of moistened growing medium and three to four pieces of dry oats. A total of 20 Gladware[®] containers with rove beetle third instar larvae were prepared following the above method, then placed into an environmental growth chamber (Conviron[®] Controlled Environments Inc.; Pembina, ND) set at 21-27°C and constant darkness. Rove beetle adults were observed seven days later with most adults eclosing from pupae after 11 days (Yinping Li; personal observation). Newly eclosed adults (one to three days old) were individually placed in 9 dram (33 mL) plastic vials with lids using a soft-bristled brush. All 9 dram plastic vials containing rove beetle adults were returned to the environmental growth chamber and the adults were starved for 24 hours. The sex ratio of rove beetle adults was 1:1 (female:male).

c. Experimental procedures

Two experiments were conducted in a glass-covered greenhouse at the Kansas State University Throckmorton Plant Sciences Center (Manhattan, KS). The difference between the two experiments was the number of western flower thrips adults initially released onto each plant: 20 for experiment 1 and 40 for experiment 2. Each experiment was replicated twice to take into account any effect of season related to temperature, relative humidity, light intensity, and photoperiod (day length). Herein, each repetition of an experiment was designated a trial, with each trial conducted for eight weeks. For experiment 1, trial 1.1 was conducted from June 20 to August 15, 2016 (summer) and trial 1.2 from October 14 to December 9, 2016 (fall). For experiment 2, trial 2.1 was conducted from March 17 to May 12, 2017 (spring) and trial 2.2 from September 22 to November 17, 2017 (fall).

In each trial, 35 chrysanthemum, [*Dendranthema* x *grandiflorum* (Ramat.) Kitam.], plants were purchased from greenhouse producers in containers [9.4 x 8.7 cm (diameter x height)] (Dillen Products Inc; Middlefield, OH). Chrysanthemum was used for the experiments due to availability, length of flowering time (Post 1949), and susceptibility to western flower thrips (De Jager 1995a, De Jager 1995b). The chrysanthemum plants (cultivar: 'Paradiso Yellow') for the first two trials (1.1 and 1.2) were obtained from 5-H Greenhouse (Wamego, KS). For the last two trials (2.1 and 2.2), the plants (cultivars: 'Bloomfield Yellow' and 'Honeybush Yellow,' respectively) were obtained from Neosho Gardens (Council Grove, KS). The flower color of all the chrysanthemum plants was yellow. Each plant was repotted into a 15.2 cm diameter container [15.2 x 14.3 cm (diameter x height)] (Dillen Products Inc; Middlefield, OH) using Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix growing medium. For trials 1.1 and 1.2, initial plant height was 12.8 ± 0.4 cm (mean \pm SEM) and 13.7 ± 0.2 cm, respectively. For trials 2.1 and 2.2, initial plant height was 17.9 ± 0.3 cm and 12.9 ± 0.2 cm, respectively.

Plants were randomized and individually placed into 35 clear plastic observation cages $[45.7 \times 45.7 \times 60.9 \text{ cm} (\text{length x width x height})]$. Each cage had a lid and three holes (12.7 cm

diameter) covered with No-Thrips insect screening: one hole on the lid and two holes on opposite sides of the cage. These openings allowed for ventilation but prevented western flower thrips and rove beetle adults from escaping.

Each plant was checked every two days to confirm whether water was needed. Water was applied directly to the growing medium to avoid getting the foliage wet and dislodging western flower thrips. Old senescing flowers were removed and placed beside the plant inside the cage so that any western flower thrips larvae or adults residing within the flowers could return to the plant. On week four, all plants were fertilized with 200 mL of a 3.7 g/L fertilizer solution [Miracle-Gro 24-3.5-13.2 (N-P-K) Water Soluble All-Purpose Plant Food] (Scotts Miracle-Gro Products, Inc.; Marysville, OH).

Twenty (experiment 1) or 40 (experiment 2) western flower thrips adults [one to four days post-eclosion, mixture of 9:1 (female:male)] (Kivett et al., 2015), were collected from the laboratory colony into a 9 dram plastic vial with a lid using an aspirator, and then released onto the leaves of each of the 35 chrysanthemum plants. Afterward, each 9 dram plastic vial was placed horizontally on the growing medium surface in the event that some western flower thrips adults were still present in the 9 dram plastic vial. All the 9 dram plastic vials were collected the day after releasing western flower thrips adults. Western flower thrips populations were allowed to establish on the plants for two weeks prior to application of the treatments.

To account for potential temperature gradients and light intensity differences within the greenhouse, as well as to accommodate space constraints, each trial was set-up as a randomized block design. Observation cages, each containing an individual plant, were organized in eight location blocks within the greenhouse. Each of six blocks was comprised of five cages, one per

treatment within each block. The other two blocks consisted of three and two cages, respectively, one per each of the treatments. (Figure 1)

In both experiments, treatments consisted of: A) insecticides (described below), B) *B. bassiana*, C) *D. coriaria*, D) *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination, and E) water control. For treatment A, the insecticides and rates used, and application scheme were: spinosad (Conserve[®] SC: Dow AgroSciences; Indianapolis, IN) at 6.0 fl oz/100 gallons (0.44 mL/946 mL) for weeks one (week one: the week when the first treatment application was conducted) and two, pyridalyl (Overture[®] 35 WP: Valent U.S.A. Corp.; Walnut Creek, CA) at 8.0 oz/100 gallons (0.57 g/946 mL) for weeks three and four, chlorfenapyr (Pylon[®]: BASF Corp.; Research Triangle Park, NC) at 5.2 fl oz/100 gallons (0.38 mL/946 mL) for weeks five and six, and abamectin (Avid[®] 0.15 EC: Syngenta Crop Protection, Inc.; Greensboro, NC) at 8.0 fl oz/100 gallons (0.59 mL/946 mL) for weeks seven and eight. The entomopathogenic fungus used in treatments B and D was *B. bassiana* Strain GHA (BotaniGard[®] 22WP: BioWorks Inc.; Victor, NY) applied at 1 lb/100 gallons (1.13 g/946 mL) each week over the eight-week period.

Application rates of the insecticides and *B. bassiana* were all based on label rates for western flower thrips. For treatments C and D, five rove beetle adults (one to three days post-eclosion and starved for 24 hours) were released onto the growing medium surface of each 15.2 cm container when the first treatment application was made, with no additional releases afterward. Product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides and *B. bassiana* are presented in Table 1. The treatment application scheme over the eight-week period is presented in Table 2.

Each treatment solution was applied by removing one plant from a cage, placing on a concrete block, then spraying the plant using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle. Approximately 30

mL of spray solution was applied to each plant, which was a sufficient volume to thoroughly cover all plant parts, including leaves (lower and upper sides) and flowers, with minimal run-off. To avoid any cross contamination, each plant was sprayed individually and returned to the cage before the next plant was removed from its cage for treatment. Latex gloves (Fisher Scientific; Pittsburgh, PA) were worn to avoid exposure to any insecticide or *B. bassiana* residues on the chrysanthemum plants. Due to photosensitivity of *B. bassiana*, the treatment applications were conducted one hour before sunset to minimize exposing *B. bassiana* conidia to sunlight (Braga et al. 2001, Braga et al. 2002, Cory and Hoover 2006). For treatment D in the first application, the *B. bassiana* spray solution was applied to the plants, then five rove beetle adults were released onto the growing medium surface to avoid exposing rove beetle adults to direct sprays of the *B. bassiana* solution. After completing each trial, all the clear plastic observation cages were thoroughly cleaned to avoid any carry-over effects associated with insecticide or *B. bassiana* residues.

A yellow sticky card [7.7 x 10.4 cm (length x width)] (Pestrap Phytotronics, Inc.; Earth City, MO) was held in place vertically by a wooden clothes pin attached to a bamboo stake. The bamboo stake was supported by inserting it into a circular plastic container (250 mL) filled with sand. One circular plastic container was placed into each clear plastic observation cage, next to the plant, with the yellow sticky card positioned 5 cm above the plant canopy (Gillespie and Vernon 1990, Heinz et al. 1992, Brødsgaard 1993) two hours before the first treatment application was conducted. Only the membranous film on one side of a yellow sticky card was removed, and the sticky side was positioned toward the plant. After one week, but before the next treatment was applied, the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the sticky side of the yellow sticky card was recorded. Then, the membranous film on the other side of the

same yellow sticky card was removed and evenly placed on the used side of the yellow sticky card. The new sticky side was positioned toward the plant the following week. Yellow sticky cards were replaced every two weeks during the eight-week period.

The number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was recorded the following week after each treatment application. On the final assessment day, all plants were rated for foliage and flower feeding damage, based on a 1 to 5 rating scale: 1=no visible damage, 2=1% to 25% damage, 3=26% to 50% damage, 4=51% to 75% damage, and 5>75% damage. The damage rating scale was modified from Cloyd and Cycholl (2002) and used to quantify plant damage due to western flower thrips feeding. Since all flowers had senesced, and were removed after completing each trial, final flower quality ratings were not determined.

After completing each trial, the number of rove beetle larvae and adults in the growing medium of each 15.2 cm container associated with treatments C (*D. coriaria*) and D (*B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination) was recorded. In trial 1.1 (summer 2016), the aboveground plant parts (leaves and stems) in treatments C and D were excised at the growing medium level. A yellow sticky card was affixed onto the inside center of the No-Thrips insect screening. Then each 15.2 cm container was covered by the No-Thrips insect screening with a yellow sticky card inside to capture rove beetle adults. Furthermore, to capture rove beetle adults emerging from the drainage holes located in the bottom of the 15.2 cm containers, each 15.2 cm container was placed on one yellow sticky card, with the sticky surface facing upward. No rove beetle larvae or adults were recovered from trial 1.1 using the above method. Therefore, the numbers of rove beetle larvae and adults in the next three trials were determined using a different method (described below).

To confirm rove beetle adult survival during the experiment, the growing medium of each 15.2 cm container in treatments C and D involving rove beetle adults was used to determine the number of rove beetle adults recovered at the end of experiments. The growing medium from each 15.2 cm container in treatments C and D was placed into a 9.4 L plastic rectangular container [40.2 x 26.4 x 12.8 cm (length x width x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH). About 0.8 L of water was added to each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container to saturate the growing medium, causing rove beetles to emerge from the growing medium (Yinping Li; personal observation). Then, approximately 15 g of oats were placed on the growing medium surface as a food source for rove beetle larvae and adults. Each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container had a rectangular section (22 x 11 cm: length x width) cut in the lid, which was covered with different No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size: $0.2 \times 0.8 \text{ mm}$) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). The numbers of rove beetle larvae and adults in each 9.4 L plastic rectangular container were recorded 24 hours after the growing medium was saturated.

Environmental data, including: temperature, relative humidity, and light intensity, were recorded using HOBO[®] Data Loggers (Onset Computer Corporation; Bourne, MA). Eight data loggers were used in each trial. Each of two wire-screen benches was evenly divided into two sections widthwise with two data loggers per section. In each section, one data logger was positioned on the center half of the wire-screen bench, and the other data logger was placed inside the cage located in the central half of the wire-screen bench (Figure 1). A summary of the environmental conditions for each trial is presented in Table 3.

d. Cost comparisons

The cost of the eight-week treatment applications associated with the products and application rates was determined. The costs of the insecticides and BotaniGard[®] 22WP were

based on the 2016-2017 Hummert International Commercial Catalog (Hummert International; Earth City, MO) (Kivett et al. 2015). The labeled application rates of the insecticides and BotaniGard[®] 22WP for western flower thrips were utilized to calculate the cost of each associated treatment application per week based on 100 gallons of spray solution. The cost of *D. coriaria*, which were obtained from our colonies, would cost \$0.75 per application for five adults (https://greenmethods.com/product/atheta-coriaria-rove-beetle-adults/; assessed on November 15, 2017). However, greenhouse producers, in general, can only purchase quantities of 500 or more from commercial suppliers with the cost of 500 rove beetles being \$78.63 (excluding shipping and handling costs) (2018 Biobest Catalog: Biobest Canada Ltd.; Leamington, ON, Canada). Therefore, we used the cost per 500 to determine the total cost over eight weeks.

Data Analysis

For experiment 1, data from trials 1.1 (summer 2016) and 1.2 (fall 2016) were analyzed separately due to convergence problems. In both trials, the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was analyzed using a generalized linear mixed model that assumed a negative binomial distribution of the response with a log link function. The linear predictor in the model included the fixed effects of treatment, week, and the two-way interaction. Random effects in the linear predictor included location block and the cross product of location block and treatment to recognize plant as the experimental unit for treatment. For the model fitted to data from trial 1.2, the variance component for the random effect of location block converged to zero and thus this random effect was removed from the model. Analysis of Variance skeleton regarding the response variable of the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for trial 1.1 (summer 2016) and trial 1.2 (fall 2016) was the same and is presented in Table 4.

For experiment 2, data on the number of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards for trials 2.1 (spring 2017) and 2.2 (fall 2017) was analyzed jointly using a generalized linear mixed model with a poisson distribution. The linear predictor in the model included the fixed effects of season, treatment, week, as well as all two- and three-way interactions. Random effects associated with the linear predictor included location block nested within each season, its cross product with treatment (to properly identify the experimental unit of treatment) and the cross product of block, treatment and week (to account for over-dispersion at the level of observation). Analysis of Variance skeleton regarding the response variable of the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for experiment 2 is presented in Table 5.

For each experiment, final foliage quality ratings were analyzed using a generalized linear mixed model that recognized the multinomial distribution of the response fitted with a cumulative logit link function. The linear predictor of the statistical model included the fixed effects of season, treatment, and the two-way interaction. The random effect in the linear predictor included location block nested in each season. Analysis of Variance skeleton reagarding the response variable of the final foliage quality ratings for experiments 1 and 2 was the same and is presented in Table 6.

In both experiments, over-dispersion was evaluated using the maximum-likelihood based fit statistic Pearson Chi-Square/DF and there was no evidence that over-dispersion was apparent in the models used for final inference. All statistical models used for inferences were fitted using the GLIMMIX procedure (SAS Institute 2012). Pairwise comparisons were conducted using Bonferroni adjustment to avoid inflation of type I error due to multiple comparisons.

Results

Experiment 1. The environmental conditions during trials 1.1 (summer) and 1.2 (fall) in 2016 are presented in Table 3. In trial 1.1, there was a significant interaction between treatment and week (F=2.34; df=28, 210; P=0.0004). The estimated mean number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for treatment A was significantly lower than those of treatments B and D at weeks five and six, as well as that of treatments D and E at week seven. However, after eight-weeks, there were no significant differences among the treatments (Table 7). In trial 1.2, there was no evidence of a significant interaction between treatment and week (F=1.43; df=28, 210; P=0.083), nor was there any main effect of treatment (F=2.56; df=4, 30; P=0.059). However, a main effect of week was significant (F=4.33; df=7, 210; P=0.0002) (Table 8).

For the final foliage quality ratings in experiment 1, there was no significant interaction between season and treatment (F=1.09; df=4, 33; P=0.38), nor any evidence of season differences (F=0.00; df=1, 14; P=0.97) or treatment effects (F=0.68; df=4, 33; P=0.61). Overall, the final foliage quality rating for 92% (n=70) of the plants in experiment 1 was 1 (=no visible damage) or 2 (=1% to 25% damage).

Experiment 2. The environmental conditions associated with trials 2.1 (spring) and 2.2 (fall) in 2017 for experiment 2 are presented in Table 3. There was no evidence of significant interactions among season, treatment, and week (F=1.18; df=28, 420; P=0.24); between treatment and week (F=1.30; df=28, 420; P=0.14); or between season and treatment (F=1.98; df=4, 46; P=0.11). A significant season x week interaction (F=29.83; df=7, 420; P<0.0001) was

identified, along with a main effect of treatment (F=4.45; df=4, 46; P=0.004). Therefore, the treatment effects over the eight-week period were evaluated within each season.

In trial 2.1 (spring 2017), the estimated mean number of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards at week two was significantly lower in treatment D than that of treatments B and C. There were significantly fewer western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for treatment A than treatments B and E at week four; than treatments B, C, and E at week five; than treatments B and C at week six; as well as than treatments B, C, D, and E at week eight (Table 9). In trial 2.2 (fall 2017), the estimated mean number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly lower for treatment A compared to: treatment D at week four; treatments B and D at week five; treatments B, C, D, and E at week six; and treatment D at weeks seven and eight (Table 10).

For the final foliage quality ratings in experiment 2, there was no significant treatment x season interaction (F=0.06; df=3, 43; P=0.98). The final foliage quality ratings were significantly different among the five treatments (F=3.60; df=4, 43; P=0.013), but not between the two seasons (F=0.00; df=1, 14; P=0.95). However, the final foliage quality ratings were significantly different only between treatments D and E. Overall, the final foliage quality rating for 69% (n=70) of the plants was 5 (>75% damage).

Rove beetle recovery. Descriptive statistics for the number of rove beetle larvae and adults recovered from the growing medium in each 15.2 cm container for treatments C (*D. coriaria*) and D (*B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination) after completing each trial are presented in Table 11. Rove beetle larvae and adults were recovered from the growing medium for treatments C and D in trials 1.2, 2.1, and 2.2. The mean number of rove beetle adults recovered from the growing medium in treatments C (n=24) and D (n=23) in trial 1.2 was almost

five-fold the number of rove beetle adults initially released (n=5), which confirms that rove beetle adults released not only survived, but also reproduced and established populations during the experimental period (Table 11).

Cost comparisons. The total application cost for each eight-week treatment is presented in Table 12. The insecticide treatment would cost greenhouse producers about \$963.50 to spray 100 gallons of insecticide solution once a week for eight weeks. In contrast, using *B. bassiana* (BotaniGard[®]) in conjunction with *D. coriaria* adults would save about \$468 compared to the insecticide treatment (\$495.67 vs. \$936.50, respectively). There was a \$78.63 cost difference between the individual *B. bassiana* treatment, and *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination (\$417.04 vs. \$495.67, respectively). The cost of the *D. coriaria* only treatment would be \$78.63 (excluding shipping and handling) (Table 12).

Discussion

This is the first study to evaluate the efficacy of integrating foliar applications of an entomopathogenic fungus with a soil-dwelling arthropod natural enemy to suppress western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions. Combined applications of arthropod natural enemies with entomopathogenic fungi are considered an alternative plant protection strategy to deal with western flower thrips populations in greenhouse production systems (Mouden et al. 2017). In the current study, the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination, and *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* individual treatments provided a level of suppression that was not significantly different from that of the insecticide treatments.

Drench applications of *B. bassiana* did not negatively affect *D. coriaria* development (Echegaray and Cloyd 2012). Thus, any antagonistic effects (mortality less than the sum of

mortality that the individual provides) when using the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination were not expected. Results from the current study indicated that rove beetle adults not only survived, but also reproduced during the experimental period. However, there was lack of any additive (mortality equal to the sum of mortality that the individual provides) or synergistic (mortality greater than the sum of mortality that the individual provides) effects when combining B. bassiana and D. coriaria, which did not support the second hypothesis. This could be due to resource competition between *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria*. Resource competition occurs when two biological control agents compete for a shared host/prey (Janssen et al. 1998). Foliar applications of *B. bassiana* target western flower thrips larvae and adults residing within the plant canopy (Ugine et al. 2007, Wu et al. 2016). Therefore, fewer second instar larvae would migrate from plants down to the growing medium to pupate. Consequently, available prey for the soil-dwelling rove beetle, *D. coriaria*, would be reduced. In contrast, predation of rove beetles on the western flower thrips soil-inhabiting life stages (prepupae and pupae) would reduce the number of newly eclosed western flower thrips adults, and larvae that would be produced by the newly eclosed female adults for *B. bassiana* infection.

Temperature, relative humidity, and light intensity are important environmental factors that can influence growth and development of western flower thrips, as well as infectivity of entomopathogenic fungi (Gaum et al. 1994, Butt and Brownbridge 1997). In the current study, temperature, relative humidity, and light intensity inside and outside the cages in each trial were monitored and recorded (Table 3). The mean temperature inside the cages in each trial was higher (0.2 to 0.8°C) than outside the cages. The optimal temperature for western flower thrips development and reproduction is 25 to 30°C, and the temperature for entomopathogenic fungal infection ranges from 15 to 30°C (Gaum et al. 1994, Inglis et al. 2001). Therefore, the relative

higher temperatures (22 to 29°C) inside the cages were conducive for the growth and development of western flower thrips populations, as well as infection by *B. bassiana*. Furthermore, relative humidity can affect the ability of entomopathogenic fungi to infect hosts (Ferron 1977, Fargues et al. 1997, Mukawa et al. 2011). The mean relative humidity inside the cages for each trial was higher (2.2 to 8.3%) than outside the cages. The higher relative humidity inside the cages favored host infection by *B. bassiana*. Ultraviolet light can negatively affect entomopathogenic fungi (Inglis et al. 2001). In this study, the mean light intensity inside the cages for each trial was lower (7 to 16 μ mol/m²/s of PAR) than outside the cages, which likely enhanced the survival of *B. bassiana* conidia.

The use of colored sticky cards has limitations and may not provide a sufficient means of assessing the efficacy of treatments since the colored sticky cards only capture western flower thrips adults; not eggs, larvae or pupae (Kivett et al. 2015). Furthermore, western flower thrips adults may be more attracted to flowers (depending on colors) than colored sticky cards because they prefer to aggregate in flowers (Blumthal et al. 2005, Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009). As such, the colored sticky cards may only capture a certain number of western flower thrips adults, which may not represent the actual number present. Nonetheless, colored sticky cards are the most cost effective and least time-consuming method in determining trends in western flower thrips adult populations (Heinz et al. 1992).

The final foliage quality ratings were essential in assessing the effectiveness of the five treatments in the study because this is associated with marketability and salability of the crop. The final foliage quality ratings were not significantly different among the five treatments in experiment 1. Even plants treated with the water control had a final foliage quality rating of 1 (=no visible damage) or 2 (=1% to 25% damage), which would be considered marketable by

greenhouse producers (Cloyd and Cycholl 2002). Results from experiment 1 indicated that the western flower thrips population was low enough so that even the water control provided sufficient suppression. In fact, studies have found that overhead irrigation and water sprays may provide a certain level of pest suppression (Chandler et al. 1979, Brunner and Burts 1981, McHugh and Foster 1995, Opit et al. 2006, Kivett et al. 2015). However, in experiment 2, although the final foliage quality ratings among all the treatments were significantly different, 69% of the plants were not marketable due to substantial feeding damage by western flower thrips. Therefore, water sprays are more effective when western flower thrips adult populations are low.

The number of western flower thrips adults initially released onto each plant was increased from 20 in experiment 1 to 40 in experiment 2. The different numbers of western flower thrips initially released onto each plant between experiments 1 and 2 may be responsible for the differences observed in the final foliage quality ratings of most plants. Therefore, experiment 1 demonstrated that the key to managing western flower thrips populations, when using either insecticides or biological control agents, in greenhouse production systems is to make applications or releases early before extensive western flower thrips populations become established.

The foliage quality ratings were evaluated weekly although only the final foliage quality ratings were analyzed in the current study. Differences in weekly foliage quality ratings of plants among the five treatments were observed before most flowers senesced and were removed in experiment 2. Western flower thrips larvae and adults prefer to reside inside flowers, and flower pollen has been shown to enhance the development and reproduction of western flower thrips (Trichilo and Leigh 1988, Higgins 1992). For experiment 2, 63 to 100% (n=35) of the plants

were flowering on week two after initiation of each trial. Most western flower thrips larvae and adults were present inside the flowers (Yinping Li; personal observation). All senescing flowers were removed before each trial was completed. Consequently, western flower thrips larvae and adults emerged from the senesced flowers and fed on plant leaves, resulting in substantial foliage damage in less than one week for most of the plants associated with the five treatments (Yinping Li; personal observation). As such, the effect of the five treatments on western flower thrips could not be determined. Therefore, future experiments should be conducted on younger plants so that the eight-week program is completed before flowers have senesced and western flower thrips populations are extensive.

Overall, the estimated mean number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly lower in the insecticide treatment than the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination. However, the final foliage quality ratings were not significantly different between the insecticides and the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination, which supported the first hypothesis. Moreover, using the *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination could reduce selection pressure affiliated with insecticide applications, consequently delaying the development of insecticide resistance in western flower thrips populations, and preserving the effectiveness of existing insecticides. The *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* combination, and *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria* individual treatments resulted in a substantial cost savings compared to the insecticides, which supported the third hypothesis. Therefore, the differential results obtained from both experiments indicate that greenhouse producers consider using *B. bassiana* and *D. coriaria*, early in the production cycle, which will help to effectively deal with the foliar-feeding and soil-dwelling life stages of the western flower thrips simultaneously.

Figure and Tables



Figure 5-1 Greenhouse layout for the four trials (summer and fall 2016, and spring and fall 2017) associated with experiments 1 and 2.

Notes:

"N, S, E, W" represent direction of greenhouse: North, South, East, and West.

: clear plastic observation cage.

1, 2, 3, 4, 5: treatment per plant.

: fan on the north wall.

: greenhouse door on the south side.

🗮 : Hobo data loggers.
Table 5-1 Product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* used in experiments 1 and 2.

Common names	Trade names	Manufacturers	Label rates (per 100 gallons)	Application rates (per 946 mL)
spinosad	Conserve [®] SC	Dow AgroSciences; Indianapolis, IN	6.0 fl oz	0.44 mL
pyridalyl	Overture [®] 35 WP	Valent U.S.A. Corp.; Walnut Greek, CA	8.0 oz	0.57 g
chlorfenapyr	Pylon®	BASF Corp.; Research Triangle Park, NC	5.2 fl oz	0.38 mL
abamectin	Avid [®] 0.15 EC	Syngenta Crop Protection; Greensboro, NC	8.0 fl oz	0.59 mL
Beauveria bassiana	BotaniGard [®] 22 WP	BioWorks Inc.; Victor, NY	1.0 lb	1.13 g

Table 5-2 Treatment application scheme over an eight-week period to suppress western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, populations under greenhouse conditions for each trial [1.1 (summer 2016), 1.2 (fall 2016), 2.1 (spring 2017), and 2.2 (fall 2017)] associated with experiments 1 and 2.

Tucctmontel				
I reatments"	1 and 2	3 and 4	5 and 6	7 and 8
А	spinosad	pyridalyl	chlorfenapyr	abamectin
В	Beauveria bassiana	B. bassiana	B. bassiana	B. bassiana
С	Dalotia coriaria			
D	B. bassiana + D. coriaria	B. bassiana	B. bassiana	B. bassiana
Ε	water	water	water	water

^a For product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* refer to Table 1. For treatments involving *Dalotia coriaria*, five *D. coriaria* adults were released on week one, with no additional releases afterward.

Table 5-3 Mean (\pm SEM) environmental parameters including: light intensity (μ mol/m²/s of PAR for 400-700 nm); high, low, and mean temperature (°C); and relative humidity inside and outside cages in the greenhouse for four trials [trial 1.1 (summer) and trial 1.2 (fall) in 2016; trial 2.1 (spring) and trial 2.2 (fall) in 2017)] associated with experiments 1 and 2.

Experiments Trial	Light intensity ^a	r	Fempera	Relative Humidity	
Experiment: Triai	µmol/m²/s of PAR	High	Low	Mean	(%)
Experiment 1					
Trial 1.1: summer 2016	224 (± 5.6)	36.2	20.7	27.8 (± 0.1)	70.8 (± 0.2)
Trial 1.2: fall 2016	135 (± 4.0)	29.1	18.6	21.0 (± 0.1)	47.2 (± 0.4)
Experiment 2					
Trial 2.1: spring 2017	188 (± 5.9)	32.8	15.2	21.6 (± 0.1)	50.9 (± 0.4)
Trial 2.2: fall 2017	177 (± 6.0)	40.5	8.7	23.6 (± 0.1)	45.6 (± 0.5)

Outside cages

Inside cages

Farrania anda Taial	Light intensity	,	Tempera	Relative Humidity	
Experiment: Triai	µmol/m²/s of PAR	High	Low	Mean	(%)
Experiment 1					
Trial 1.1: summer 2016	217 (± 5.5)	39.1	20.4	28.6 (± 0.1)	73.0 (± 0.2)
Trial 1.2: fall 2016	119 (± 3.6)	31.1	18.1	21.2 (± 0.1)	55.5 (± 0.3)
Experiment 2					
Trial 2.1: spring 2017	179 (± 5.7)	38.6	16.6	22.3 (± 0.1)	54.5 (± 0.4)
Trial 2.2: fall 2017	163 (± 5.7)	41.1	8.7	24.0 (± 0.1)	52.4 (± 0.5)

^a To exclude periods of darkness from the light intensity averages, only readings >15 lumens/ft² were included. To convert these units to μ mol/m²/s of PAR (Photosynthetically Active Radiation) for 400-700 nm, light intensity measured in lumens/ft² was multiplied by 0.20 (Thimijan and Heins 1983).

Table 5-4 Analysis of Variance skeleton regarding the response variable of the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for trials 1.1 (summer 2016) and 1.2 (fall 2016) of experiment 1.

Topographica	l effects ^a	Treatment effe	ects	Combined effects	
Source	df	Source	df	Source	df
Block	7			Block	7
		Treatment	4	Treatment	4
Cage (block)	27			Block*Treatment	23
		Week	7	Week	7
		Treatment*Week	28	Treatment*Week	28
Observation	245			Block*Treatment*Week	210
Total	279			Total	279

^aTopographical effects include the factors associated with the experiment design, such as the blocking factor.

Table 5-5 Analysis of Variance skeleton regarding the response variable of the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for experiment 2 (spring and fall 2017).

Topographical e	ffects ^a	Treatment effects		Combined effects	
Source	df	Source	df	Source	df
		Season	1	Season	1
Block	15			Block (Season)	14
		Treatment	4	Treatment	4
		Season*Treatment	4	Season*Treatment	4
Cage (block)	54			Cage	46
		Week	7	Week	7
		Treatment*Week	28	Treatment*Week	28
		Season*Week	7	Season*Week	7
		Season*Treatment*Week	28	Season*Treatment* Week	28
Observation	490			Block (Season)*Treatment*Week	420
Total	559			Total	559

^aTopographical effects include the factors associated with the experiment design, such as the blocking factor.

Table 5-6 Analysis of Variance skeleton reagarding the response variable of the final foliage quality ratings for experiments 1 (summer and fall 2016) and 2 (spring and fall 2017).

Topographical e	ffects ^a	Treatment effe	cts	Combined effects		
Source df		Source d		Source	df	
		Season	1	Season	1	
Block	15			Block (Season)	14	
		Treatment	4	Treatment	4	
		Season*Treatment	4	Season*Treatment	4	
Cage (block)	54			Treatment*Block(Season)	46	
Total	69			Total	69	

^aTopographical effects include the factors associated with the experiment design, such as the blocking factor.

Table 5-7 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eight-week period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 1.1 (summer 2016) of experiment 1.

	Weeks								
Trt	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Α	23.0 (11.0-48.4) a	12.6 (6.0-26.5) a	19.7 (9.2-41.9) a	3.6 (1.6-8.2) a	0.4 (0.1-1.6) a	0.9 (0.3-2.5) a	0.9 (0.3-2.5) a	0.7 (0.2-2.0) a	
В	13.2 (6.2-28.2) a	10.2 (4.8-21.6) a	11.5 (5.5-24.0) a	4.1 (1.9-9.1) a	3.4 (1.5-7.8) b	5.1 (2.3-11.1) b	4.7 (2.1-10.3) ab	3.6 (1.6-8.1) a	
С	44.4 (21.5-91.7) a	14.6 (7.0-30.4) a	20.9 (10.1-43.3) a	14.1 (6.6-29.8) a	2.6 (1.1-6.1) ab	2.3 (1.0-5.6) ab	4.3 (1.9-9.6) ab	2.3 (1.0-5.5) a	
D	20.7 (9.7-44.0) a	8.3 (3.9-17.6) a	21.1 (10.2-43.7) a	14.4 (6.8-30.2) a	7.4 (3.4-15.9) b	8.4 (3.9-18.1) b	9.9 (4.7-21.0) b	5.1 (2.3-11.4) a	
Е	17.3 (8.2-36.3) a	9.2 (4.3-19.6) a	10.4 (4.9-21.8) a	3.9 (1.8-8.7) a	1.7 (0.7-4.3) ab	3.8 (1.7-8.5) ab	6.6 (3.0-14.4) b	2.6 (1.1-6.1) a	

Notes: For treatments (A, B, C, D, and E) and treatment application scheme refer to Table 2. For product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* refer to Table 1. For treatments involving *Dalotia coriaria*, five *D. coriaria* adults were released in the first treatment application, with no additional releases afterward. Estimated means followed by different letters within each week indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among the five treatments.

Table 5-8 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eight-week period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 1.2 (fall 2016) of experiment 1.

_				W	eeks			
Trt	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Α	1.0 (0.4-2.4)	0.7 (0.2-1.9)	0.3 (0.1-1.2)	0.7 (0.2-2.0)	1.1 (0.4-2.6)	1.0 (0.4-2.5)	0.6 (0.2-1.7)	0.0 (0, 0)
B	0.8 (0.3-2.2)	1.6 (0.7-3.6)	3.8 (1.9-7.5)	2.8 (1.4-5.7)	5.3 (2.8-10.1)	0.8 (0.3-2.1)	1.6 (0.7-3.6)	0.5 (0.2-1.6)
С	1.6 (0.7-3.5)	1.4 (0.6-3.1)	2.4 (1.2-5.0)	6.6 (3.5-12.1)	2.2 (1.1-4.6)	5.5 (2.9-10.4)	2.7 (1.3-5.4)	1.1 (0.5-2.7)
D	0.4 (0.1-1.4)	1.1 (0.4-2.7)	1.4 (0.6-3.2)	3.8 (1.9-7.4)	1.2 (0.5-2.8)	3.0 (1.5-6.0)	1.6 (0.7-3.5)	1.1 (0.4-2.6)
Е	0.5 (0.2-1.7)	1.2 (0.5-2.8)	1.0 (0.4-2.5)	2.9 (1.4-5.8)	2.6 (1.2-5.2)	1.6 (0.7-3.6)	1.1 (0.4-2.6)	0.7 (0.2-2.0)

Notes: For treatments (A, B, C, D, and E) and treatment application scheme refer to Table 2. For product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* refer to Table 1. For treatments involving *Dalotia coriaria*, five *D. coriaria* adults were released in the first treatment application, with no additional releases afterward.

Table 5-9 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eight-week period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 2.1 (spring 2017) of experiment 2.

	Weeks								
Trt	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
А	0.4 (0.1-1.4) a	0.0 (0-0) ab	1.6 (0.8-3.5) a	1.8 (0.9-3.8) a	1.9 (0.9-4.0) a	1.9 (0.9-4.0) a	2.8 (1.5-5.6) a	0.9 (0.4-2.3) a	
В	0.8 (0.3-2.1) a	6.5 (3.6-11.8) b	3.1 (1.6-6.1) a	8.2 (4.6-14.7) b	8.4 (4.7-15.1) b	10.4 (5.9-18.4) b	4.4 (2.3-8.2) a	4.4 (2.3-8.3) b	
С	1.0 (0.4-2.4) a	4.6 (2.5-8.6) b	3.8 (2.0-7.1) a	7.0 (3.9-12.6) ab	8.3 (4.6-14.8) b	8.4 (4.7-15.0) b	8.9 (5.0-15.8) a	9.1 (5.1-16.3) b	
D	0.3 (0.1-1.2) a	0.7 (0.3-1.8) a	1.5 (0.7-3.3) a	4.2 (2.2-7.9) ab	5.3 (2.8-9.8) ab	4.3 (2.3-8.1) ab	6.0 (3.3-10.9) a	7.0 (3.8-12.7) b	
Е	0.4 (0.1-1.4) a	3.0 (1.5-5.8) ab	3.1 (1.6-6.0) a	7.2 (4.0-13.0) b	9.6 (5.4-17.1) b	6.8 (3.8-12.4) ab	6.7 (3.7-12.1) a	5.4 (2.9-10.1) b	

Notes: For treatments (A, B, C, D, and E) and treatment application scheme refer to Table 2. For product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* refer to Table 1. For treatments involving *Dalotia coriaria*, five *D. coriaria* adults were released in the first treatment application, with no additional releases afterward. Estimated means followed by different letters within each week indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among the five treatments.

Table 5-10 Estimated mean number (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards each week over an eight-week period for treatments (Trt) A through E in trial 2.2 (fall 2017) of experiment 2.

					Weeks			
Trt	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
A	3.4 (1.8-6.5) a	2.6 (1.3-5.1) a	2.4 (1.2-4.8) a	2.6 (1.3-5.2) a	7.9 (4.4-14.3) a	9.2 (5.1-16.4) a	46.6 (27.4-79.2) a	37 (21.7-63.1) a
В	2.4 (1.2-4.9) a	3.3 (1.7-6.4) a	4.5 (2.4-8.3) a	6.2 (3.4-11.3) ab	27.2 (15.8-46.8) b	51.3 (30.2-87.2) b	128.5 (76.2-216.6) b	112.8 (66.8-190.3) b
С	7.3 (4.0-13.1) a	7.6 (4.2-13.7) a	4.0 (2.1-7.6) a	8.8 (4.9-15.8) ab	21.6 (12.5-37.3) ab	31.6 (18.5-54.1) b	87.7 (51.9-148.3) ab	89.7 (53.1-151.7) ab
D	4.4 (2.3-8.2) a	5.2 (2.8-9.7) a	3.4 (1.8-6.6) a	10.3 (5.8-18.3) b	26.5 (15.4-45.6) b	41.7 (24.5-71.0) b	99.2 (58.5-167.4) ab	105.1 (62.3-177.4) ab
Е	6.2 (3.4-11.3) a	7 (3.8-12.8) a	4.9 (2.6-9.1) a	9.2 (5.1-16.6) ab	25.2 (14.7-43.3) ab	45 (26.5-76.5) b	81 (47.9-137.0) ab	104.2 (61.8-175.8) ab

Notes: For treatments (A, B, C, D, and E) and treatment application scheme refer to Table 2. For product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* refer to Table 1. For treatments involving *Dalotia coriaria*, five *D. coriaria* adults were released in the first treatment application, with no additional releases afterward. Estimated means followed by different letters within each week indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among the five treatments.

Table 5-11 Mean (± SEM) number of rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, larvae and adults recovered from growing medium in each 15.2 cm container for treatments C (five rove beetle adults released on week one) and D [five rove beetle adults released on week one and *Beauveria bassiana* (BotaniGard®) applied each week for eight weeks] following completion of four trials [trial 1.1 (summer) and 1.2 (fall) in 2016; trial 2.1 (spring) and trial 2.2 (fall) in 2017] associated with experiments 1 and 2.

Experiments Twist	Treat	ment C	Treatment D		
Experiment: 1 mai	Larvae	Adults	Larvae	Adults	
Experiment 1					
Trial 1.1: summer 2016	$0.0 \ (\pm \ 0.0)$	$0.0 (\pm 0.0)$	$0.0 \ (\pm \ 0.0)$	$0.0 \ (\pm 0.0)$	
Trial 1.2: fall 2016	0.9 (± 0.3)	24.0 (± 10.5)	2.3 (± 1.1)	22.6 (± 6.9)	
Experiment 2					
Trial 2.1: spring 2017	0.1 (± 0.1)	4.0 (± 1.3)	$0.0 \ (\pm \ 0.0)$	2.1 (± 0.9)	
Trial 2.2: fall 2017	$0.0 \ (\pm \ 0.0)$	2.6 (± 1.3)	4.1 (± 3.8)	3.9 (± 1.5)	

Treatments ^a	Weeks				
	1 and 2	3 and 4	5 and 6	7 and 8	Total cost
А	spinosad	pyridalyl	chlorfenapyr	abamectin	
	(\$90.00) ^b	(\$164.00)	(\$539.50)	(\$170.00)	\$963.50
В	Beauveria bassiana	B. bassiana	B. bassiana	B. bassiana	
	(\$104.26)	(\$104.26)	(\$104.26)	(\$104.26)	\$417.04
С	Dalotia coriaria				
	(\$78.63/500)	(\$0)	(\$0)	(\$0)	\$78.63
D	B. bassiana + D. coriaria	B. bassiana	B. bassiana	B. bassiana	
	(\$182.89)	(\$104.26)	(\$104.26)	(\$104.26)	\$495.67
Е	water	water	water	water	
	(\$0)	(\$0)	(\$0)	(\$0)	\$0

Table 5-12 Total cost of the five treatments over the eight-week period associated with experiments 1 and 2.

^aFor treatments (A, B, C, D, and E) and treatment application scheme refer to Table 2. For product information (common name, trade name, and manufacturer), label rates, and application rates associated with the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* refer to Table 1. For treatments involving *Dalotia coriaria*, five *D. coriaria* adults were released in the first treatment application, with no additional releases afterward. The costs of the treatments including solution applications were based on 100 gallons of spray solutions per week at the label rates for western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*.

^bThe product costs of the insecticides (spinosad, pyridalyl, chlorfenapyr, and abamectin) and *Beauveria bassiana* were based on the 2016-2017 Hummert International Commercial Catalog (Hummert International; Earth City, MO). The cost of the treatments involving *D. coriaria* adults was based on the cost of 500 rove beetle adults at \$78.63 (2018 Biobest Catalog: Biobest Canada Ltd.; Learnington, ON, Canada).

Chapter 6 - Summary

Three studies were involved in this research to determine: 1) effect of different numbers of predator and prey on predation of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), pupal stages by rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria* (Kraatz) (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), adults; 2) effect of western flower thrips pupal stage, searchable area, predator-prey ratio, and predator-prey number on predation efficacy of rove beetle adults; and 3) effectiveness of integrating the entomopathogenic fungus, *Beauveria bassiana*, and the rove beetle, *D. coriaria* in suppressing western flower thrips populations under greenhouse conditions.

Results from the first study showed that predation of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips pupal stages was influenced by different numbers of rove beetle adults released, and that there was no evidence of any differences due to predator-prey ratios or initial prey numbers within each predator-prey ratio. In the second study, predation efficacy of rove beetle adults on western flower thrips pupal stages was influenced by searchable area, predator-prey ratio, and predator-prey number. Thus, these factors should be considered when using *D. coriaria* adults against western flower thrips pupal stages. Results from the third study demonstrated that greenhouse producers must initiate insecticide applications or release rove beetle adults early in the production cycle when western flower thrips populations are low to minimize plant damage.

References

- Akbar, W., J. C. Lord, J. R. Nechols, and T. M. Loughin. 2005. Efficacy of *Beauveria bassiana* for red flour beetle when applied with plant essential oils or in mineral oil and organosilicone carriers. J. Econ. Entomol. 98: 683-688.
- Alatawi, F. J. 2006. Development of biological control of twospotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Acari: Tetranychidae) on greenhouse impatiens, *Impatiens wallerana* Hook.f. cv 'Impulse Orange', using the predatory mite, *Phytoseiulus persimilis* Athias-Henriot (Acari: Phytoseiidae). Ph.D. dissertation, Kansas State University, Manhattan.
- Allen, W. R., and A. B. Broadbent. 1986. Transmission of tomato spotted wilt virus in Ontario greenhouses by *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Can. J. Plant Pathol. 8: 33-38.
- Amoah, B., J. Anderson, D. Erram, J. Gomez, A. Harris, J. Kivett, K. Ruang-Rit, Y. Wang, L. Murray, and J. Nechols. 2016. Plant spatial distribution and predator-prey ratio affect biological control of the twospotted spider mite *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) by the predatory mite *Phytoseiulus persimilis* (Acari: Phytoseiidae). Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 26: 548-561.
- Ansari, M. A., M. Brownbridge, F. A. Shah, and T. M. Butt. 2008. Efficacy of entomopathogenic fungi against soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, in plant-growing media. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 127: 80-87.
- Bennison, J., B. Broadbent, W. Kirk, K. Maulden, and L. Shipp. 2004. Western flower thrips pupation behavior on greenhouse chrysanthemums and implications for integrated control.
 Abstract Proceedings; International Congress of Entomology, Brisbane, Australia.

- Bielza, P., V. Quinto, J. Contreras, M. Torné, A. Martin, and P. J. Espinosa. 2007. Resistance to spinosad in the western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande), in greenhouses of south-eastern Spain. Pest Manag. Sci. 63: 682-687.
- Blumthal, M. R., R. A. Cloyd, L. A. Spomer, and D. F. Warnock. 2005. Flower color preferences of western flower thrips. HortTechnology 15: 846-853.
- Braga, G. U. L., D. E. N. Rangel, S. D. Flint, C. D. Miller, A. J. Anderson, and D. W. Roberts.
 2002. Damage and recovery from UV-B exposure in conidia of the entomopathogens *Verticillium lecanii* and *Aphanocladium album*. Mycologia 94: 912-920.
- Braga, G. U. L., S. D. Flint, C. D. Miller, A. J. Anderson, and D. W. Roberts. 2001. Both solar UVA and UVB radiation impair conidial culturability and delay germination in the entomopathogenic fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae*. Photochem. Photobiol. 74: 734-739.
- Broadbent, A. B., M. Rhainds, L. Shipp, G. Murphy, and L. Wainman. 2003. Pupation behaviour of western flower thrips on potted chrysanthemum. Can. Entomol. 135: 741-744.
- Brødsgaard, H. F. 1993. Monitoring thrips in glasshouse pot plant crops by means of blue sticky traps. International Organisation for Biological and Integrated Control-West Palaearctic Regional Section Bull. 8: 29-32.
- Brødsgaard, H. F. 1994. Insecticide resistance in European and African strains of western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) tested in a new residue-on-glass test. J. Econ. Entomol. 87: 1141-1146.

- Brunner, J. F., and C. Burts. 1981. Potential of tree washes as a management tactic against the pear psylla. J. Econ. Entomol. 74: 71-74.
- Buitenhuis, R., and J. L. Shipp. 2008. Influence of plant species and plant growth stage on *Frankliniella occidentalis* pupation behaviour in greenhouse ornamentals. J. Appl. Entomol. 132: 86-88.
- Butt, T. M., and M. Brownbridge. 1997. Chapter 10: Fungal pathogens and thrips, pp. 399-433.In T. Lewis (ed.), Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, Wallingford, Oxon, United Kingdom.
- Carney, V. A., J. C. Diamond, G. D. Murphy, and D. Marshall. 2002. The potential of *Atheta coriaria* Kraatz (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), as a biological control agent for use in greenhouse crops. International Organisation for Biological and Integrated Control-West Palaearctic Regional Section Bull. 25: 37-40.
- Castrillo, L. A., T. A. Ugine, M. J. Filotas, J. P. Sanderson, J. D. Vandenberg, and S. P. Wraight.
 2008. Molecular characterization and comparative virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* isolates (Ascomycota: Hypocreales) associated with the greenhouse shore fly, *Scatella tenuicosta* (Diptera: Ephydridae). Biol. Control 45: 154-162.
- Chandler, L. D., T. L. Archer, C. R. Ward, and W. M. Lyle. 1979. Influences of irrigation practices on spider mite densities on field corn. Environ. Entomol. 8: 196-201.

- Cheng, L. L., J. R. Nechols, D. C. Margolies, J. F. Campbell, P. S. Yang, C. C. Chen, and C. T. Lu. 2012. Efficacy of the predator *Mallada basalis* (Neuroptera: Chrysopidae) on *Tetranychus kanzawai* and *Panonychus citri* (Acari: Tetranychidae) at different predator:prey release ratios. J. Asia Pac. Entomol. 15: 142-146.
- Childers, C. C. 1997. Feeding and oviposition injuries to plants, pp. 505-537. In T. Lewis [ed.], Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, New York, NY.
- Chisholm, I. F., and T. Lewis. 1984. A new look at thrips (Thysanoptera) mouthparts, their action and effects of feeding on plant tissue. Bull. Entomol. Res. 74: 663-675.
- Cloyd, R. A. 2009. Western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis*) management on ornamental crops grown in greenhouses: Have we reached an impasse? Pest Technol. 3: 1-9.
- Cloyd, R. A., and C. S. Sadof. 1998. Flower quality, flower number, and western flower thrips density on transvaal daisy treated with granular insecticides. HortTechnology 8: 567-570.
- Cloyd, R. A., and N. L. Cycholl. 2002. Phytotoxicity of selected insecticides on greenhousegrown herbs. HortScience 37: 671-672.
- Cloyd, R. A., N. R. Timmons, J. M. Goebel, and K. E. Kemp. 2009. Effect of pesticides on adult rove beetle *Atheta coriaria* (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) survival in growing medium. J. Econ. Entomol. 102: 1750-1758.
- Cory, J. S., and K. Hoover. 2006. Plant-mediated effects in insect-pathogen interactions. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21: 278-286.

- Cox, P. D., L. Matthews, R. J. Jacobson, R. Cannon, A. MacLeod, and K. F. A. Walters. 2006.
 Potential for the use of biological agents for the control of *Thrips palmi* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) outbreaks. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 16: 871-891.
- Dara, S. K., M. R. Mcguire, M. Ulloa, and H. K. Kaya. 2008. Evaluation and molecular characterization of *Beauveria bassiana* for the control of the glassy-winged sharpshooter (Homoptera: Cicadellidae) in California. J. Entomol. Sci. 43: 241-246.
- Daughtrey, M. L., R. K. Jones, J. W. Moyer, M. E. Daub, and J. R. Baker. 1997. Tospoviruses strike the greenhouse industry: INSV has become a major pathogen on flower crops. Plant Dis. 81: 1220-1230.
- De Jager, C. M., R. P. T. Butôt, P. G. L. Klinkhamer, and E. van der Meijden. 1995a. Chemical characteristics of chrysanthemum cause resistance to *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae). J. Econ. Entomol. 88: 1746-1753.
- De Jager, C. M., R. P. T. Butôt, P. G. L. Klinkhamer, T. de Jong, and E. van der Meijden. 1995b. Genetic variation in chrysanthemum for resistance to *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 77: 277-287.
- DeLong, J. P., and D. A. Vasseur. 2011. Mutual interference is common and mostly intermediate in magnitude. BMC Ecol. 11: 1.
- Devi, K. U., A. Reineke, N. N. Reddy, C. U. Rao, and J. Padmavathi. 2006. Genetic diversity, reproductive biology, and speciation in the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin. Genome 49: 495-504.

- Ebssa, L., C. Borgemeister, and H-M. Poehling. 2006. Simultaneous application of entomopathogenic nematodes and predatory mites to control western flower thrips *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Biol. Control 39: 66-76.
- Echegaray, E. A., and R. A. Cloyd. 2013. Life history characteristics of the rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria* (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) under laboratory conditions. J. Kans. Entomol. Soc. 86: 145-154.
- Echegaray, E. A., R. A. Cloyd, and J. R. Nechols. 2015. Rove beetle (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) predation on *Bradysia* sp. nr. *coprophila* (Diptera: Sciaridae). J. Entomol. Sci. 50: 225-237.
- Echegaray, E. R., and R. A. Cloyd. 2012. Effects of reduced-risk pesticides and plant growth regulators on rove beetle (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) adults. J. Econ. Entomol. 105: 2097-2106.
- Espinosa, P. J., J. Contreras, V. Quinto, C. Gravalos, E. Fernandez, and P. Bielza. 2005.
 Metabolic mechanisms of insecticide resistance in the western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande). Pest Manag. Sci. 61: 1009-1015.
- Fargues, J., A. Oedraogo, M. S. Goettel, and C. J. Lomer. 1997. Effects of temperature, humidity and inoculation method on susceptibility of *Schistocerca gregaria* to *Metarhizium flavoviride*. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 7: 345-356.
- Farhadi, R., H. Allahyari, and H. Chi. 2011. Life table and predation capacity of *Hippodamia* ariegata (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) feeding on *Aphis fabae* (Hemiptera: Aphididae). Biol. Control 59: 83-89.

- Feng, M. G., X. Y. Pu, S. H. Ying, and Y. G. Wang. 2004. Field trials of an oil-based emulsifiable formulation of *Beauveria bassiana* conidia and low application rates of imidacloprid for control of false-eye leafhopper, *Empoasca vitis*, on tea in southern China. Crop Prot. 23: 489-496.
- Ferron, P. 1977. Influence of relative humidity on the development of fungal infection caused by *Beauveria bassiana* (Fungi Imperfecti: Moniliales) in imagines of *Acanthoscelides obtectus* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae). Entomophaga 22: 393-396.

Feyereisen, R. 1999. Insect P450 enzymes. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 44: 507-533.

- Gaudchau, M. 1982. The feeding capacity of syrphid larvae (*Syrphus corollae*; Dipt.: Syrphidae) as predators of aphids under greenhouse conditions. J. Appl. Entomol. 93: 425-429.
- Gaum, W. G., J. H. Giliomee, and K. L. Pringle. 1994. Life history and life tables of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) on English cucumbers. Bull. Entomol. Res. 84: 219-224.
- Gilkeson, L. A., and S. B. Hill. 1987. Release rates for control of green peach aphid (Homoptera: Aphidae) by the predatory midge *Aphidoletes aphidimyza* (Diptera: Cecidomyiidae) under winter greenhouse conditions. J. Econ. Entomol. 80: 147-150.
- Gillespie, D. R., and R. S. Vernon. 1990. Trap catch of western flower thrips as affected by color and height of sticky straps in mature greenhouse cucumber crops. J. Econ. Entomol. 83: 971-975.

- Gillespie, D. R., V. Carney, C. Teerling, and J. L. Shipp. 2001. *Bradysia* spp., fungus gnats (Diptera: Sciaridae), pp. 49-52. In P. G. Mason and J. T. Huber (eds.), Biological Control Programmes in Canada, 1981-2000. CAB International, UK.
- Goettel, M. S., and A. E. Hajek. 2000. Evaluation of non-target effects of pathogens used for management of arthropods, pp. 81-97. In E. Wajnberg, J. K. Scott and P. C. Quimby (eds.), Evaluating Indirect Ecological Effects of Biological Control. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Goettel, M. S., T. J. Poprawski, J. D. Vandenberg, Z. Li, and D. W. Roberts. 1990. Safety to non-target invertebrates of fungal biocontrol agents, pp. 209-229. In M. Laird, L. A. Lacey and E. W. Davidson (eds.), Safety of Microbial Insecticides. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Goldbach, R., and D. Peters. 1994. Possible causes of the emergence of tospovirus diseases. Sem. Virol. 5: 113-120.
- Gonzalez, F., C. Tkaczuk, M. M. Dinu, Z. Fiedler, S. Vidal, E. Zchori-Fein, and G. J. Messelink.
 2016. New opportunities for the integration of microorganisms into biological pest control systems in greenhouse crops. J. Pest Sci. 89: 295-311.
- Hamlen, R. A., and R. K. Lindquist. 1981. Comparison of two *Phytoseiulus* species as predators of twospotted spider mites on greenhouse ornamentals. Environ. Entomol. 10: 524-527.
- Hansen, E. A., J. E. Funderburk, S. R. Reitz, S. Ramachandran, J. E. Eger, and H. Mcauslane.
 2003. Within-plant distribution of *Frankliniella* species (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) and *Orius insidiosus* (Heteroptera: Anthocoridae) in field pepper. Environ. Entomol. 32: 1035-1044.

- Harrewijn, P., W. F. Tjallingll, and C. Mollema. 1996. Electrical recording of plant penetration by western flower thrips. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 79: 345-353.
- Heinz, K. M., M. P. Parrella, and J. P. Newman. 1992. Time-efficient use of yellow sticky traps in monitoring insect populations. J. Econ. Entomol. 85: 2263-2269.
- Helyer, N. L., P. J. Brobyn, P. N. Richardson, and R. N. Edmondson. 1995. Control of western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis* Pergande) pupae in compost. Ann. Appl. Biol. 127: 405-412.
- Helyer, N., K. Brown, and N. D. Cattlin. 2003. A Colour Handbook of Biological Control in Plant Protection. Manson Publishing, London, UK.
- Herrick, N. J., and R. A. Cloyd. 2017. Effects of growing medium type and moisture level on predation by adult rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria* (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), on fungus gnat, *Bradysia* sp. nr. *coprophila* (Diptera: Sciaridae), larvae under laboratory and greenhouse conditions. HortScience 52: 736-741.
- Higgins, C. J. 1992. Western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) in greenhouses: population dynamics, distribution on plants, and associations with predators. J. Econ. Entomol. 85: 1891-1903.
- Hulshof, J., J. Ulshof, and I. Vanninen. 2002. Western flower thrips feeding on pollen, and its implications for control, pp. 173-179. In R. Marullo and L. A. Mound (eds.), Thrips and Tospoviruses: Proc.7th Intl. Symp. Thysanoptera; July 2-7, Reggio Calabria, Italy.

- Hunter, W. B., and D. E. Ullman. 1989. Analysis of mouthpart movements during feeding of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) and *F. schultzei* (Trybom) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae).
 Int. J. Insect Morphol. Embryol. 18: 161-171.
- Inglis, G. D., M. S. Goettel, T. M. Butt, and H. Strasser. 2001. Chapter 3: Use of hyphomycetous fungi for managing insect pests, pp. 23-69. In T. M. Butt, C. W. Jackson and N. Magan (eds.), Fungi as Biocontrol Agents: Progress, Problems and Potential. CAB International, Wallingford, United Kingdom.
- Jacobson, R. J. 1997. Integrated pest management in glasshouses, pp. 639-666. In T. Lewis (ed.), Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- James, R. R., B. T. Shaffer, B. Croft, and B. Lighthart. 1995. Field evaluation of *Beauveria bassiana*: its persistence and effects on the pea aphid and a non-target coccinellid in alfalfa. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 5: 425-438.
- Jandricic, S., C. D. Scott-Dupree, A. B. Broadbent, C. R. Harris, and G. Murphy. 2006. Compatibility of *Atheta coriaria* with other biological control agents and reduced-risk insecticides used in greenhouse floriculture integrated pest management programs for fungus gnats. Can. Entomol. 138: 712-722.
- Jandricic, S., G. Murphy, A. B. Broadbent, C. D. Scott-Dupree, and C. R. Harris. 2005. Compatibility of *Atheta coriaria* with other biocontrol agents used in greenhouse production. International Organisation for Biological and Integrated Control-West Palaearctic Regional Section Bull. 28: 135-138.

- Janssen, A., A. Pallini, M. Venzon, and M. W. Sabelis. 1998. Behavior and indirect interactions in food webs of plant-inhabiting arthropods. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 22: 497-521.
- Jensen, S. E. 2000. Insecticide resistance in the western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Integ. Pest Manage Rev. 5: 131-146.
- Kay, I. R., and G. A. Herron. 2010. Evaluation of existing and new insecticides including spirotetramat and pyridalyl to control *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) on peppers in Queensland. Aust. J. Entomol. 49: 175-181.
- Kirk, W. D. J. 1996. Thrips, pp. 70. In Naturalists' Handbooks, vol. 25, Richmond Publishing, Slough, UK.
- Kirk, W. D. J. 1997a. Distribution, abundance and population dynamics, pp. 217-257. In T. Lewis (ed.), Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, New York, NY.
- Kirk, W. D. J. 1997b. Feeding, pp. 119-174. In T. Lewis (ed.), Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, New York, NY.
- Kirk, W. D. J. 2002. The pest from the west: *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Thrips and Tospoviruses: Proc. 7th Int. Sym. Thysanoptera 2: 33-42.
- Kivett, J. M., R. A. Cloyd, and N. M. Bello. 2015. Insecticide rotation programs with entomopathogenic organisms for suppression of western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) adult populations under greenhouse conditions. J. Econ. Entomol. 108: 1936-1946.

- Kivett, J. M., R. A. Cloyd, and N. M. Bello. 2016. Evaluation of entomopathogenic fungi against the western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) under laboratory conditions. J. Entomol. Sci. 51: 274-291.
- Kontsedalov, S., P. G. Weintraub, A. R. Horowitz, and I. Ishaaya. 1998. Effects of insecticides on immature and adult western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) in Israel. J. Econ. Entomol. 91: 1067-1071.
- Langewald, J., C. Kooyman, O. Douro-Kpindou, C. J. Lomer, A. O. Dahmoud, and H. O.
 Mohamed. 1997. Field treatment of desert locust (*Schistocerca gregaria* Forskål) hoppers in
 Mauritania using an oil formulation of the entomopathogenic fungus *Metarhizium flavoviride*. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 7: 603-611.
- Lewis, L., E. C. Berry, J. J. Obrycki, and L. A. Bing. 1996. Aptness of insecticides (*Bacillus thuringiensis* and carbofuran) with the endophytic *Beauveria bassiana*, in suppressing larval populations of the European corn borer. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 57: 27-34.
- Lewis, T. 1973. Thrips: Their Biology, Ecology and Economic Importance. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Lewis, T. 1997. Appendix II: Major crops infested by thrips with main symptoms and predominant injurious species, pp. 675-709. In T. Lewis (ed.), Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

- Loughner, R. L., D. F. Warnock, and R. A. Cloyd. 2005. Resistance of greenhouse, laboratory and native populations of western flower thrips to spinosad. HortScience 40: 146-149.
- Lowry, V. K., J. W. Smith, and F. L. Mitchell. 1992. Life-fertility tables for *Frankliniella fusca* (Hinds) and *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) on peanut.
 Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 85: 744-754.
- Maniania, N. K., S. Sithanantham, S. Ekesi, K. Ampong-Nyarko, J. Baumgartner, B. Lohr, and C. M. Matoka. 2003. A field trial of the entomogenous fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae* for control of onion thrips, *Thrips tabaci*. Crop Prot. 22: 553-559.
- Manners, A. G., B. R. Dembowski, and M. A. Healey. 2013. Biological control of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), in gerberas, chrysanthemums and roses. Aust. J. Entomol. 52: 246-258.
- McHugh, J. J., Jr., and R. E. Foster. 1995. Reduction of diamondback moth (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae) infestation in head cabbage by overhead irrigation. J. Econ. Entomol. 88: 162-168.
- Mendonça, A. F. 1992. Mass production, application and formulation of *Metarhizium anisopliae* for control of sugarcane froghopper, *Mahanarva posticata* in Brazil, pp. 239-254. In C. J. Lomer and C. Prior (eds.), Biological Control of Locusts and Grasshoppers. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Messelink, G. J., and A. Janssen. 2014. Increased control of thrips and aphids in greenhouses with two species of generalist predatory bugs involved in intraguild predation. Biol. Control 79: 1-7.

- Migiro, L. N., N. K. Maniania, A. Chabi-Olaye, and J. Vandenberg. 2010. Pathogenicity of entomopathogenic fungi *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* (Hypocreales: Clavicipitaceae) isolates to the adult pea leafminer (Diptera: Agromyzidae) and prospects of an autoinoculation device for infection in the field. Environ. Entomol. 39: 468-475.
- Miller, K. V., and R. N. Williams. 1983. Biology and host preference of *Atheta coriaria* (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), an egg predator of Nitidulidae and Muscidae. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 76: 158-161.
- Moritz, G. 1997. Structure, growth and development, pp. 15-63. In T. Lewis [ed.], Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, New York, NY.
- Mouden, S., K. F. Sarmient, P. G. Klinkhamer, and K. A. Leiss. 2017. Integrated pest management in western flower thrips: past, present and future. Pest Manag. Sci. 73: 813-822.
- Mukawa, S., H. Tooyama, and T. Ikegami. 2011. Influence of humidity on the infection of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), by *Beauveria bassiana*. Appl. Entomol. Zool. 46: 255-264.
- Murphy, B. C., T. A. Morisawa, J. P. Newman, S. A. Tjosvold, and M. P. Parrella. 1998. Fungal pathogen controls thrips in greenhouse flowers. Calif. Agric. 52: 32-36.
- Opit, G. P., G. K. Fitch, D. C. Margolies, J. R. Nechols, and K. A. Williams. 2006. Overhead and drip-tube irrigation affect twospotted spider mites and their biological control by a predatory mite on impatiens. HortScience 41: 691-694.

- Opit, G. P., J. R. Nechols, and D. C. Margolies. 2004. Biological control of twospotted spider mites, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Acari: Tetranychidae), using *Phytoseiulus persimilis* Athias-Henriot (Acari: Phytoseidae) on ivy geranium: assessment of predator release ratios. Biol. Control 29: 445-452.
- Pappu, H. R., R. A. Jones, and R. K. Jain. 2009. Global status of tospovirus epidemics in diverse cropping systems: successes achieved and challenges ahead. Virus Res. 141: 219-236.
- Parrella, M. P., and V. Jones. 1987. Development of integrated pest management strategies in floricultural crops. Bull. Entomol. Soc. Am. 33: 28-34.
- Pell, J. K., J. Eilenberg, A. E. Hajek, and D. C. Steinkraus. 2001. Biology, ecology and pest management potential of Entomophthorales, pp. 71-153. In T. M. Butt, C. Jackson and N. Magan (eds.), Fungi as Biocontrol Agents: Progress, Problems and Potential. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Polis, G. A., C. A. Myers, and R. D. Holt. 1989. The ecology and evolution of intraguild predation: potential competitors that eat each other. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 20: 297-330.
- Poprawski, T. J., R. I. Carruthers, J. Speese III, C. Vacek, and L. Wendel. 1997. Early-season applications of the fungus *Beauveria bassiana* and introduction of the hemipteran predator, *Perillus bioculatus* for control of Colorado potato beetle. Biol. Control 10: 48-57.
- Post, K. 1949. *Chrysanthemum morifolium* (Chrysanthemum), pp. 385-417. In Florist Crop Production and Marketing. Orange Judd Publishing, New York, NY.

- Rehner, S. A., and E. Buckley. 2005. A *Beauveria* phylogeny inferred from nuclear ITS and EF1-alpha sequences: evidence for cryptic diversification and links to *Cordyceps teleomorphs*. Mycologia. 97: 84-98.
- Reiley, H. E., and C. L. Shry, Jr. 2001. Introductory Horticulture: 6th edition. Thomson Learning. Albany, NY.
- Reitz, S. R. 2008. Comparative bionomics of *Frankliniella occidentalis* and *Frankliniella tritici*.Fla. Entomol. 91: 474-476.
- Reitz, S. R. 2009. Biology and ecology of the western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae): The making of a pest. Fla. Entomol. 92: 7-13.
- Reitz, S. R., and J. Funderburk. 2012. Management strategies for western flower thrips and the role of insecticides, pp. 355-384. In F. Perveen (ed.), Agr Biol Sci Insecticides - Pest Engineering. InTech, Rijeka, Croatia.
- Robb, K. L. 1989. Analysis of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) as a pest of floricultural crops in California greenhouses. Ph.D. dissertation, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA.
- Robb, K. L., and M. P. Parrella. 1995. IPM of western flower thrips, pp. 365-370. In B. L. Parker, M. Skinner and T. Lewis (eds.), Thrips Biology and Management. Plenum Press, New York, NY.
- Robb, K. L., M. P. Parrella, and J. P. Newman. 1988. The biology and control of western flower thrips. Part I. Ohio Florists Association Bulletin 699: 2-5.

- Saito, T., and M. Brownbridge. 2016. Compatibility of soil-dwelling predators and microbial agents and their efficacy in controlling soil-dwelling stages of western flower thrips *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Biol. Control 92: 92-100.
- Samish, M., H. Ginsberg, and I. Glazer. 2004. Biological control of ticks. Parasitology 129 Suppl: S389-403.
- SAS Institute. 2012. SAS/STAT user's guide, Version 9.4. SAS Institute, Cary, NC.
- Seaton, K. A., D. F. Cook, and D. C. Hardie. 1997. The effectiveness of a range of insecticides against western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis*) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) on cut flowers. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 48: 781-787.
- Shah, P. A., and J. K. Pell. 2003. Entomopathogenic fungi as biological control agents. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 61: 413-423.
- Skinner, M., S. Gouli, C. E. Frank, B. L. Parker, and J. S. Kim. 2012. Management of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) with granular formulations of entomopathogenic fungi. Biol. Control 63: 246-252.
- Thimijan, R. W., and R. D. Heins. 1983. Photometric, radiometric, and quantum light units of measure: a review of procedures for interconversion. HortScience 18: 818-822.
- Tommasini, M., and S. Maini. 1995. *Frankliniella occidentalis* and other thrips harmful to vegetable and ornamental crops in Europe. Wageningen Agric. Univ. Papers 95: 1-42.
- Trichilo, P. J., and T. F. Leigh. 1988. Influence of resource quality on the reproductive fitness of flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 81: 64-70.

- Tsuda, S., I. Fujisawa, J. Ohnishi, D. Hosokawa, and K. Tomaru. 1996. Localization of tomato spotted wilt tospovirus in larvae and pupae of the insect vector *Thrips setosus*. Phytopathol. 86: 1199-1203.
- Ugine, T. A., S. P. Wraight, and J. P. Sanderson. 2005. Acquisition of lethal doses of *Beauveria bassiana* conidia by western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, exposed to foliar spray residues of formulated and unformulated conidia. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 90: 10-23.
- Ugine, T. A., S. P. Wraight, and J. P. Sanderson. 2007. Effects of manipulating spray-application parameters on efficacy of the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria bassiana* against western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, infesting greenhouse impatiens crops. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 17: 193-219.
- Ullah, M. S., and U. T. Lim. 2017. Synergism of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Phytoseiulus persimilis* in control of *Tetranychus urticae* on bean plants. Syst. Appl. Acarol. 22: 1924-1935.
- van de Wetering, F., R. Goldbach, and D. Peters. 1996. Tomato spotted wilt tospovirus ingestion by first instar larvae of *Frankliniella occidentalis* is a prerequisite for transmission.
 Phytopathol. 86: 900-905.
- Wang, H., Z. Lei, S. Reitz, Y. Li, and X. Xu. 2013. Production of microsclerotia of the fungal entomopathogen *Lecanicillium lecanii* (Hypocreales: Cordycipitaceae) as a biological control agent against soil-dwelling stages of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae). Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 23: 234-238.

- Warner, K. D., and C. Getz. 2008. A socio-economic analysis of the North American commercial natural enemy industry and implications for augmentative biological control. Biol. Control 45: 1-10.
- Whalon, M., D. Mota-Sanchez, and R. Hollingworth. 2014. Arthropod pesticide resistance database http://www.pesticideresistance.org/. Feburary 12, 2016. Michigan State University.
- Whitfield, A. E., D. E. Ullman, and T. L. German. 2005. Tospovirus-thrips interactions. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 43: 459-489.
- Wiethoff, J., H. M. Poehling, and R. Meyhöfer. 2004. Combining plant and soil-dwelling predatory mites to optimise biological control of thrips. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 34: 239-261.
- Wraight, S. P., R. I. Carruthers, S. T. Jaronski, C. A. Bradley, C. J. Garza, and S. Galaini-Wraight. 2000. Evaluation of the entomopathogenic fungi *Beauveria bassiana* and *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus* for microbial control of the silverleaf whitefly, *Bemisia* argentifolii. Biol. Control 17: 203-217.
- Wu, S., Y. Gao, G. Smagghe, X. Xu, and Z. Lei. 2016. Interactions between the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria bassiana* and the predatory mite *Neoseiulus barkeri* and biological control of their shared prey/host *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Biol. Control 98: 43-51.
- Zhang, Z. J., Q. J. Wu, X. F. Li, Y. J. Zhang, B. Y. Xu, and G. R. Zhu. 2007. Life history of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysan., Thripae), on five different vegetable leaves. J. Appl. Entomol. 131: 347-354.

Appendixes

Appendix A - Recovery of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella* occidentalis, adults from prepupae and pupae

Materials and Methods

a. Insect colony

A western flower thrips colony was maintained under laboratory conditions (20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light) in Glad[®] plastic containers [20.4 x 14.4 x 9.4 cm (length x width x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a round hole (9.5 cm diameter) cut in the lid that was covered with No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size: 0.15 x 0.15 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). Green beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) were purchased from a local supermarket (Dillons; Manhattan, KS), soaked in soapy water for 20 minutes, then rinsed with distilled water, and allowed to dry. The green beans were provided as food and oviposition sites for adults, as well as a food source for larvae. Green beans were changed every two to three days. Western flower thrips specimens used in this study are deposited as voucher numbers 237 in the Kansas State University Museum of Entomological and Prairie Arthropod Research (Manhattan, KS).

b. Experimental procedures

Two independent experiments were conducted in two container sizes to determine recovery of western flower thrips adults that were initially prepupae and pupae in the growing medium. Each experiment was set-up as a completely randomized design.

Growing medium preparation was as follows: a 6.0 L plastic container [28.5 x 11 cm (diameter x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) was filled with Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix (SunGro Horticulture, Inc.; Bellevue, WA) growing medium

122

consisting of 70% to 80% Canadian sphagnum peat moss, perlite, 0.0001% silicone dioxide, and dolomitic limestone. The growing medium was moistened with approximately 200 mL of water. The 6.0 L plastic container with growing medium was then heated for 25 minutes in a microwave set at full-power (1,200 W output). After the growing medium was allowed to cool, 1.8 L of water was applied to the growing medium, which was then thoroughly mixed.

Deli containers. Approximately 300 mL of the sterilized growing medium was placed into a 473 mL deli container. Twenty prepupae or pupae were randomly positioned on the growing medium surface in each 473 mL deli container. Prepupae and pupae are generally located at a depth of 1 to 5 mm in the compost that was a freshly steam-sterilised mixture (50:50 by volume) of loam and medium grade sphagnum peat (Helyer et al., 1995). Furthermore, the prepupae and pupae are distributed throughout the growing medium via cracks and crevices present on the growing medium surface (Yinping Li; personal observation). Therefore, no additional growing medium was needed to cover the prepupae and pupae. A lid was modified with No-Thrips insect screening for ventilation and prevented western flower thrips adults from escaping. A half-section of a yellow sticky card [7.7 x 10.4 cm (length x width)] (Pestrap Phytotronics, Inc.; Earth City, MO] was affixed to the inside center of the lid to capture western flower thrips adults. There were ten replications per pupal stage (prepupae or pupae). Thus, a total of ten deli containers per pupal stage were prepared and exposed to laboratory conditions of 20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light. The numbers of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards were recorded 17 days for prepupae and 15 days for pupae after the experiment was initiated.

15.2 cm containers. The procedures were similar to those described above except for the following. Approximately 1,200 mL of the growing medium was placed into a 15.2 cm

123

container. The drainage holes in the bottom were covered with No-Thrips insect screening to prevent western flower thrips adults from escaping. Each 15.2 cm container was covered with No-Thrips insect screening, and a yellow sticky card was affixed onto the inside center of the screening to capture eclosing western flower thrips adults.

Results

For the 473 mL deli containers, mean percent western flower thrips adults recovered from prepupae and pupae was 84.5% (\pm 13.6%) [mean (\pm SEM)] (n=200) and 93.0% (\pm 11.7%) (n=200). For the 15.2 cm containers, the mean percent western flower thrips adults recovered from prepupae and pupae was 90.0% (\pm 18.3%) (n=200) and 90.5% (\pm 2.8%) (n=200). The respective recovery of western flower thrips adults ensured that the results associated with the subsequent predation experiments were directly due to predator predation, and not other confounding factors, such as: handling technique or natural mortality of western flower thrips prepupae and pupae.

The recovery of western flower thrips was determined regularly twice a month. In the experiment 1 of Chapter 4, the mean percent western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards ranged from 98.2% to 99.4% for prepupae and 89.2% to 97.9% for pupae.

Reference

Helyer, N. L., P. J. Brobyn, P. N. Richardson, and R. N. Edmondson. 1995. Control of western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis* Pergande) pupae in compost. Ann. Appl. Biol. 127: 405-412.
Appendix B - Rove beetle, *Dalotia coriaria*, adult feeding preference on western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, prepupae and pupae

Materials and Methods

a. Insect colonies

A western flower thrips colony was maintained under laboratory conditions (20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light) in Glad[®] plastic containers [20.4 x 14.4 x 9.4 cm (length x width x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a round hole (9.5 cm diameter) cut in the lid that was covered with No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size: 0.15 x 0.15 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). Green beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) were purchased from a local supermarket (Dillons; Manhattan, KS), soaked in soapy water for 20 minutes, then rinsed with distilled water, and allowed to dry. The green beans were provided as food and oviposition sites for adults, as well as a food source for larvae. Green beans were changed every two to three days.

A rove beetle colony was maintained using growing medium in 7.6 L plastic containers [$34.8 \times 24.7 \times 12.4 \text{ cm}$ (length x width x height] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) under laboratory conditions: $20-24^{\circ}$ C, 45% to 60% relative humidity, and constant darkness simulating conditions similar to the natural habitat of rove beetles (Helyer et al. 2003). A rectangular section ($22 \times 11 \text{ cm}$: length x width) was cut in the lid and covered with No-Thrips insect screening.

Growing medium preparation was as follows: a 6.0 L plastic container [28.5 x 11 cm (diameter x height)] (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) was filled with Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix (SunGro Horticulture, Inc.; Bellevue, WA) growing medium consisting of 70% to 80% Canadian sphagnum peat moss, perlite, 0.0001% silicone dioxide, and dolomitic limestone. The growing medium was moistened with approximately 200 mL of water. The 6.0 L plastic container with growing medium was then heated for 25 minutes in a microwave set at full-power (1,200 W output). After the growing medium was allowed to cool, 1.8 L of water was applied to the growing medium, which was then thoroughly mixed. About 3.0 L of the sterilized growing medium was placed into each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container.

Approximately 15 g of dry oats (*Avena sativa* L.) (The Quaker Oats Company; Chicago, IL) were placed, every four to five days, onto the growing medium surface in a line (lengthwise) in the center of the growing medium within each 7.6 L plastic rectangular container. About 15 mL of water was applied, every one to two days, onto the oats using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle (Delta Industries; King of Prussia, PA) to maintain constant moisture. Adult rove beetles from previous colonies was then used to establish new colonies.

Western flower thrips and rove beetle specimens used in this study are deposited as voucher numbers 237 and 220, respectively in the Kansas State University Museum of Entomological and Prairie Arthropod Research (Manhattan, KS).

b. Preparation of newly eclosed rove beetle adults

Five rove beetle third instar larvae were placed into a Gladware[®] container [7.8 x 5.1 cm (diameter x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with 20 mL of moistened growing medium and three to four pieces of dry oats. A total of 20 Gladware[®] containers with rove beetle third instar larvae were prepared following the above method, then placed into an

environmental growth chamber (Conviron[®] Controlled Environments Inc.; Pembina, ND) set at 21-27°C and constant darkness. Rove beetle adults were observed seven days later with most adults eclosing from pupae after 11 days (Yinping Li; personal observation). Newly eclosed adults (one to three days old) were individually placed in 9 dram (33 mL) plastic vials with lids using a soft-bristled brush. All 9 dram plastic vials containing rove beetle adults were returned to the environmental growth chamber and the adults were starved for 24 hours. The sex ratio of rove beetle adults was 1:1 (female:male).

c. Experimental procedures

Filter paper (150 mm diameter) (Whatman[®] International Ltd.; Maidstone, England) was placed in the bottom of a Petri dish and moistened with water using a 946 mL plastic spray bottle. A foam disk was inserted inside the lid of the Petri dish to prevent rove beetle adults, as well as western flower thrips prepupae and pupae from escaping. Choice and no-choice tests were conducted sequentially.

Choice test. The choice test was set-up as a randomized complete block design, with one Petri dish serving as a block. Prepupae and pupae were collected from the western flower thrips laboratory colony using a soft-bristled brush under a stereomicroscope (SMZ1000; Nikon Instruments Inc.; Japan). Prepupae are identified by their short wing sheaths and erect antennae; whereas pupae have long wing sheaths that nearly extend to the end of the abdomen, and the antennae are bent backwards along the head (Zhang et al. 2007). Based on preliminary experiments, four prepupae and four pupae were positioned alternately into one Petri dish, equidistant from each other, in a circular pattern. Then, one newly eclosed rove beetle adult (two to three days old, starved for 24 hours) was placed into the center of the Petri dish. A total of ten Petri dishes were prepared following the above procedure and maintained in the environmental growth chamber set at 21-27°C and constant darkness. The exposure period was two hours.

No-choice test. The no-choice test was set-up as a randomized complete block design, with a pair of Petri dishes serving as a block. One pair of Petri dishes involved placing eight prepupae into one Petri dish and eight pupae into the other Petri dish. The procedures were the same as those described above in the choice test. The no-choice test was completed using 10 pairs of Petri dishes.

After a two-hour exposure period, a soft-bristled brush was used to contact the prepupae and pupae, and determine the number fed upon by rove beetle adults under a stereomicroscope. If prepupae or pupae moved after being prodded with the soft-bristled brush, they were considered alive. However, if prepupae or pupae were not present or were damaged (exuding body fluids), they were considered to have been fed upon by rove beetle adults.

Data Analysis

In each test, a generalized linear mixed model assuming a binomial distribution was fitted to the response variable defined as the number of western flower thrips prepupae or pupae fed upon out of the initial number of western flower thrips prepupae or pupae in the same Petri dish. A logit link function was used to estimate the probability of western flower thrips prepupae or pupae fed upon by rove beetle adults. In the choice test, the linear predictor in the model included the fixed effect of western flower thrips pupal stage. Random effect associated with the linear predictor included one Petri dish as a blocking factor. In the no-choice test, the fixed effect in the linear predictor included western flower thrips pupal stage. Random effects included the blocking effect of one pair of Petri dishes. Over-dispersion was determined using the maximum-likelihood based fit statistic Pearson Chi-Square/DF. There was no evidence of over-dispersion for the two tests. The final statistical model used for inference was fitted using Residual Pseudo-likelihood. Degrees of freedom were approximated and estimated standard errors were adjusted using Kenward-Roger's procedure. The statistical model was fitted using the PROC GLIMMIX procedure (SAS Institute 2012) implemented Newton-Raphson with ridging as the optimization technique. Pairwise comparisons were conducted using Tukey-Kramer's or Bonferroni's procedure to adjust for multiple comparisons in order to avoid inflation of type I error due to multiple comparisons.

Results

There were no significant differences associated with the estimated mean probability of prey (western flower thrips prepupae or pupae) fed upon by rove beetle adults between western flower thrips prepupae and pupae in either the choice test (F =2.43; df=1, 9; P=0.36), or the no-choice test (F =0.03; df=1, 9; P=0.90).

References

- Helyer, N., K. Brown, and N. D. Cattlin. 2003. A Colour Handbook of Biological Control in Plant Protection. Manson Publishing, London, UK.
- SAS Institute. 2012. SAS/STAT user's guide, Version 9.4. SAS Institute, Cary, NC.
- Zhang, Z. J., Q. J. Wu, X. F. Li, Y. J. Zhang, B. Y. Xu, and G. R. Zhu. 2007. Life history of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysan., Thripidae), on five different vegetable leaves. J. Appl. Entomol. 131: 347-354.

Appendix C - Effects of insecticide drench applications on western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, pupae in growing medium

Introduction

Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), is an important insect pest of greenhouse-grown horticultural crops worldwide (Robb and Parrella 1995, Lewis 1997a, Kirk 2002, Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009). Western flower thrips causes direct damage by feeding on and ovipositing in leaves, flowers, and fruits (Chisholm and Lewis 1984, Hunter and Ullman 1989, Harrewijn et al. 1996, Childers 1997, Lewis 1997a). Moreover, western flower thrips cause indirect damage by vectoring the tospoviruses: *Tomato spotted wilt* and *Impatiens necrotic spot* viruses (Allen and Broadbent 1986, Pappu et al. 2009). The direct and indirect damage has led to significant economic losses. For instance, Goldbach and Peters (1994) estimated that, on an annual basis, *Tomato spotted wilt virus* accounts for an economic loss of >\$1 billion (US dollars) in agricultural crops globally. Furthermore, in 2006, damage to ornamental crops in Georgia by western flower thrips resulted in an economic loss of >\$15 million (US dollars) (Reitz and Funderburk 2012).

The tolerance for damage caused by western flower thrips is very low since damage reduces the aesthetic quality and marketability of greenhouse-grown horticultural crops (Parrella and Jones 1987, Loughner et al. 2005). The primary management strategy used against western flower thrips is applications of insecticides (Parrella and Murphy 1996, Lewis 1997b, Herron and James 2005). Therefore, greenhouse producers routinely apply insecticides to suppress western flower thrips populations (Kontsedalov et al. 1998, Loughner et al. 2005, Cloyd 2009, Reitz 2009).

Larvae and adults of western flower thrips feed on the foliage whereas prepupae and pupae reside in the growing medium (Tommasini and Maini 1995, Reitz 2009). Most late second instar larvae migrate down the plant stem and pupate in the growing medium or soil (Helyer et al. 1995, Tommasini and Maini 1995, Kirk 1996, Wiethoff et al. 2004). Foliar insecticide applications are the primary means of suppressing western flower thrips larvae and adult populations; whereas less attention has been directed at insecticide use against the soil-dwelling life stages (Berndt 2003, Belay et al. 2005, Ansari et al. 2008). The reason being is that soildwelling life stages are supposedly less susceptible to insecticides (Seaton et al. 1997). Although insecticides have been evaluated against western flower thrips pupae (Helyer and Brobyn 1992, Ludwig and Oetting 2001), none are actually labeled for use as drenches against western flower thrips pupae (Ansari et al. 2008, Cloyd 2009). In addition, some entomopathogenic fungi have been used against the soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips, including *Beauveria* bassiana (Balsamo) Vuillemin and Metarhizium anisopliae (brunneum) (Metchnikoff) Sorokin (Helyer et al. 1995, Ansari et al. 2007, Ansari et al. 2008, Skinner et al. 2012). Another candidate entomopathogenic fungus, Isaria fumosorosea (Wize) (Hypocreales: Cordycipitaceae), infects a wide-range of citrus pests and is less harmful to non-target arthropod natural enemies than conventional insecticides (Sterk et al. 1995a, b; Avery 2002, Avery et al. 2008). Furthermore, I. fumosorosea Apopka Strain 97 is commercially available as a microbial insecticide (Vidal et al. 1998, Faria and Wraight 2001).

Pyriproxyfen, (2-[1-methyl-2-(4-phenoxyphenoxy) ethoxy] pyridine), is a juvenile hormone analog and a relatively stable aromatic compound (Sullivan and Goh 2008). Pyriproxyfen mimics juvenile hormone activities by competing for binding sites on juvenile hormone receptors; consequently, larvae do not develop into adults (Sullivan and Goh 2008). Pyriproxyfen is registered for household, agricultural, and horticultural applications to control many insect pests, including: the fungus gnat, *Bradysia* sp. nr. *coprophila* (Lintner) (Diptera: Sciaridae); the common housefly, *Musca domestica* (Lintner) (Diptera: Muscidae); mosquitoes; the red imported fire ant, *Solenopsis invicta* (Buren) (Hymenoptera: Formicidae); and the silverleaf whitefly, *Bemisia argentifolii* (Bellows & Perring) (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) (Miyamoto et al. 1993, Cloyd and Dickinson 2006, Sullivan and Goh 2008).

Anecdotal information from greenhouse producers has suggested that applications of an entomopathogenic fungus or pyriproxyfen in the growing medium, lead to fewer problems with western flower thrips adults. The inclination is that the insecticides are active on the pupal stages. However, there is no quantitative data to confirm these claims. In fact, no scientific studies have assessed the efficacy of *I. fumosorosea* or pyriproxyfen on the soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips when applied as a drench. Therefore, the objective of the study was to assess the effect of *I. fumosorosea* and pyriproxyfen on western flower thrips pupae. Four experiments were conducted to determine: 1) the efficacy of *I. fumosorosea* and pyriproxyfen in two growing media on western flower thrips pupae, and 3) the residual activity of pyriproxyfen in growing media on western flower thrips pupae 3, 5, 7, and 14 days after treatments were applied.

Materials and Methods

a. Insect colony

A western flower thrips colony was maintained under laboratory conditions (20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and constant light) in Glad[®] plastic containers [20.4 x 14.4 x 9.4 cm (length x width x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a round hole

(9.5 cm diameter) cut in the lid that was covered with No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size: 0.15 x 0.15 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). Green beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) were purchased from a local supermarket (Dillons; Manhattan, KS), soaked in soapy water for 20 minutes, then rinsed with distilled water, and allowed to dry. The green beans were provided as food and oviposition sites for adults, as well as a food source for larvae. Green beans were changed every two to three days. Western flower thrips specimens used in this study are deposited as voucher number 237 in the Kansas State University Museum of Entomological and Prairie Arthropod Research (Manhattan, KS).

b. Experimental procedures

Design structure. Four independent laboratory experiments were conducted to evaluate the effect of drench applications of *I. fumosorosea* and pyriproxyfen on western flower thrips pupae in growing medium. Each experiment was set-up as a completely randomized design. A single 473 mL deli container constituted a unit of replication. Five deli containers were associated with each treatment-combination in each experiment.

Treatment structure of experiment 1. The efficacy of *I. fumosorosea* and pyriproxyfen applied as drenches to the growing medium on western flower thrips pupae was evaluated using five treatments: 1.0 g Ancora [*I. fumosorosea* Apopka Strain 97 (AncoraTM: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 1.0 g/946 mL], 2.0 g Ancora [*I. fumosorosea* Apopka Strain 97 at 2.0 g/946 mL], Fulcrum [pyriproxyfen (Fulcrum[®]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 0.14 mL/946 mL], an untreated check, and a water control. The rates for *I. fumosorosea* and pyriproxyfen were the label rates associated with drench applications to the growing medium.

Treatment structure of experiment 2. The effect of pyriproxyfen applied as drenches to two growing media on western flower thrips pupae was assessed using a two-way factorial

treatment structure consisting of all combinations of three treatments and two growing media. The three treatments were: pyriproxyfen at 0.14 mL/946 mL, an untreated check, and a water control. The two growing media were: LC1 (Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix: SunGro Horticulture Canada Ltd.; Seba Beach, Alberta, Canada) composed of 70% to 80% Canadian sphagnum peat moss, perlite, 0.0001% silicone dioxide, and dolomitic limestone; and Berger (Berger BM1 All-Purpose Mix: Berger; Saint-Modeste, Quebec, Canada) composed of 75% to 85% sphagnum peat moss, perlite, and vermiculite.

Treatment structure of experiments 3 and 4. The residual activity of pyriproxyfen applied as drenches to the growing medium on western flower thrips pupae was determined using a two-way factorial treatment structure with all combinations of three treatments and two western flower thrips pupal inoculation days after application of the treatments. The three treatments in each experiment were: pyriproxyfen at 0.14 mL/946 mL, an untreated check, and a water control. Furthermore, there were two western flower thrips pupal inoculation days (7 and 14 days for experiment 3, and 3 and 5 days for experiment 4) after the treatments were applied.

Experimental procedure. All treatment solutions were prepared in water using 946 mL plastic spray bottles (Delta Industries; King of Prussia, PA). Growing medium was prepared as follows: a 6.0 L plastic container (Rubbermaid Home Products; Wooster, OH) was filled with growing medium, which was moistened with approximately 200 mL of water. Then, the plastic container with growing medium was heated for 25 minutes in a microwave set at full-power (1,200 W output). After the growing medium was allowed to cool, 1.2 L of water was applied to the growing medium, which was then thoroughly mixed. Approximately 0.4 L of the sterilized growing medium was placed into a 473 mL deli container. The deli container was tapped five times to reduce the amount of air-space within the growing medium. The growing medium used

in experiments 1, 3, and 4 was LC1. Both LC1 and Berger growing media were used in experiment 2.

In experiments 1 and 2, 20 western flower thrips pupae, obtained from the laboratory colony, were randomly positioned on the growing medium surface of each 473 mL deli container. Pupae are generally located at a depth of 1 to 5 mm in the compost that was a freshly steam-sterilised mixture (50:50 by volume) of loam and medium grade sphagnum peat (Helyer et al. 1995). Furthermore, pupae are distributed throughout the growing medium via cracks and crevices present on the growing medium surface (Yinping Li; personal observation). Therefore, no additional growing medium was needed to cover the pupae. Then, 80 mL of each treatment solution was uniformly applied as a drench to the growing medium surface. In experiments 3 and 4, 80 mL of each treatment solution was initially uniformly applied to the growing medium surface of each 473 mL deli container; then, 20 western flower thrips pupae were randomly positioned on the growing medium surface after 7 or 14 days for experiment 3, or after 3 or 5 days for experiment 4.

A modified lid with No-Thrips insect screening was used for ventilation and to prevent western flower thrips adults from escaping upon eclosion. A half-section of a yellow sticky card [7.7 x 10.4 cm (length x width)] (Pestrap Phytotronics, Inc.; Earth City, MO) was hot-glued to the inside center of the lid to capture eclosing western flower thrips adults. The 473 mL deli containers had 12 holes perforated on the bottom to allow for drainage. Each 473 mL deli container was placed into a larger Petri dish (14 cm diameter) to collect any leachate from the bottom of the deli container. All deli containers for each experiment were prepared using the above procedure and placed in the laboratory at 20-24°C, 50% to 60% relative humidity, and a 16:8 (light:dark) photoperiod. The numbers of western flower thrips adults captured on the

yellow sticky cards were recorded 15 days after the growing medium was inoculated with western flower thrips pupae. The number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was an indirect assessment of pupal mortality (Helyer et al. 1995).

Data Analysis

For each experiment, a generalized linear mixed model assuming a binomial distribution was fitted to the response variable defined as the number of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards out of the number of pupae initially positioned in the same container. A logit link function was used to estimate the probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards. For experiment 1, the fixed effect in the linear predictor was treatment. For experiment 2, the linear predictor in the model included the fixed effects of treatment, growing medium, and the two-way interaction. For experiments 3 and 4, the fixed effects in the linear predictor included treatment, western flower thrips pupal inoculation day (7 or 14 days in experiment 3, and 3 or 5 days in experiment 4) after the treatments were applied, and the two-way interaction. For experiment 4, to account for over-dispersion, a random effect was fitted for the level of observation defined as the cross product of replication, treatment, and western flower thrips pupae inoculation day after application of the treatments.

In each experiment, over-dispersion was determined using the maximum-likelihood based fit statistic Pearson Chi-Square/DF. There was no evidence of over-dispersion. In each experiment, the final statistical model used for inference was fitted using Residual Pseudolikelihood. Degrees of freedom were approximated and estimated standard errors were adjusted using Kenward-Roger's procedure. The statistical model was fitted using the PROC GLIMMIX procedure (SAS Institute 2012) implemented using Newton–Raphson with ridging as the optimization technique. Pairwise comparisons were conducted using Tukey-Kramer's or Bonferroni's adjustments, as appropriate for main effect or simple effect comparisons, to avoid inflation of type I error due to multiple comparisons.

Results

Experiment 1. There was a significant treatment effect associated with the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (F = 21.04; df = 4, 20; P < 0.0001). The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly lower for the pyriproxyfen treatment {17% (10.5-26.3%) [mean (95% confidence interval)]} compared to the other four treatments (Figure 1). The estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for the two treatments affiliated with *I. fumosorosea* Apopka Strain 97 (1.0 g Ancora and 2.0 g Ancora) was significantly lower than the untreated check, but there was no evidence of a significant difference from the water control (Figure 1).

Experiment 2. In both LC1 and Berger growing media, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly lower for the pyriproxyfen treatment [LC1: 20% (6.4-48.4%), Berger: 14% (3.9-40.5%)] than the untreated check, but not significantly different from the water control (Figure 2). For the water control, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards was significantly higher in the LC1 [41% (31.4-51.4%)] than the Berger [24% (16.3-33.9%)] growing medium (t = -2.54, df = 24, P = 0.018) (Figure 3). However, for either the pyriproxyfen treatment or the untreated check, there was no evidence of any significant differences in the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards between the two growing media (Figure 3).

Experiment 3. When the growing medium was inoculated with western flower thrips pupae 7 days after application of the treatments, there was no significant treatment effect associated with the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on yellow sticky cards (Figure 4). When the growing medium was inoculated with western flower thrips pupae 14 days after the treatments were applied, a significantly higher estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults was captured on the yellow sticky cards in the untreated check than the water control, but there was no evidence of any significant differences between pyriproxyfen and the untreated check, or between pyriproxyfen and the water control (Figure 4).

Experiment 4. There was a significant interaction between treatment and western flower thrips pupal inoculation day after the treatments were applied (F = 3.86; df = 2, 24; P = 0.035). However, when the growing medium was inoculated with western flower thrips pupae 5 days after application of the treatments, there was no significant treatment effect based on the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (Figure 5). When the growing medium was inoculated with western flower thrips pupae 3 days after application of the treatments, a significantly higher estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults was captured on the yellow sticky cards in the untreated check than the pyriproxyfen treatment; however, there was no evidence of any significant differences between pyriproxyfen and the water control, or between the untreated check and the water control (Figure 5).

Discussion

This is the first study to evaluate the effects of pyriproxyfen and *I. fumosorosea* when applied as drench applications to the growing medium on western flower thrips pupae. Otieno et

al. (2016) found that azadirachtin, an insect growth regulator that inhibits metabolism of the molting hormone, ecdysone (Ware and Whitacre 2003), when applied as drenches against the soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips resulted in a 60% reduction in adult eclosion. Helyer et al. (1995) reported that soil applications of chlorpyrifos and malathion, which are both contact insecticides, provided 96.5% and 97.5%, respectively, mortality of western flower thrips pupae. In the current study, drench applications of pyriproxyfen to the growing medium resulted 17% (n=100) of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards in the first experiment. However, the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips captured on the yellow sticky cards was not significantly different between the pyriproxyfen treatment and the water control for the two growing media in the second experiment. Therefore, it appears that pyriproxyfen is inconsistent in affecting the pupal stage of the western flower thrips.

The entomopathogenic fungi, *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae (brunneum)*, are reported to control the soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips in the growing medium or soil (Helyer et al. 1995, Ansari et al. 2007, Ansari et al. 2008, Skinner et al. 2012). For instance, Ansari et al. (2007) found that western flower thrips pupal mortality ranged from 70% to 90% when exposed to growing medium mixed with *M. anisopliae (brunneum)*. Skinner et al. (2012) observed a 90% reduction in the mean total number of western flower thrips per plant using mycotized millet grains containing *B. bassiana* in the soil. However, in the current study, there was no evidence that drench applications of *I. fumosorosea* provided a significant difference from the water control in the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards (Figure 1). Therefore, *I. fumosorosea* may not be an effective microbial insecticide against western flower thrips pupae when applied as a drench. The reason

for the discrepancy among the entomopathogenic fungi against western flower thrips soildwelling life stages is not known at this time; consequently, further investigation is warranted.

Studies have demonstrated that growing medium or soil type can affect survival of soildwelling life stages of insect pests (Varatharajan and Daniel 1984, Hulthen and Clarke 2006, Chen and Shelton 2007, Holmes et al. 2013, Pietrantuono et al. 2015). Varatharajan and Daniel (1984) reported that the highest number of *Thrips hawaiiensis* (Morgan) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) pupae were found in loose soil with a layer of organic debris on the surface, rather than in clay soil. However, in the current study, there was no evidence that growing medium type in the untreated check treatment affected the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards. Furthermore, growing medium or soil type may also influence the effect of drench-applied insecticides on soil-dwelling pests. For instance, Cowles and Villani (1994) reported that soil pH and organic matter affected the efficacy of the insecticides: carbaryl, bendiocarb, and chlorpyrifos against Japanese beetle, Popillia japonica (Newman) (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae), larvae. Nevertheless, in the current study, there was no evidence that growing medium type associated with the pyriproxyfen treatment affected the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards. Therefore, the results demonstrated that the two growing media may not influence the survival of western flower thrips pupae or the efficacy of pyriproxyfen on western flower thrips pupae.

Pyriproxyfen degrades rapidly in soil under aerobic conditions (Fathulla 1994), which is supported by the results from the third and fourth experiments as the estimated mean probability of western flower thrips adults captured on the yellow sticky cards for the pyriproxyfen treatment was not significantly different from the water control 7 and 14 days post-treatment for the third experiment, or 3 and 5 days post-treatment for the fourth experiment. Therefore, there was no

evidence that drench applications of pyriproxyfen had any residual activity on western flower thrips pupae in the growing medium 3 days after application of treatments.

References

- Allen, W. R., and A. Broadbent. 1986. Transmission of tomato spotted wilt virus in Ontario greenhouses by *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Can. J. Plant Pathol. 8: 33-38.
- Ansari, M. A., F. A. Shah, M. Whittaker, M. Prasad, and T. M. Butt. 2007. Control of western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis*) pupae with *Metarhizium anisopliae* in peat and peat alternative growing media. Biol. Control 40: 293-297.
- Ansari, M. A., M. Brownbridge, F. A. Shah, and T. M. Butt. 2008. Efficacy of entomopathogenic fungi against soil-dwelling life stages of western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, in plant-growing media. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 127: 80-87.
- Avery, P. B. 2002. Tritrophic Interactions among *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus*, *Encarsia formosa* and *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* on Phaseolus vulgaris and Pelargonium spp. Ph.D.
 Dissertation, Univ. London, Birkbeck College, London, UK.
- Avery, P. B., J. Faull, and M. S. J. Simmonds. 2008. Effects of *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus* and *Encarsia formosa* on the control of the greenhouse whitefly: preliminary assessment of a compatibility study. BioControl 53: 303-316.
- Belay, D., L. Ebssa, and C. Borgemeister. 2005. Time and frequency of applications of entomopathogenic nematodes and their persistence for control of western flower thrips *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Nematology 7: 611-622.
- Berndt, O. 2003. Entomopathogenic nematodes and soil-dwelling predatory mites: Suitable antagonists for enhanced biological control of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande)
 (Thysanoptera: Thripidae). University of Hannover, Hannover, Germany, Doctoral Thesis.

- Chen, M. S., and A. M. Shelton. 2007. Impact of soil type, moisture, and depth on swede midge (Diptera: Cecidomyiidae) pupation and emergence. Environ. Entomol. 36: 1349-1355.
- Childers, C. C. 1997. Feeding and oviposition injuries to plants, pp. 505-537. In T. Lewis [ed.], Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, New York, NY.
- Chisholm, I., and T. Lewis. 1984. A new look at thrips (Thysanoptera) mouthparts, their action and effects of feeding on plant tissue. Bull. Entomol. Res. 74: 663-675.
- Cloyd, R. A. 2009. Western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis*) management on ornamental crops grown in greenhouses: have we reached an impasse? Pest Technol. 3: 1-9.
- Cloyd, R. A., and A. Dickinson. 2006. Effect of *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *israelensis* and neonicotinoid insecticides on the fungus gnat *Bradysia* sp. nr. *coprophila* (Lintner) (Diptera: Sciaridae). Pest Manag. Sci. 62: 171-177.
- Cowles, R. S., and M. G. Villani. 1994. Soil interactions with chemical insecticides and nematodes used for control of Japanese beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) larvae. J. Econ. Entomol. 87: 1014-1021.
- Faria, M., and S. P. Wraight. 2001. Biological control of *Bemisia tabaci* with fungi. Crop Prot. 20: 767-778.
- Fathulla, R. N. 1994. Aerobic Soil Metabolism of ¹⁴C-Pyriproxyfen, Sumitomo Chemical Company, Data Package Report No. 156629-N. DPR No. 52080-030.
- Goldbach, R., and D. Peters. 1994. Possible causes of the emergence of tospovirus diseases. Sem. Virol. 5: 113-120.

- Harrewijn, P., W. F. Tjallingll, and C. Mollema. 1996. Electrical recording of plant penetration by western flower thrips. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 79: 345-353.
- Helyer, N. L., and P. J. Brobyn. 1992. Chemical control of western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis* Pergande). Ann. Appl. Biol. 121: 219-231.
- Helyer, N. L., P. J. Brobyn, P. N. Richardson, and R. N. Edmondson. 1995. Control of western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis* Pergande) pupae in compost. Ann. Appl. Biol. 127: 405-412.
- Herron, G. A., and T. M. James. 2005. Monitoring insecticide resistance in Australian *Frankliniella occidentalis* Pergande (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) detects fipronil and spinosad resistance. Aust. J. Entomol. 44: 299-303.
- Holmes, L. A., S. L. Vanlaerhoven, and J. K. Tomberlin. 2013. Substrate effects on pupation and adult emergence of *Hermetia illucens* (Diptera: Stratiomyidae). Environ. Entomol. 42: 370-374.
- Hulthen, A. D., and A. R. Clarke. 2006. The influence of soil type and moisture on pupal survival of *Bactrocera tryoni* (Froggatt) (Diptera: Tephritidae). Aust. J. Entomol. 45: 16-19.
- Hunter, W. B., and D. E. Ullman. 1989. Analysis of mouthpart movements during feeding of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) and *F. schultzei* (Trybom) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae).
 Int. J. Insect Morphol. Embryol. 18: 161-171.
- Kirk, W. D. J. 1996. Thrips, pp. 70. In Naturalists' Handbooks, vol. 25, Richmond Publishing, Slough, UK.

- Kirk, W. D. J. 2002. The pest from the west: *Frankliniella occidentalis*. Thrips and Tospoviruses:Proc. 7th Int. Sym. Thysanoptera 2: 33-42.
- Kontsedalov, S., P. G. Weintraub, A. R. Horowitz, and I. Ishaaya. 1998. Effects of insecticides on immature and adult western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) in Israel. J. Econ.Entomol. 91: 1067-1071.
- Lewis, T. 1997a. Appendix II: Major crops infested by thrips with main symptoms and predominant injurious species, pp. 675-709. In T. Lewis (ed.), Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Lewis, T. 1997b. Chemical control, pp. 567-593. In T. Lewis (ed.), Thrips as Crop Pests. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Loughner, R. L., D. F. Warnock, and R. A. Cloyd. 2005. Resistance of greenhouse, laboratory and native populations of western flower thrips to spinosad. HortScience 40: 146-149.
- Ludwig, S. W., and R. D. Oetting. 2001. Evaluation of medium treatments for management of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thripidae: Thysanoptera) and Bradysia coprophila (Diptera: Sciaridae). Pest Manag. Sci. 57: 1114-1118.
- Miyamoto, J., M. Hirano, Y. Takimoto, and M. Hatakoshi. 1993. Insect growth regulators for pest control with emphasis on juvenile hormone analogs: present status and future prospects. Pest Control With Enhanced Environmental Safety 524: 144-168.
- Otieno, J. A., P. Pallmann, and H. M. Poehling. 2016. The combined effect of soil-applied azadirachtin with entomopathogens for integrated management of western flower thrips. J. Appl. Entomol. 140: 174-186.

- Pappu, H., R. A. C. Jones, and R. K. Jain. 2009. Global status of tospovirus epidemics in diverse cropping systems: Successes achieved and challenges ahead. Virus Res. 141: 219-236.
- Parrella, M. P., and B. Murphy. 1996. Western flower thrips: Identification, biology and research on the development of control strategies. International Organisation for Biological and Integrated Control/West Palaearctic Regional Section Bull. 19: 115-118.
- Parrella, M. P., and V. Jones. 1987. Development of integrated pest management strategies in floricultural crops. Bull. Entomol. Soc. Am. 33: 28-34.
- Pietrantuono, A. L., A. S. Enriquez, V. Fernández-Arhex, and O. A. Bruzzone. 2015. Substrates preference for pupation on sawfly *Notofenusa surosa* (Hymenoptera: Tenthredinidae). J. Insect Behav. 28: 257-267.
- Reitz, S. R. 2009. Biology and ecology of the western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae): The making of a pest. Fla. Entomol. 92: 7-13.
- Reitz, S. R., and J. Funderburk. 2012. Management strategies for western flower thrips and the role of insecticides, pp. 355-384. In F. Perveen (ed.), Agr Biol Sci Insecticides - Pest Engineering. InTech, Rijeka, Croatia.
- Robb, K. L., and M. P. Parrella. 1995. IPM of western flower thrips, pp. 365-370. In B. L. Parker, M. Skinner and T. Lewis (eds.), Thrips Biology and Management. Plenum Press, New York, NY.
- SAS Institute. 2012. SAS/STAT user's guide, Version 9.4. SAS Institute, Cary, NC.

- Seaton, K. A., D. F. Cook, and D. C. Hardie. 1997. The effectiveness of a range of insecticides against western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis*) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) on cut flowers. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 48: 781-787.
- Skinner, M., S. Gouli, C. E. Frank, B. L. Parker, and J. S. Kim. 2012. Management of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) with granular formulations of entomopathogenic fungi. Biol. Control 63: 246-252.
- Sterk, G., K. Bolckmans, M. Van De Veire, B. Sels, and W. Stepman. 1995a. Side-effects of the microbial insecticide PreFeRal WG (*Paecilomyces fumosoroseus*, strain Apopka 97) on different species of beneficial arthropods. Meded. Fac. Landbouww. Rijksuniv. 60: 719-724.
- Sterk, G., K. Bolckmans, R. De Jonghe, L. De Wael, and J. Vermeulen. 1995b. Side-effects of the microbial insecticide PreFeRal WG (*Paecilomyces fumosoroseus*, strain Apopka 97) on *Bombus terrestris*. Meded. Fac. Landbouww. Rijksuniv. 60: 713-717.
- Sullivan, J., and K. Goh. 2008. Environmental fate and properties of pyriproxyfen. J. Pest. Sci. 33: 339-350.
- Tommasini, M., and S. Maini. 1995. *Frankliniella occidentalis* and other thrips harmful to vegetable and ornamental crops in Europe. Wageningen Agric. Univ. Papers 95: 1-42.
- Ware, G. W., and D. M. Whitacre. 2003. The Pesticide Book (6th edition). MeisterPro Information Resources, Willoughby, OH.
- Wiethoff, J., H. M. Poehling, and R. Meyhöfer. 2004. Combining plant and soil-dwelling predatory mites to optimise biological control of thrips. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 34: 239-261.

- Varatharajan, R., and M. A. Daniel. 1984. Studies on soil pupation in some phytophaous thrips. Journal of Soil Biology and Ecology 4: 116-123.
- Vidal, C., L. S. Osborne, L. A. Lacey, and J. Fargues. 1998. Effect of host plant on the potential of *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus* (Deuteromycotina: Hyphomycetes) for controlling the silverleaf whitefly, *Bemisia argentifolii* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) in greenhouses. Biol. Control 12: 191-199.

Figures



Figure C-1 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for each treatment {1.0 g Ancora [*Isaria fumosorosea* Apopka Strain 97 (Ancora[™]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 1.0 g/946 mL], 2.0 g Ancora [*I. fumosorosea* Apopka Strain 97 at 2.0 g/946 mL], Fulcrum [pyriproxyfen (Fulcrum[®]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 0.14 mL/946 mL], an untreated check, and a water control}. Estimated means followed by different letters indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among the treatments.



Figure C-2 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for each treatment [pyriproxyfen (Fulcrum[®]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 0.14 mL/946 mL, an untreated check, and a water control] within each growing medium [Berger (Berger BM1 All-Purpose Mix: Berger; Saint-Modeste, Quebec, Canada) and LC1 (Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix: SunGro Horticulture Canada Ltd.; Seba Beach, Alberta, Canada)]. Estimated means followed by different lowercase or uppercase letters within each growing medium indicate significant differences (P<0.05) among the treatments.



Figure C-3 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for each growing medium [Berger (Berger BM1 All-Purpose Mix: Berger; Saint-Modeste, Quebec, Canada) and LC1 (Sunshine LC1 RSi Professional Growing Mix: SunGro Horticulture Canada Ltd.; Seba Beach, Alberta, Canada)] within each treatment [pyriproxyfen (Fulcrum[®]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 0.14 mL/946 mL, an untreated check, and a water control]. Estimated means followed by different letters within each treatment indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) between the two growing media.



WFT pupal inoculation days

Figure C-4 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for each treatment [pyriproxyfen (Fulcrum[®]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 0.14 mL/946 mL, an untreated check, and a water control] on each WFT pupal inoculation day (7 and 14) after treatment application. Estimated means followed by different lowercase or uppercase letters within each WFT pupal inoculation day indicate significant differences (P<0.05) among the treatments.



WFT pupal inoculation days

Figure C-5 Estimated mean probability (95% confidence intervals) of western flower thrips (WFT), *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults captured on yellow sticky cards (YSC) for each treatment [pyriproxyfen (Fulcrum[®]: OHP, Inc.; Mainland, PA) at 0.14 mL/946 mL, an untreated check, and a water control] on each WFT pupal inoculation day (3 and 5) after treatment application. Estimated means followed by different lowercase or uppercase letters within each WFT pupal inoculation day indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among the treatments.

Appendix D - Life span of female western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis*, adults under laboratory conditions

Materials and Methods

a. Insect colony

A western flower thrips colony was maintained under laboratory conditions (20-24°C, 50 to 60% relative humidity, and constant light) in Glad[®] plastic containers [20.4 x 14.4 x 9.4 cm (length x width x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a round hole (9.5 cm diameter) cut in the lid that was covered with No-Thrips insect screening (mesh size: 0.15 x 0.15 mm) (Greentek[®]; Edgerton, WI). Green beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) were purchased from a local supermarket (Dillons; Manhattan, KS), soaked in soapy water for 20 minutes, then rinsed with distilled water, and allowed to dry. The green beans were provided as food and oviposition sites for adults, as well as a food source for larvae. Green beans were changed every two to three days. Western flower thrips specimens used in this study are deposited as voucher numbers 237 in the Kansas State University Museum of Entomological and Prairie Arthropod Research (Manhattan, KS).

b. Experimental procedures

Twenty female western flower thrips pupae and 20 male pupae were removed from the laboratory colony using a soft-bristled brush and placed onto filter paper (55 mm diameter) (Whatman International Ltd.; Maidstone, England) in a Gladware[®] container [7.8 x 5.1 cm (diameter x height)] (The Glad Products Company; Oakland, CA) with a piece of green bean (2 cm in length). Female pupae were distinguished from male pupae based on size (Yinping Li; preliminary data). Two to three days later, western flower thrips pupae developed into adults.

One female adult and one male adult were removed from the Gladware[®] container and placed onto filter paper in a new Gladware[®] container with a piece of green bean. Fifteen Gladware[®] containers with one female and one male per container were prepared following the above procedure and exposed to the same laboratory conditions as the western flower thrips colony. Female western flower thrips adults were checked every two to three days to determine whether they were alive. If females died, the date was recorded. If females were alive, the green bean was changed.

Results

The mean (\pm SEM) life span of female western flower thrips adults under laboratory conditions was 39.1 (\pm 5.4) days.